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Our Mission:

Develop, manufacture and distribute high quality liquid,
sterile and semi-solid generic pharmaceuticals at the most
economical cost to the consumer.

Help people with diabetes live healthier lives by providing
pharmaceutical and nutritional products especially
formulated to meet their needs.

To maintain the highest ethical standards while providing
increased revenues, profits and shareholder value.



Dear Shareholders:

n fiscal 2011, Hi-Tech Pharmacal had our most successful year ever in terms of sales
Iand income. We reported net sales of $190.8 million, an increase of 20% compared
to the prior fiscal year, and net income of $43.7 million representing growth of 38%
versus last year. The Company generated $3.19 per share in fully diluted earnings from
continuing operations. Our balance sheet remains very strong as we concluded the fiscal
year with over $62 million in cash and equivalents, and essentially no debt.

The Company’s success in the recent fiscal years has given us the ability to continue
positioning the Company for future growth. In fiscal 2011, we increased our investment
in R&D projects, further improved our manufacturing operations, continued to in-license
generic and branded products, and built our technical team. In recent years, the success
of our generic drug business has validated our approach of investing in internal research
and development projects that are manufactured in-house at Hi-Tech. Recent successes
include our Fluticasone Propionate Nasal Spray, the generic for GlaxoSmithKline’s
Flonase®, Dorzolamide with Timolol Maleate and Dorzolamide HCl Ophthalmic

Solution, the generic for Merck’s Cosopt®* and Trusopt®*, respectively. Our outstanding
performance in the market with these complex products has resulted in a new level of
business, trust and confidence with our customers, which continues with the launch of
each new product.

Broadly speaking, as we look at each of our business units, our plan to grow the
Company is two pronged. First, as a guiding principle, we will invest in our future. That
means favoring challenging projects with fewer expected competitors and greater return
potential. And second, we are committed to excellence in our day-to-day activities. To us,
that means we will continue to improve our processes, develop our employees’ skills and
essentially, strive to become expert at all we do.

R&D: A Year of Investment

In fiscal 2011, Hi-Tech accelerated its Research and Development (R&D) program as we
expanded our R&D team and enhanced our product pipeline. In fact, Hi-Tech invested
more in R&D than ever before, $9.4 million. The Company currently has more projects
under development and a larger, more experienced development team than at any time
in the past. In addition to the 13 products awaiting approval from the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration, (FDA), targeting branded and generic sales of over $1 billion, Hi-Tech

has approximately 25 additional products under development at various stages, which
corresponds to over $4 billion in sales according to IMS. We are developing products in

a broad array of dosage forms including solutions, suspensions, creams, ointments, gels
and nasal sprays. Hi-Tech’s pipeline is also supplemented with one generic product,
Mesalamine 400mg tablets, which is owned by our partner Par Pharmaceuticals.
Selectively, Hi-Tech will add products to our pipeline through in-licensing and
co-development arrangements with other pharmaceutical companies that have technical
‘capabilities that supplement ours. The flexibility to act on these opportunities is one of
the benefits of our strong financial position.
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With $74 million in sales,
Fluticasone became the best selling
product in Hi-Tech’s history.

Dorzolamide ophthalmics
remain Hi-Tech’s largest selling
sterile products.



Gabapentin Oral Solution,
launched in February 2011,
was Hi-Tech'’s first successful
Paragraph IV challenge.

Our R&D investment in recent years yielded five final approvals and one tentative
approval in fiscal 2011. For the first time ever, Hi-Tech was awarded six months of
exclusivity for two of these approvals as a result of becoming the first company to file
a generic application with the FDA which included a challenge to the brand company’s
patent, a Paragraph IV filing. The two first-to-file product approvals were gabapentin
oral solution, the generic for Neurontin®* and levofloxacin oral solution, the generic for
Levaquin®*. Other approvals include the high unit volume liquid, ranitidine syrup, the
generic for Zantac®* syrup, and the sterile ophthalmic treatment, levofloxacin solution,
which is the generic for Quixin®*. As we. continue to rely on our generic R&D program
to drive the Company’s growth in the future we are dedicated to investing in the
technology and people needed to successfully develop and file complex projects with
the FDA on a timely basis.

Manufacturing: A Year of Operational Excellence

As Hi-Tech grows we continuously seek to upgrade our infrastructure and controls. The
Company made significant investments and improvements in our operations to meet
the demand for our products, today and in the future. In May 2011, we installed a high-
speed filling line for nasal spray products to increase our output and efficiency. As we
continue to gain market share in the expanding generic fluticasone nasal spray market
we are now able to produce more units, with a lower cost structure than in the past. We
plan to capitalize on our success with fluticasone by adding more generic nasal sprays
to our product line in the future. Our recent investments into our facilities insured that
our manufacturing operation was up to the challenge. The Company’s ability to meet
the demand generated by our customers was a key to our success last year. Operational
excellence created significant market opportunities for Hi-Tech’s sterile as well as
non-sterile products. As a result we were able to increase market share for 20 products
compared to last fiscal year, not including new product introductions.



In May 2011, we installed a high-speed filling line for nasal spray products to
increase our output and efficiency.

Fiscal 2011 also marked our entry into the unit dose product market. Since the Corpany
already conducts business with institutional customers such as hospitals and long-
term care facilities, the introduction of unit dose packaging is a natural extension of our
product line. Hi-Tech invested in the unit dose filling equipment necessary to be a leader
in this segment. Our first two unit dose product introductions were lactulose solution
and chlorhexadine gluconate oral rinse, and we plan several additional unit dose
launches this year.

Branded Products: A Year of Transition

In fiscal 2011, both our branded over-the-counter (OTC) and prescription segments
experienced change. Transition in our Health Care Products (HCP) division came in

the form of growth attributable to recently launched new products, as we became less
dependent on sales from our flagship brand Diabetic Tussin®. We saw strong demand
for our OTC products as sales in the division grew by 23%. The MagOx® brand, which
was acquired in March 2010, grew due to targeted marketing programs directed to
physicians and patients. MagOx®, which has been a leading magnesium supplement

for many years, creates an excellent synergy for HCP. Since the division has promoted
products such as Diabetic Tussin® and Diabetaderm?® to diabetic patients for many years,
our message about the benefits of magnesium was readily accepted by many long-time
customers of HCP products. MagOx® is another product that is consistent with HCP's
mission to “help diabetic patients live healthier lives.” Fiscal 2011 was also a strong

year for sales of Zostrix® products. The success of the Zostrix® brand, for the treatment
of various types of pain including arthritis, paved the way for a successful launch of
Zostrix® Foot Pain Relief and Zostrix® Diabetic Joint and Muscle Relief products. HCP will
seek to continue to add line extensions to the Zostrix® and MagOx® brands, and expand
into additional therapeutic categories with differentiated OTC products.

Fiscal 2011 was also a year of transition for ECR Pharmaceuticals, our branded prescription
company. Since Hi-Tech acquired ECR in 2009, we added three new approved products to
the line in order to diversify the business, making it less dependent on the Lodrane® line
of antihistamines. This approach has proven to be prudent since the FDA will remove the
Lodrane® line (along with 500 other cough/cold and allergy products marketed by various
companies) from the market at the end of August 2011.

In June 2011, we acquired several unique approved branded products indicated for the
treatment of pain. The products fit well with the ECR product line, and provide additional
therapeutic options to help primary care physicians and their patients address problems
with pain. These products will be promoted in addition to Zolpimist® oral spray, our
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Concurrent with
our strong financial
performance in
fiscal 2011, Hi-Tech
invested in the
Company’s future
in order to capitalize
on the significant
momentum we

generated this year.

*Hi-Tech Pharmacal is not affiliated with the owners of this trademark.

patented sleep aid which was launched in February 2011. We are optimistic about

the potential for this brand due to the unique delivery system, dosing flexibility and
competitive pricing compared to the other brands. We will continue to aggressively seek
to broaden ECR’s product line of approved products through acquisition and licensing
arrangements. We plan to build a branded business that makes a consistent contribution
to Hi-Tech'’s sales and profits.

The Years Ahead

Concurrent with our strong financial performance in fiscal 2011, Hi-Tech invested in the
Company’s future in order to capitalize on the significant momentum we generated
this year. In fact, our momentum is greater than ever, as fiscal 2011 marks our third
consecutive year of revenue growth. Our commitment to invest in our facilities,
technology and people has yielded outstanding financial results. We are convinced

it will do the same in the future. We will continue to grow by internally developing,
manufacturing and marketing a steady stream of new products, and by leveraging our
financial strength to acquire more products for our generic and branded businesses. Our
success will enable the Company to execute on our goals, and deliver greater value to
customers, their patients, as well as investors in Hi-Tech Pharmacal. In closing, I would
like to thank our Board of Directors for their guidance, our employees for their dedication,
and our customers and shareholders for their loyalty and support. Together we will
continue to build a dynamic and vibrant company.

Sincerely,

Gl L

David Seltzer
President and Chief Executive Officer
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and certain information incorporated herein by reference contain certain future projections and
forward-looking statements (statements which are not historical facts) with respect to the anticipated future performance of Hi-Tech
made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such future projections and
forward-looking statements are not assurances, promises or guarantees and investors are cautioned that all future projections and
forward-looking statements involve significant business, economic and competitive risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond
Hi-Tech’s ability to control or estimate precisely, including, but not limited to, the impact of competitive products and pricing, product
demand and market acceptance, new product development, the regulatory environment, including without limitation, reliance on key
strategic alliances, availability of raw materials, fluctuations in operating results, loss of customers or employees, the possibility that
legal proceedings may be instituted against Hi-Tech and other results and other risks detailed from time to time in Hi-Tech’s filings
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The actual results will vary from the projected results and such variations may be
material. These statements are based on management’s current expectations and assumptions concerning the future performance of Hi-
Tech and are naturally subject to uncertainty and changes in circumstances. No representations or warranties are made as to the
accuracy or completeness of any of the information contained herein, including, but not limited to, any assumptions or projections
contained herein or forward-looking statements based thereon. We caution you not to place undue reliance upon any such forward-
looking statements which speak only as of the date made, except to the extent specifically dated as of an earlier date. Hi-Tech is under
no obligation, and expressly disclaims any such obligation, to update, alter or correct any inaccuracies herein, whether as a result of
new information, future events or otherwise.

PART1

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
General

Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. (“Hi-Tech” or the “Company”, which may be referred to as “we”, “us” or “our”), a Delaware

corporation, incorporated in April 1982, is a specialty manufacturer and marketer of prescription, over-the-counter and nutritional
products.

We develop, manufacture and market products in three categories — generics, prescription brands and over the counter (OTC) brands.
We produce a wide range of products for various disease states, including glaucoma, asthma, bronchial disorders, dermatological
disorders, allergies, pain, stomach, oral care and other conditions.

The Company’s generic products are primarily prescription items and include oral solutions and suspensions, topical creams and
ointments as well as nasal sprays. We also specialize in the manufacture of products in our state of the art sterile facility capable of
producing liquid ophthalmic, otic and inhalation products. The generic product category includes a small amount of contract
manufacturing sales for both the prescription and OTC markets.

The Company’s Midlothian Laboratories division, a generic pharmaceutical company specializing in prescription vitamins, operated
through a “virtual company” structure, outsourcing R&D and manufacturing, while concentrating on the marketing of generics, was
divested in May 2011, subsequent to the fiscal year end.

Our ECR Pharmaceuticals (“ECR Pharmaceuticals” or “ECR”) subsidiary is engaged in the development and distribution of branded
prescription pharmaceuticals. ECR’s products treat various disease states, including pain relief, sleep disorders, allergies, poison ivy
and contact dermatitis, and swimmer’s ear. The Company does not manufacture any of ECR’s products except for the Vosol® line.
Other products are sourced, at ECR’s direction, through contract manufacturers and packagers. Research and development is also
conducted through contract organizations.

Our Health Care Products Division (“HCP”) markets a line of OTC branded products primarily for people with diabetes, including
Diabetic Tussin® , DiabetiDerm®, Multi-betic®, Mag-Ox®, Choice® DM and DiabetiSweet®. The division also sells the Zostrix® brand of
capsaicin products for pain management of conditions including arthritis and diabetic foot pain. In addition, HCP markets Nasal Ease
homeopathic allergy reliever.

Our customers include chain drug stores, drug wholesalers, managed care purchasing organizations, certain Federal government
agencies, generic distributors, mass merchandisers, and mail-order pharmacies. Some of our key customers include McKesson
Corporation, Cardinal Health, Inc., AmeriSourceBergen Corporation, CVS, Walgreens and Medco.

For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2011 sales of generic pharmaceuticals represented 81% of total sales, sales of the Company’s ECR
Pharmaceutical subsidiary were 12% and sales of the Health Care Products line of OTC products accounted for 7% of total sales.



Generic Products
Our top 5 selling generic products in fiscal 2011 were:
. Fluticasone propionate (the generic equivalent of Flonase® from GlaxoSmithKline)
. Dorzolamide with Timolol and Dorzolamide (the generic equivalents of Cosopt® and Trusopt® from Merck)
. Sulfamethoxazole with Trimethoprim (the generic equivalent of Bactrim® from Roche)
. Hydrocodone with Homatropine (the generic equivalent of Endo’s Hycodan®)

. Lactulose (the generic equivalent of Sanofi-Aventis’ Chronulac® and Cephulac®)

Generic Approvals and Product Launches
We have 51 prescription products approved for marketing by the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) and two products with
tentative approval. In addition, we have 13 products submitted to the FDA pending approval, including one product, mesalamine, filed
by another company in which the Company has a financial interest and approximately 20 products in various stages of development.
In our fiscal 2011, we received approvals for four products from the FDA:

. Gabapentin Oral Solution (the generic equivalent of Pfizer’s Neurontin®), launched February 2011

. Levofloxacin Ophthalmic Solution (the generic equivalent of Vistakon’s Quixin®), launched March 2011

. Ranitidine Syrup (the generic equivalent of GlaxoSmithKline’s Zantac®), launched May 2011

. Lidocaine HCL Jelly 2% (the generic equivalent of APP’s Xylocaine®), to be launched in fiscal 2012

The Company received tentative approvals for two products including:
. Levofloxacin Oral Solution (the generic equivalent of McNeil’s Levaquin®), launched in June 2011
. Brimonidine Tartrate and Timolol Maleate Ophthalmic Solution (the generic equivalent of Allergan’s Combigan®), to be
launched pursuant to the terms of the Allergan settlement (See (Note L) [2] to the consolidated financial statements).
Additionally, the Company launched the following product for which a partner company received approval:

. Buprenorphine (the generic equivalent of Reckitt Benckiser’s Subutex®), launched September 2010

ECR Pharmaceuticals
ECR’s products are branded and trademarked. The products, in order of sales, are:

. Lodrane® 24/Lodrane® 24 D, an extended release antihistamine/ antihistamine with decongestant capsule

. Bupap®, an analgesic tablet

. DexPak® TaperPak, an oral corticosteroid tablet available in 13 day, 10 day and 6 day tapered packages

. Zolpimist® Oral Spray, indicated for the treatment of insomnia 4

. Tropazone™, a treatment for dermatitis

. Vosol® HC, a treatment for swimmer’s ear
On March 2, 2011, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration “FDA” indicated in its MedWatch publication that the FDA intends to
remove approximately 500 currently marketed cough/cold and allergy related products. Three of these are currently marketed by ECR
Pharmaceuticals under the brand name Lodrane®. ECR Pharmaceuticals must stop shipping these products within 180 days after

March 2, 2011. Sales of Lodrane® products amounted to approximately $16,600,000 and $13,100,000 for the year ended April 30,
2011 and April 30, 2010, respectively. The Company is pursuing a variety of options to obtain FDA approval for a Lodrane® product.

Health Care Products Division

Our Health Care Products Division (“HCP”) is a leading marketer of OTC branded products that include over-the-counter
medications, nutritional products, cosmetics and medical devices, primarily for people with diabetes. HCP also has several lines that
fall outside the diabetes area in pain management and allergy products. The Health Care Products Division is composed of several
product lines which account for a majority of its sales.
The top five product lines, in order of sales, are:

. Diabetic Tussin® cough products

. Mag-Ox® magnesium supplement



. Zostrix® pain relief products
. Multibetic® multi-vitamins

. DiabetiDerm® dermatological and footcare products

The Diabetic Tussin® line accounted for over one third of Health Care Products sales.

Growth Strategy

Management believes that growth in the generic pharmaceutical industry is driven by several factors which should continue in the
coming years. These factors include:

. The increasing number of branded pharmaceutical products that have lost or will lose patent protection or exclusivity
. Efforts by federal and state governments, employers, third-party payers and consumers to control health care costs

. The aging of the U.S. population

. Increased acceptance of generic products by physicians, pharmacists and consumers

Management intends to exploit these macroeconomic trends by making strategic decisions which will result in the Company’s growth.
Our growth strategy is based on the following:

. Increase the number of new product introductions by expanding our research and development efforts and increasing our
ANDA submissions

. Increase market share for our core prescription generic products by adding new customers and introducing additional
products to existing customers

. Continue to develop and license branded products with a focus on niche markets, such as diabetes care and related areas,
mcluding podiatry ‘

. Acquire products and businesses that management believes can contribute to the Company’s growth

. Leverage our manufacturing capabilities by primarily focusing on the development of liquid and semi-solid dosage forms

and products requiring sterile manufacturing

Product Development Strategy

Our product development strategy is determined by Hi-Tech’s strategic focus on liquid dosage forms with emphasis on ophthalmic
products and nasal sprays. Our product selection process includes the following criteria:

. Products that we believe will have limited competition due to smaller market size but can generate long term revenues
. Products with significant volume and high annual sales

. Products that are difficult to bring to market and more likely to face limited competition, enabling us to earn higher
margins for a longer period of time. These opportunities include nasal sprays and sterile products, including ophthalmics
and inhalation products. Some of these projects may include barriers to competition such as clinical trials.

. Products with patents that we believe we can successfully challenge through the patent challenge process of the Hatch-
Waxman Act

Current branded market for the dosage forms that present strategic interest to Hi-Tech

In billions
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s a1

Based on the outlined criteria and branded products market potential, the Company has identified specific products for our pipeline
that either have patents or exclusivity which expire in the next five years or have patents which the Company believes that it can
successfully challenge. We are currently developing drugs with total branded sales of approximately $4 billion and plan to take
advantage of this opportunity.



In addition to the main strategic focus, the Company enters into partnerships with other pharmaceutical companies in the United States
and overseas to develop other dosage forms, such as tablets, capsules and powders. Under such arrangements, the Company sponsors
or co-sponsors product development. In return Hi-Tech will either have marketing rights for approved products in the United States
and pay a royalty to its partner, or receive royalty payments on the sales of products manufactured and marketed by a partner. Such
agreements potentially expand the Company’s product line offered to its customers and increase its revenue stream through royalty

payments.

Research and Development

The Company obtains new generic pharmaceutical products primarily through internal product development. The Company currently
employs 31 pharmaceutical scientists, ten of whom have Ph. D degrees. The group is led by Dr. Kamel Egbaria, the Company’s
Executive Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer. The Company also enters into strategic arrangements with other pharmaceutical
companies. These strategic arrangements include both development contracts where Hi-Tech pays a third party to develop a new
product and licensing arrangements where Hi-Tech sells a product and pays a royalty to the owner of the ANDA or NDA.

For the fiscal years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 total R&D expenditures were $9,350,000, $7,259,000 and $7,429,000
respectively. The increase over the past year is the result of expenditures on both internal and external development projects. The
Company’s largest expenditure was on mesalamine 400 mg, a product that was jointly developed with two other generic drug
companies. The Company spent $127,000, $713,000, and $2,978,000 in fiscal years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009
respectively, on this project including expenditures on a clinical trial. An ANDA was filed for the product in fiscal 2010.

During the fiscal year the Company began work on three ANDA projects that are expected to require multi-million dollar clinical
trials. All of these projects were undertaken with different partners which will share in development costs and profits once the
products are brought to the market.

We have 13 ANDA applicatioﬁs pending at the FDA that address over $1 billion in annual brand and generic product sales in the
United States in 2010 according to IMS Health. Additionally, the Company has more than 20 products targeting over $4 billion in
branded sales in development. The Company does not know when any of these products will be approved.

ECR Growth Strategy

Our ECR subsidiary launched Zolpimist®, a sleep aid which utilizes a unique oral spray delivery system, in the fourth quarter of fiscal
year 2011 and established its presence in the substantial U.S. insomnia marketplace. ECR also launched Tropazone™ Cream, a line
extension of its current franchise, during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011. The Company anticipates launching an additional
dermatologic wound care product in the second quarter of fiscal 2012. ECR’s business development efforts are focused on the
evaluation of licensing and acquisition opportunities to expand ECR’s product line and introduce new products which offer patient
enhancements, and take advantage of the expertise of the sales group.

The Company is currently evaluating several strategies to preserve its Lodrane® franchise. These oppdrtunities include filing a
505(b)(2) filing with the FDA to receive approval for the current Lodrane® product or in-licensing a similar product. A filing with the
FDA could lead to either a prescription or OTC product depending on the requested.indication and data provided in the filing.

On June 27, 2011, the Company acquired marketing and distribution rights to several branded products for the treatment of pain from
Atley Pharmaceuticals. Three of the products are approved and additional products are pending approval with the FDA.

Customers and Marketing

We market our products to chain drug stores, drug wholesalers, managed care purchasing organizations, certain Federal government
agencies, generic distributors, mass merchandisers and mail order pharmacies. We sell our generic products to over 100 active
accounts located throughout the United States. For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2011, McKesson Corporation, AmerisourceBergen
and Cardinal Health accounted for net sales of approximately 15%, 13%, and 11%, respectively. These customers represented
approximately 52% of the outstanding accounts receivable at April 30, 2011. Our top five customers accounted for approximately
54% and 66% of the Company’s total sales for the fiscal years ended April 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. If any of our top five
customers discontinues or substantially reduces its purchases from the Company, it may have a material adverse effect on our business
and financial condition. We believe, however, that we have good relationships with our customers.

The Company has standard industry agreements made in the ordinary course of business with these customers which include prompt
payment discount, and various standard fee or rebate arrangements. Purchases are made on a purchase order basis. The agreements
generally do not bind the customers to meet any purchase agreements from the Company. The Company has a contract to supply
Dorzolamide and Dorzolamide with Timolol to the U.S. government under the federal supply schedule.



We utilize our state of the art manufacturing facilities and laboratories to offer contract manufacturing services to our existing as well
as potential customers. '

We are focused on growth and will continue to develop new branded and generic products as well as devise new marketing strategies
to penetrate our markets. We are seeking to complement this internal effort by acquiring products for future marketing, as well as
licensing rights to proprietary products and technologies for development and commercialization. We will place increasing emphasis
on establishing co-development agreements with strategic partners.

ECR currently markets nine different products primarily in the Mid-Atlantic and Southeastern United States. These products are
detailed and sampled by ECR’s sales force primarily to physicians serving in general practice, family medicine and certain specialty
areas. ECR sells its products to established drug wholesalers, with key customers including Cardinal Health, Inc., McKesson
Corporation and AmerisourceBergen Corporation. ECR has arrangements with these wholesalers to stock our products in pharmacies
in the areas in which we detail the products.

We market HCP brands using various marketing strategies which include professional and consumer sampling and educational
programs, telemarketing, coupon promotions, contemporary packaging and national print media. We also tie in our efforts to retailer’s
in-store promotions and circulars. We also plan to increase the use of the internet including social networking sites as a vehicle to
promote our brands and emphasize our Company’s goal of helping people with diabetes live a healthier life. We view the internet as
an effective vehicle to educate people with diabetes about making good decisions in helping manage their condition. Our websites are
registered under the domain names diabeticproducts.com, Zostrix.com, Mag-Ox.com and nasalease.com, which are linked to most
search engines and diabetic based websites.

We are focused on growth and will continue to develop new branded and generic products as well as devise new marketing strategies
to penetrate our markets. We are seeking to complement this internal effort by acquiring products for future marketing, as well as
licensing rights to proprietary products and technologies for development and commercialization. We will place increasing emphasis
on establishing co-development and co-marketing agreements with strategic partners.

Facilities
Our manufacturing facilities are designed to be flexible in order to allow for the low cost production of a variety of products of

different dosages, sizes, packaging and quantities while maintaining a high level of quality and customer service. This flexible
production capability allows us to adjust on-line production in order to meet customer requirements.

We operate from six buildings owned by the Company on one site in Amityville, New York, totaling approximately 207,000 square
feet.

Included in these building are two manufacturing facilities, one for sterile and the other for non-sterile products. Our sterile facility has
process tanks and 3 filling lines including two liquid fillers and one tube filler. The non-sterile facility includes 23 process tanks at
various capacities and 13 filling lines including 11 for liquids, one for semi-solids and one unit dose machine. Included in this list is
Hi-Tech’s new high speed nasal spray filling and packing machine, installed in May 2011.

Additionally, the Company leases a 12,000 square feet building in Richmond, Virginia, which houses ECR’s administrative offices
and warehouse and a parking lot in Amityville, NY.

Raw Materials/Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients

The active compounds for our products, also called active pharmaceutical ingredients or APIs, are purchased from specialized
manufacturers and are essential to our business and success. API manufacturers are required to file a Drug Master File with the FDA.
Each individual API must be approved by the FDA as part of the ANDA approval process. API manufacturers are also regularly
inspected by the FDA.

In some cases, the raw materials used to manufacture pharmaceutical products are only available from a single FDA-approved
supplier. Even when more than one supplier exists, the Company may elect to list, and in most cases has only listed, one supplier in its
applications with the FDA. Any change in a supplier not previously approved must then be submitted through a supplemental approval
process with the FDA.

It is crucial for the business to select suppliers that meet Current Good Manufacturing Practices (“cGMP”) requirements and that are
reliable and offer competitive prices. We are proactive in maintaining good relationships with our API suppliers because we believe
that these relationships allow us to save crucial time and be cost competitive. For new products in development, the timely selection of
the right API suppliers that have access to cutting-edge chemical and process technologies, and in some cases offer proprietary and
patented methods for chemical synthesis and manufacturing processes, can potentially give us a significant advantage over our
competitors.



We believe we have good, cooperative working relationships with our suppliers and are not experiencing any difficulty in obtaining
raw materials. If a supplier were unable to supply us, we believe we could locate an alternative supplier. However, any change in
suppliers of a raw material could cause significant delays and cost increases in the manufacture of products. To mitigate this risk and
to lower costs, the Company is currently in the process of certifying alternative suppliers for several key APIs.

We have a non-exclusive supply agreement with Ragactives S.L.U. (“Ragactives”) dated July 18, 2008 to supply dorzolamide
hydrochloride, the active ingredient in Dorzolamide with Timolol Ophthalmic Solution and Dorzolamide Ophthalmic Solution. These
products accounted for approximately 14% of Hi-Tech’s sales for fiscal 2011. The agreement has a ten year term beginning in July
2008 and is automatically renewed for successive two year periods unless terminated by either party upon written notice not less than
180 days prior to the end of the current term. The agreement may be terminated by either party upon 90 days’ notice for material
breach of the agreement in the event the breaching party fails to remedy the breach during such 90 day period or immediately in the
event of bankruptcy. The agreement provides that the Company will consider Ragactives as its preferential supplier of the product and
the Company will give Ragactives notice of any offer from a third party manufacturer of the product to enable Ragactives to meet the
price of product from such manufacturer. There are no minimum purchase requirements under the agreement; however, the Company
is obligated to purchase at least seventy-five (75%) percent of its annual requirements of the product from Ragactives as long as
Ragactives’ price is not more than ten (10%) percent higher than other manufacturer’s price. The agreement has standard
confidentiality and indemnification clauses. We have no other material agreements with suppliers and we utilize standard purchase
orders when obtaining materials.

Our ECR Pharmaceuticals subsidiary uses contract manufacturers to manufacture their products.

Competition

The market for generic pharmaceuticals is highly competitive. Our direct competition consists of numerous generic drug
manufacturers, many of which have greater financial and other resources than we do. If one or more other generic pharmaceutical
manufacturers significantly reduce their prices in an effort to gain market share, our profitability or market position could be adversely
affected. Such competitive pressures was one of the causes of our decline in sales and profitability for fiscal 2007 and 2008.
Competition is based principally on price, quality of products, customer service levels, reputation and marketing support.

Seasonality

Historically, the months of September through March account for a greater portion of the Company’s sales than the other months of
the fiscal year. However, this sales pattern is unlikely to continue as the Company sells fewer cough and cold products, more allergy
products and more products without seasonal fluctuations. Even with these changes, period-to-period comparisons within the same
fiscal year are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied on as indicative of future results.

Government Regulation
FDA Oversight

Our products and facilities are subject to regulation by a number of Federal and state governmental agencies. The FDA, in particular,
maintains oversight of our manufacturing process as well as the distribution of our products. Facilities, procedures, operations and/or
testing of products are subject to periodic inspection by the FDA, the Drug Enforcement Administration and other authorities. In
addition, the FDA conducts pre-approval and post-approval reviews and plant inspections to determine whether our systems and
processes are in compliance with cGMP and other FDA regulations. Certain of our suppliers are subject to similar regulations and
periodic inspections. We have had several FDA inspections including our most recent which took place in the third quarter of fiscal
2011.

A sponsor of a New Drug Application (“NDA”) is required to identify in its application any patent that claims the drug or a use of the
drug, which is the subject of the application. Upon NDA approval, the FDA lists the approved drug product and these patents in the
Orange Book. In addition to patent exclusivity, the holder of the NDA for the listed drug may be entitled to a period of non-patent,
market exclusivity, during which the FDA cannot approve an application for a bioequivalent product. If the listed drug is a new
chemical entity, the FDA may not accept an ANDA for a bioequivalent product for up to five years following approval of the NDA for
the new chemical entity. If it is not a new chemical entity but the holder of the NDA conducted clinical trials essential to approval of
the NDA or a supplement thereto, the FDA may not approve an ANDA for a bioequivalent product before expiration of three years.
Certain other periods of exclusivity may be available if the listed drug is indicated for treatment of a rare disease or is studied for
pediatric indications.

The FDA has extensive enforcement powers, including the power to seize noncomplying products, to seek court action to prohibit
their sale and to seek criminal penalties for noncomplying manufacturers. Although it has no statutory power to force the recall of
products, the FDA usually accomplishes a recall as a result of the threat of judicially imposed seizure, injunction and/or criminal
penalties.



On June 30, 2010, the Company received a warning letter from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) resulting from an
FDA inspection, which occurred during November and December 2009. The warning letter primarily dealt with the marketing of
several products that the FDA states require FDA approval and manufacturing practices related to those products. The Company
responded to the warning letter and as a follow up Hi-Tech management met with FDA on August 3, 2010 to determine how best to
resolve these issues. The Company decided to suspend the manufacturing and distribution of these products until the issue is resolved.
Sales of these products totaled approximately $5,000,000 in fiscal year 2010. As a follow up to the management meeting with the
agency, a follow up inspection was conducted by the FDA in November 2010 that resulted in several observations. Hi-Tech responded
to the observations in December 2010. On February 18, 2011 Hi-Tech received its first ANDA approval which the Company believes
indicates its compliance to be satisfactory. Hi-Tech received approval on additional five ANDA products between February and May
2011, indicating that the FDA appears satisfied with Hi-Tech’s actions and responses to the warning letter and subsequent
observations.

ANDA Process

Most products we currently market and intend to market under our product development program require prior FDA approval using
the ANDA procedure prior to being marketed. We currently have 51 approved products, 1 tentatively approved product, 13 products
pending FDA approval including one product, mesalamine, in which we have a financial interest, but was filed by another company,
and over 20 products in active development, which will require ANDA submissions or a 505(B)(2) submission.

The ANDA approval process is generally less time-consuming and complex than the NDA approval process. It generally does not
require new pre-clinical and clinical studies because it relies on the studies establishing safety and efficacy conducted for the drug
previously approved through the NDA process. The ANDA process does, however, occasionally, require one or more bioequivalency
studies to show that the ANDA drug is bioequivalent to the previously approved drug. Bioequivalence compares the bioavailability of
one drug product with that of the referenced product formulation containing the same active ingredient. When established,
bioequivalency confirms that the rate of absorption and levels of concentration in the bloodstream of a formulation of the previously
approved drug and the generic drug are equivalent. Bioavailability indicates the rate and extent of absorption and levels of
concentration of a drug product in the bloodstream needed to produce the same therapeutic effect. Such studies are not generally
required to be performed for solutions (oral, ophthalmic, or solutions for inhalation). Suspensions and certain types of topical products
do require bioequivalency testing. Topical creams and ointments require clinical testing. Fluticasone propionate nasal spray required a
large and expensive clinical trial. In certain cases, such as nasal spray suspensions, clinical studies are required in addition to
bioequivalency studies to show efficacy compared to the branded product. Such studies, though not as extensive as corresponding
studies conducted by innovator companies as part of their NDA process, will require substantial funding.

The completion of a prospective product’s formulation, testing and FDA approval generally takes several years. Development
activities could begin several years in advance of the patent expiration date, and may include bioequivalency and clinical studies.
Consequently, we are presently selecting and will continue to select and develop drugs we expect to market several years in the future.

The timing of final FDA approval of ANDA applications depends on a variety of factors, including whether the applicant challenges
any listed patents for the drug and/or its use and whether the brand-name manufacturer is entitled to one or more statutory exclusivity
periods. Pending the resolution of any such issues the FDA is prohibited from granting final approval to generic products. In certain
circumstances, a regulatory exclusivity period can extend beyond the life of a patent, and thus block ANDAs from being approved on
the patent expiration date. For example, the FDA may now extend the exclusivity of a product by six months past the date of patent
expiry if the manufacturer undertakes studies on the effect of their product in children (“pediatric extension”). See “Patent Challenge
Process.”

Before approving a product, the FDA also requires that a company’s procedures and operations conform to cGMP regulations, as
defined in the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations. The Company must follow the cGMP regulations at all times during the manufacture
of its products.

If the FDA concludes that all substantive ANDA requirements (chemistry, bioequivalency, labeling and manufacturing) have been
satisfied, but a final ANDA approval cannot be granted because of patent or exclusivity-related considerations, the FDA may issue a
tentative approval.

Patent Challenge Process

The Hatch-Waxman Act provides incentives for generic pharmaceutical manufacturers to challenge patents on branded
pharmaceutical products, their methods of use and specific formulations, as well as to develop non-infringing forms of the patented
subject matter. The purpose of the Hatch-Waxman Act is to stimulate competition by providing incentives to generic companies to
introduce their products early, and at the same time to ensure that such suits are not frivolous.



If there is a patent listed in the FDA’s Orange Book at the time of filing an ANDA with the FDA and the generic drug company
intends to market the generic equivalent prior to the expiration of that patent, the generic company files with its ANDA a certification
asserting that the patent is invalid, unenforceable and/or not infringed (“Paragraph IV certification”). After receiving notice from the
FDA that its application is acceptable for filing, the generic company sends the patent holder and the holder of the New Drug
Application (“NDA”) for the brand-name drug a notice explaining why it believes that the patents in question are invalid,
unenforceable and/or not infringed. Upon receipt of the notice from the generic company, the patent holder has 45 days during which
to bring a patent infringement suit in federal district court against the generic company. Should the patent holder bring suit, the
discovery, trial and appeals process in such suits can take several years and have high legal costs.

If a suit is commenced by the patent holder, the Hatch-Waxman Act provides for an automatic stay on the FDA’s ability to grant final
approval of the ANDA for the generic product. The period during which the FDA may not approve the ANDA and the patent
challenger therefore may not market the generic product is 30 months, or such shorter or longer period as may be ordered by the court.
The 30-month period may or may not, and often does not, coincide with the timing of the resolution of the lawsuit or the expiration of
a patent, but if the patent challenge is successful or the challenged patent expires during the 30-month period, the FDA may approve
the generic drug for marketing, assuming there are no other obstacles to approval such as exclusivities given to the NDA holder.

Under the Hatch-Waxman Act, the developer of a proposed generic drug which is the first to have its ANDA accepted for filing by the
FDA, and whose filing includes a Paragraph IV certification, may be eligible to receive a 180-day period of generic market
exclusivity. This period of market exclusivity may provide the patent challenger with the opportunity to earn a return on the risks
taken and its legal and development costs and to build its market share before competitors can enter the market.

Medicaid and Medicare

Medicaid, Medicare and other reimbursement legislation or programs govern reimbursement levels and require all pharmaceutical
manufacturers to rebate a percentage of their revenues arising from Medicaid-reimbursed drug sales to individual states. Congress
passed the Affordable Care Act in March 2010, which increased the rebate from 11% to 13% of the average manufacturer’s price for
sales of Medicaid-reimbursed products marketed under ANDAs. We believe that Federal or state governments may continue to enact
measures aimed at reducing the cost of drugs to the public.

DEA

Because the Company sells and develops products containing controlled substances, it must meet the requirements and regulations of
the Controlled Substances Act which are administered by the Drug Enforcement Agency (“DEA”). These regulations include stringent
requirements for manufacturing controls and security to prevent diversion of or unauthorized access to the drugs in each stage of the
production and distribution process. We have the approval of the DEA to sell certain generic pharmaceutical products containing
narcotics. We are currently manufacturing 7 preparations containing narcotics and are developing other products that contain
narcotics. In order to manufacture and sell products containing narcotics, we have implemented stringent security precautions to insure
that the narcotics are accounted for and properly stored and handled.

Environment

We believe that our operations comply in all material respects with applicable laws and regulations concerning the environment.
While it is impossible to predict accurately the future costs associated with environmental compliance and potential remediation
activities, compliance with environmental laws is not expected to require significant capital expenditures and has not had, and is not
expected to have, a material adverse effect on our earnings or competitive position.

Product Liability

The sale of pharmaceutical products can expose the manufacturer of such products to product liability claims by consumers. A product
liability claim, if successful and in excess of our insurance coverage, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.
We maintain product liability insurance policies which provide coverage in the amount $20,000,000 per claim and in the aggregate.

Order Backlog

Due to the relatively short lead-time required to fill orders for our products, the backlog of orders is not material to our business.



Employees

As of April 30, 2011, we employed 406 full-time persons and 2 part-time persons, of whom 48 full-time employees and 1 part-time
employee were engaged in executive, financial and administrative capacities; 91 in marketing, sales and service; 166 full-time
employees and 1 part-time employee in production, warehousing and distribution; and 101 in research and development and quality
control functions. We are not a party to a collective bargaining agreement. The management of the Company considers its relations
with its employees to be satisfactory.

Website Access to Filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission

Additional information about the Company is available on our website at www.hitechpharm.com. All of our electronic filings with the
SEC including Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments
to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, are available on our
website free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with and furnished to the SEC. The SEC’s
internet site contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the
SEC. Our SEC filings are also available through the SEC’s website at http:/www.sec.gov. You may read and copy any material we
file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain information
on the operation of the Public Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Information contained on our website is not incorporated
by reference in the Annual Report on Form 10-K and shall not be deemed “filed” under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors.

The following risk factors could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial position or results of operations.
These risk factors may not include all of the important factors that could affect our business or our industry or that could cause our
future financial results to differ materially from historic or expected results or cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate
or decline. :

Our pipeline of products in development may be subject to regulatory delays at the FDA. Delays in key products could have
material adverse effects on our business, financial position and results of operations.

Our future revenue growth and profitability are dependent upon our ability to develop and introduce new products on a timely basis in
relation to our competitors’ product introductions. Our failure to do so successfully could have a material adverse effect on our
financial position and results of operations.

Many products réquire FDA approval prior to being marketed. The process of obtaining FDA approval to manufacture and market
new and generic pharmaceutical products is rigorous, time-consuming, costly and largely unpredictable. We may be unable to obtain
requisite FDA approvals on a timely basis for new generic products that we may develop. The Company has experienced delays on
non-material products from time to time, and has on occasion withdrawn ANDAs when the Company determined that approval was
not likely.

The ANDA process often results in the FDA granting final approval to a number of ANDAs for a given product. We may face
immediate competition when we introduce a generic product into the market. These circumstances could result in significantly lower
prices, as well as reduced margins, for generic products compared to brand products. New generic market entrants generally cause
continued price and margin erosion over the generic product life cycle.

From June 2010 to February 2011, the Company did not receive any approvals, because the Company was on a compliance hold
related to a warning letter at the FDA.

The timing and cost of obtaining FDA approvals could adversely affect our product introduction plans, financial position and results
of operations.

We have sold certain prescription items that the Company believes did not require FDA approval. The FDA has taken action
to require formal approvals for many of these products. :

During fiscal year 2011, Hi-Tech sold approximately 14 generic prescription products which the company believes do not currently
require FDA approvals. These products were discontinued by the Company upon receipt of a warning letter by the FDA.

10



On June 30, 2010, the Company received a warning letter from the FDA. The warning letter primarily dealt with the marketing of
several products that the FDA states require FDA approval and manufacturing practices related to those products. The Company
responded to the warning letter and met with the FDA to determine how best to resolve these issues. The Company suspended sales of
these products until the issue is resolved. Sales of these products totaled approximately $5,000,000 in fiscal year 2010. In addition, the
Company incurred an expense of $865,000 to write off the value of the inventory used in the manufacturing of these products.

Many of these products either fall under the grandfathered Drug Efficacy Study Implementation (“DESI”) or nutritional
classifications. Grandfathered drugs are drugs that were on the market prior to the passage of the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act of
1938. It was not until the passage of the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act of 1938 that a New Drug Application (NDA) was required for
marketing a drug product as the regulatory mechanism for insuring that all new drugs were cleared for safety prior to distribution. The
requirement for pre-clearance for effectiveness was added by the 1962 amendment.

Following enactment of the 1938 law, drugs on the market prior to that time were exempted or “grandfathered” and manufacturers
were not required to file an NDA. The premise was that all pre-1938 drugs were considered safe, and if the manufacturer did not
change the product formulation or indication, then an NDA was not required. FDA has taken the position, however, that if
manufacturing conditions or labeling for the pre-1938 drugs have changed then these drugs are no longer “grandfathered” and require
formal FDA approval.

DESI drugs are drugs that were approved solely on the basis of their safety prior to 1962. Thereafter, Congress required drugs to be
shown to be effective as well. The FDA initiated the DESI program to evaluate the effectiveness of those drugs that had been
previously approved on safety grounds alone. These drugs, and those identical, related, and similar to them, may continue to be
marketed until the administrative proceedings evaluating their effectiveness have been concluded, at which point continued marketing
is only permitted if an NDA is approved for such drugs. The vast majority of the DESI proceedings have been concluded, but a few
are still pending.

On March 2, 2011, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) indicated in its MedWatch publication that the Agency intends to
remove approximately 500 currently marketed cough/cold and allergy related products. Three of these are currently marketed by ECR
Pharmaceuticals under the brand name Lodrane®. ECR Pharmaceuticals must stop shipping these products within 180 days after
March 2, 2011. Sales of Lodrane® products amounted to approximately $16,600,000 and $13,100,000 for the year ended April 30,
2011 and April 30, 2010, respectively. The Company reserved $900,000 for the potential obsolescence of Lodrane® inventory held as
of April 30, 2011. The Company is pursuing a variety of options to obtain FDA approval for a Lodrane® product.

The following table shows the sales contributions of these unapproved prescription products to each division and Hi-Tech’s total sales
for fiscal 2011.

% of Sales
Hi-TECh GENEIICS ... ouvvvieicteeiieeeieeeeete e ceitte e cetteeeeabeteeeabssa s ntaaeaeasseasasaneaeasassnaasarasassrassnasesanssrarersreeennns 1%
HEalth Care PrOQUELS .......eeviiieceieeeeeeeeeeteesteee b e e eesree st e sreasieasteessserenessessseestenssesssssenessesnsasnsasaresans 0%
ECR Pharmac@ULICALS ........ccceieeiiieieerieereccreeeeete e st st eesesasesan s sebtsemes st et eneeeme e e beasesssneses 85%
Hi-Tech (CONSOMAALEA) ......uvvererereeeeeceeueeeseseestesseeessesesessssssesesasesesesssessesessesenesesesassessesesesenssessseses 9%

Continuing studies of the proper utilization, safety and efficacy of pharmaceutical products are being conducted by the industry,
government agencies and others. Such studies, which increasingly employ sophisticated methods and techniques, can call into
question the utilization, safety and efficacy of currently marketed products. In some cases, these studies have resulted, and may in the
future result, in the discontinuance of product marketing. These situations, should they occur, could have a material adverse effect on
our profitability, financial position and results of operations.

We are subject to government regulation from the FDA and the DEA. We face significant costs and uncertainties associated
with our efforts to comply with applicable regulations. Should we fail to comply, we could experience material adverse effects
on our business, financial position and results of operations.

The pharmaceutical industry is subject to regulation by various Federal and state governmental authorities. For instance, we must
comply with FDA requirements with respect to the manufacture, labeling, sale, distribution, marketing, advertising, promot1on and
development of pharmaceutical products. Failure to comply with FDA and other governmental regulations can result in fines,
disgorgement, unanticipated compliance expenditures, recall or seizure of products, total or partial suspension of production and/or
distribution, suspension of FDA’s review of ANDAs, enforcement actions, injunctions and criminal prosecution. Under certain
circumstances, the FDA also has the authority to revoke previously granted drug approvals. Although we have internal regulatory
compliance programs and policies and have had a favorable compliance history, there is no guarantee that we may not be deemed to
be deficient in some manner in the future. If we were deemed to be deficient in any significant way, it could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.
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In addition to the new drug approval process, the FDA also regulates the facilities afid operational procedures that we use to
manufacture our products. We must register our facilities with the FDA. All products manufactured in those facilities must be made in
a manner consistent with current Good Manufacturing Practices (“cGMP”). Compliance with cGMP regulations requires substantial
expenditures of time, money and effort in such areas as production and quality control to ensure full technical compliance. Failure to
comply with cGMP regulations could result in an enforcement action brought by the FDA, which periodically inspects our
manufacturing facilities for compliance, which could include withholding the approval of ANDASs or other product applications of a
facility if deficiencies are found at that facility. FDA approval to manufacture a drug is site-specific. If the FDA would cause our
manufacturing facilities to cease or limit production, our business could be adversely affected. Delay and cost in obtaining FDA
approval to manufacture at a different facility also could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results
of operations.

The Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”) enforces the Controlled Substances Act and maintains oversight over the Company’s
products that are considered controlled substances. The DEA requires the Company to comply with certain reporting and record
keeping requirements and requires certification of the Company’s facilities for the manufacture and sale of these products.

We are subject, as are generally all manufacturers, to various Federal, state and local laws of general applicability, such as laws
regulating working conditions, as well as environmental protection laws and regulations, including those governing the discharge of
materials into the environment. Although we have not incurred significant costs associated with complying with such environmental
provisions in the past, if changes to such environmental provisions are made in the future that require significant changes in our
operations or if we engage in the development and manufacturing of new products requiring new or different environmental controls,
we may be required to expend significant funds. Such changes could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position
and results of operations.

Once approved, our new products may not achieve the expected levels of market acceptance. Failure to capture market share
on new products could have material adverse effects on our business, financial position and results of operations.

Our approved products may not achieve expected levels of market acceptance, which could have a material adverse effect on our
profitability, financial position and results of operations. Even if we were able to obtain regulatory approvals of our new
pharmaceutical products, generic or brand, the success of those products is dependent upon market acceptance. Levels of market
acceptance for new products could be impacted by several factors, including:

. the timing of our market entry

. the availability of alternative products from our competitors

. the price of our products relative to that of our competitors

. the availability of authorized generics

. the acceptance of our products by government and private formularies

Many of these factors are not within our control.

Our industry is highly competitive. Competitors could cause pricing declines or loss of market share which could cause
material adverse effects on our business, financial position and results of operations.

We face competition from other pharmaceutical manufacturers that potentially threatens the commercial acceptance and pricing of our
products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations. Competitors which
compete with Hi-Tech on multiple products include Wockhardt, Qualitest, Actavis, Falcon, Bausch and Lomb, Fougera, Roxanne and
Apotex. Each of these competitors is larger than Hi-Tech and may have the ability to price products more competitively than Hi-Tech.
These competitors may reduce prices on products that we currently market which would force us to lower our price or could cause us
to lose market share.

Our competitors may be able to develop products and processes competitive with or superior to our own for many reasons, because
they may have:

. proprietary processes or delivery systems

. larger research and development staffs

. larger sales and marketing staffs

.. larger production capabilities

. more products

. more experience in developing new drugs and greater financial resources
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Each of these factors and others could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

We sell our products to a limited number of majof customers. The number of customers in our industry has declined due to
consolidations over the past several years. Any significant reduction in business with any of our top five customers could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

Our top 5 customers, based on sales, accounted for 54% of our total sales for fiscal 2011. The Company has standard industry
agreements made in the ordinary course of business with these customers which include prompt payment discounts, and various
standard fee or rebate arrangements. Purchases are made on a purchase order basis. Therefore, the agreements are not material since
they do not bind the customers to purchase their requirements from the Company. Any significant reduction of business with any of
our top 5 customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

Sales of our products may be adversely affected by the continuing consolidation of our customers.

Significant amounts of our sales are made to a relatively small number of drug wholesalers, retail drug chains, managed care
purchasing organizations, mail order pharmacies and hospitals. These customers represent an essential part of the distribution chain of
generic pharmaceutical products. These customers have undergone, and are continuing to undergo, significant consolidation. This
consolidation may result in these groups gaining additional purchasing leverage and consequently increasing the product pricing
pressures facing our business. Additionally, the existence of large buying groups representing independent retail pharmacies and the
prevalence and influence of managed care organizations and similar institutions potentially enable those groups to attempt to extract
price discounts on our products. The result of these developments may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
position and results of operations.

We are reliant on third party suppliers for the active ingredients for our products. A prolonged interruption in the supply of
such products could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

Active pharmaceutical ingredients, packaging components, and other materials and supplies that we use in our pharmaceutical
manufacturing operations, as well as certain finished products, are generally available and purchased from many different foreign and
domestic suppliers. With the exception of a supply agreement for the active ingredient for the Company’s Dorzolamide Hydrochloride
products, the Company does not have any written material agreements with any of its raw material suppliers. We attempt to maintain
sufficient raw materials inventory, in some cases by carrying long term supplies. In certain cases we have listed only one supplier in
our applications with the FDA, but we have applied to the FDA to receive approval to use alternative suppliers on several products.
However, there is no guarantee that we will always have timely and sufficient access to a critical raw material or finished product. A
prolonged interruption in the supply of a single-sourced active ingredient or finished product could cause our financial position and
results of operations to be materially adversely affected.

We manufacture a majority of our generic products and some of our over the counter brands at two facilities in one location.
A significant disruption at this facility, even on a short term basis, could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial position and results of operations.

Our generic products and some of our branded products are produced at our two manufacturing facilities located at one site. The
Company stores products at facilities in Amityville, NY and Richmond, VA. A significant disruption at the manufacturing facilities,
even on a short-term basis, could impair our ability to produce and ship products to the market on a timely basis, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

The following table shows the sales contributions of products manufactured at Hi-Tech’s Amityville facility to each division and to
the Company as a whole:

% of Sales
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The Company uses multiple contract manufacturers to supply products not made at Hi-Tech’s Amityville facility. Failure of
one or more than one of these manufacturers to supply products to Hi-Tech could have material adverse effects on our
business.

Approximately 99% of the products made for our ECR Pharmaceuticals are made at contract manufacturers. Additionally, both our
Health Care Products division and our Hi-Tech Generic division utilize contract manufacturers. The Company usually holds higher
levels of inventory of products made from outside suppliers to minimize supply disruptions. In the event that one or more of these
contract manufactures were to experience manufacturing problems or FDA regulatory issues and were unable to deliver product on
behalf of the Company, our financial position and results from operations could be adversely affected.

In the normal course of business, we periodically enter into employment agreements, legal settlements and other agreements
which incorporate indemnification provisions. We maintain insurance coverage which we believe will effectively mitigate our
obligations under these indemnification provisions. Should our obligation under an indemnification provision exceed our
coverage or should coverage be denied, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of
operations.

In the normal course of business, we periodically enter into employment agreements, legal settlements, and other agreements which
incorporate indemnification provisions. We maintain insurance coverage which we believe will effectively mitigate our obligations
under these indemnification provisions. However, should our obligation under an indemnification provision exceed our coverage or
should coverage be denied, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

We use a variety of estimates and assumptions in preparing our financial statements. Estimates, judgments and assumptions
are inherently subject to change in the future, and any such changes could result in corresponding changes to the amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and income. Any such changes could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial position and results of operations.

There are inherent uncertainties involved in estimates, judgments and assumptions used in the preparation of financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). Any changes in estimates,
judgments and assumptions used could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

The financial statements included in the periodic reports we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) are prepared
in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP involves making estimates of expenses
and income. This includes, but is not limited to, estimates, judgments and assumptions used in the adoption of the provisions of ASC
Topic 360-10-35,”Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, ASC Topic 605, “Revenue Recognition” and ASC Topic
718,”Compensation—Stock Compensation”. Estimates, judgments and assumptions are inherently subject to change in the future, and
any such changes.could result in corresponding changes to the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and income. Any such
changes could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

Our business and results of operations could be adversely affected by qui tam litigation.

In connection with the sale of pharmaceutical products, certain claims alleging the submission of false claims to the government can
form the basis for qui tam complaints to be filed. The qui tam provisions of the federal civil False Claims Act and various state civil
False Claims Acts authorize a private person, known as a “relator” (i.e. “whistleblower”), to file civil actions under the federal and
state statutes on behalf of the federal and state governments. Under the federal civil False Claims Act and applicable state civil False
Claims Acts, the filing of a qui tam complaint by a relator imposes obligations on federal or state government authorities to investigate
the allegations and to determine whether or not to intervene in the action. Such cases typically revolve around the marketing, sale
and/or purchase of pharmaceutical products and allege wrongdoing in the marketing, sale and/or purchase of such products. Such
complaints are filed under seal and remain sealed until the applicable court orders otherwise.

Our business and results of operations could be adversely affected if it is determined that we are found liable under the qui tam
complaint filed against us for false claims under the civil False Claims Act.

We are subject to changing rules and regulations of federal and state government as well as the stock exchange on which our
common stock is listed.

We are subject to changing rules and regulations of federal and state government as well as the stock exchange on which our common
stock is listed. These entities, including the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, the SEC and the Nasdaq Global Market,
have issued a significant number of new and increasingly complex requirements and regulations over the course of the last several
years and continue to develop additional regulations and requirements in response to laws enacted by Congress. On July 21, 2010, the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act, was enacted. There are significant corporate governance
and executive compensation-related provisions in the Dodd-Frank Act that require the SEC to adopt additional rules and regulations in
these areas such as “say on pay” and proxy access. Our efforts to comply with these requirements are likely to result in an increase in
expenses which is difficult to quantify at this time.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
NONE

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

Our executive offices and manufacturing facilities are owned by the Company, are located in Amityville, New York, and are
comprised of six buildings with approximately 207,000 square feet. These include:

. A 42,000 square foot facility dedicated to liquid and semi-solid production

. A 28,000 square foot facility housing a sterile manufacturing facility, DEA manufacturing, chemistry and microbiology
laboratories

. A 72,000 square foot facility used for the warehousing of finished goods which also houses our Health Care Products
division

. A 21,500 square foot facility with 3,500 square feet of research and development space and 18,000 square feet of
warehouse space

. A 8,000 square foot office building which is utilized for administrative functions
. A 35,000 square foot facility with mixed office, laboratory and manufacturing space

Additionally, the Company’s ECR Pharmaceuticals subsidiary leases approximately 12,000 square feet in Richmond, Virginia. The
lease on this facility expires August 31, 2014 and is renewable.

We believe that our properties are adequately covered by insurance and are suitable and adequate for our needs for several years.

ITEM3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

The disclosure under Note [L], Commitments, Contingencies and Other Matters, Legal Proceedings included in Part II Item 8 of this
report is incorporated in this Part I Item 3 by reference. .

ITEM4. REMOVED AND RESERVED.

PART II
ITEMS5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.
Market Information
The Company’s common stock is traded on the National Global Market System of the National Association of Securities Dealers
Automated Quotation System (“NASDAQ”) under the symbol HITK.

The following table sets forth the high and low closing sales prices per share of the'‘Company’s common stock for the periods
indicated on the NASDAQ National Global Market System. The quotations are inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down
or commissions paid, and may not necessarily reflect actual transactions.

Quarter Ended High Low
Fiscal 2010
JULY 31,2009, oottt ettt bbbt et b et r e et et et e b s ee b e ene et seeereeaees 17.73 7.37
OCLODET 31, 2009 ...ttt e v e b e e ebe s e e tesesersaeaeasansaeseassaaaesseeseansssaasansreeeennnean. 25.38 13.49
JANUATY 31, 20100 i ettt ettt e et e st e e es e bt e ekt et e ke b e e e st et et e e saeenee e, 29.09 18.27
APTIL 30, 2010ttt st e et et et e s b e st s b et s e see et et et sheeane e, 26.65 20.00
Fiscal 2011
JULY 31, 2000ttt ettt et st be et et et e se et b e st e resen b eh e e b e se e ke eheeate e eanens 25.39 17.38
OCLODEE 31, 2010 ottt e e e et e e s be s e b e e s st e sabe e s aaeses s essa s staasssaeasteanseessrsaenns 23.12 16.69
JANUATY 31, 2011 ettt et e b s st e e s s r e sar e ar e be e besanee e, 26.18 21.06
ADPTIL 30, 2001 ettt bbb et e e b e 27.67 18.68

As of July 8, 2011 the closing price of the Common Stock on the Nasdaq Global Market System was $30.35.
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Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “Exchange Act”) or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference
into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act.

The following graph compares, for the five year period ended April 30, 2011, the cumulative total stockholder return for our common
stock, the Nasdaq Stock Market (U.S. companies) Index (the “Nasdaq Composite™) and the Nasdaq Pharmaceutical Index (the
“Nasdaq Pharmaceutical”). The graph assumes that $100 was invested on April 30, 2006 in the common stock of the Company, and in
the Nasdaq Composite and the Nasdaq Pharmaceutical and assumes reinvestment of any dividends. The stock price performance on
the following graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc., the NASDAQ Composite Index
and the NASDAQ Pharmaceutical Index
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*$100 invested on 4/30/06 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending April 30. ‘

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The table below sets forth, as of the end of the fiscal year ended April 30, 2011, for the Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Amended and
Restated Stock Option Plan, 2009 Stock Option Plan and 1994 Director Stock Option Plan, as Amended (“Plans™) the number of
securities to be issued upon the exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights; the weighted-average exercise price of the
outstanding options warrants and rights; and the number of securities remaining for future issuance under the Plans:
Number of securities
remaining available

for future issuance
under equity

Number of securities to Weighted-average compensation plans
be issued upon exercise of exercise price of (excluding securities
outstanding options, outstanding options, reflected in column
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and_rights (a))
_ _ @ ®) ©
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders ......... 2,384,000 $ 15.24 754,000
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders ... — — —
TOtAL oottt s b e 2,384,000 3 15.24 754,000

There are no Company equity compensation plans not approved by the Company’s stockholders.
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UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES, USE OF PROCEEDS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Recent Sales of Unregistered Shares

Approximate
Dollar Value
of Shares
that May Yet
Be
Total Number of Shares Purchased
Total Number of Average Price Purchased as Part of Publicly Under the
Period Shares Purchased per Share Announced Plans Plans (1)
02/01/11 = 02/28/11 ceveeeieieiceeeieeee s 0 S 0.00 03 0
03/01/11 = 03/31/11 cevvererieeeieeeeeeeecee e 03 0.00 0 3 0
04/01/11 = 04/30/11 e 0 3 0.00 0 $ 0

(1)  The Company’s Board of Directors has authorized $23,000,000 to repurchase the Company’s common stock. To date the

Company has spent the entire $23,000,000 and has repurchased 2,456,000 shares. There are no further repurchases planned at
this time.

Common Stock Holders

The Company believes there are approximately 6,000 holders of Common Stock, not including shares held in street name by brokers
and nominees, as of July 8, 2011.

Dividends

The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends, and it does not anticipate that it will pay cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. The declaration of dividends by the Company in the future is subject to the sole discretion of the Company’s Board
of Directors and will depend upon the operating results, capital requirements and financial position of the Company, general economic
conditions and other pertinent conditions or restrictions relating to any financing. The Company’s Revolving Credit Agreement with
JPMorgan Chase prohibits the payment of cash dividends.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected financial data presented below as of and for the years, as indicated, is derived from the audited financial statements of the
Company. This data is qualified in its entirety by reference to, and should be read in conjunction with, Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the Company’s financial statements and related notes thereto for the
years ended April 30,2011, 2010 and 2009. The following results may not be indicative of our future results.

YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Statement of operations data
Net SALES....coveererenreirieerierere e e $§ 190,848,000 § 159,339,000 $ 101,780,000 $ 57,636,000 $ 58,898,000
Cost and expenses: ,
Cost of goods sold......ccccvvverereuenennen. 83,263,000 68,553,000 53,845,000 38,924,000 35,704,000
Selling, general and administrative
EXPENSE ..evrerererenereeeeiereeeeresaeannes 39,104,000 43,100,000 30,633,000 21,900,000 23,914,000
Research and product development
COSES 1evenererrerererrereseeesierenasereseannns 9,350,000 7,259,000 7,429,000 6,208,000 4,733,000
Royalty income ........coceeecererernnanen, (4,607,000) (3,572,000) (547,000) — —
Contract research (income) ............... (675,000) (894,000) (136,000) — (123,000)
Interest €Xpense .........ceevevereeeerernenennns 45,000 29,000 38,000 27,000 18,000
Interest (income) and other................ (433,000) (1,193,000) (4,237,000) (480,000) (1,314,000)
Total costs and exXpenses...........ceeeeerruennnne. $ 126,047,000 $ 113,282,000 $ 87,025,000 $ 66,579,000 $ 62,932,000
Income (loss) from continuing operations
before provision for income taxes.......... 64,801,000 46,057,000 14,755,000 (8,943,000) (4,034,000)
Provision for income tax expense/ _
(Benefit).....ccocvrerererneeererenieeireaeriee e, 21,082,000 14,471,000 5,660,000 (2,476,000) (1,998,000)
Income (loss) from continuing
OPETALIONS ....eveveieeeieeeeririeceeeseeseesereeeas 43,719,000 31,586,000 9,095,000 (6,467,000) (2,036,000)
Income (loss) from discontinued
OPETALIONS .....veeeeneereereeesaeeeeeerraeeesae s (2,265,000) (465,000) 722,000 1,369,000 —
Net income (10SS) ....cccververeerirerercerinseerernnnen, $ 41454000 § 31,121,000 $ 9,817,000 $ (5,098,000) $ (2,036,000)
Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Continuing Operations..........cccvceveeecereruenenss 3.47 2.65 0.80 0.57) 0.17)
Discontinued operations ..........cceeverveeenen. (0.18) (0.04) 0.07 0.12 —
Basic earnings (loss) per share.................... $ 329 § 261 § 0.87 $§ 0.45) $ (0.17)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Continuing Operations.............eeereererreerenn. 3.36 2.54 0.78 0.57) 0.17)
Discontinued operations ............ccececeevenenen, 0.17) (0.04) 0.06 0.12 —
Diluted earnings (loss) per share................. $ 319§ 250 $ 084 $ 045) $ (0.17)
Weighted average common shares
outstanding, basiC.........cccevrererereresrennne. 12,615,000 11,903,000 11,303,000 11,353,000 11,884,000
Effect of potential common shares.............. 397,000 522,000 389,000 — —
Weighted average common shares
outstanding, diluted...........cocecvevrerenennnnn. 13,012,000 12,425,000 11,692,000 11,353,000 11,884,000
APRIL 30, 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Balance sheet data:
Working capital .......c.cocevevvvivvnennncreenee. $§ 132,135,000 $ 88,692,000 $ 55,433,000 $ 45,875,000 $ 55,540,000
Total @SSetS.......covevereerereirieerenrerirerirreseanan. $ 203,240,000 $ 150,284,000 $ 107,355,000 $ 85,012,000 $ 97,742,000
Long-term debt .........cervrrerinennnecrnerirrrenenen. $ 621,000 $ 37,000 $ 230,000 $ (U 0
Stockholders’ equity ......oveveverererveeerennenen. $ 181,012,000 $ 134,766,000 $ 86,355,000 $ 75,165,000 $ 82,985,000
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS.

GENERAL

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements and Notes thereto appearing
elsewhere in this Report.

The following table sets forth, for all periods indicated, the percentage relationship that items in the Company’s Statements of
Operations bear to net sales.

YEAR ENDED APRIL 30,
2011 2010 2009

INEE SALES ..cveneiereicrecce vt r et ettt ettt ee et e e ebeasete st eesetessensaesete st essets st eaesaenrenestsaseasseeneereseeneseeens 100.0%  100.0%  100.0%
COSt OF SALES ..ottt ettt e b et et ae e st st s n s enene 43.6% 43.0% 52.9%
GIOSS PIOTIE ...ttt ettt ssse s ns s s bt s s s s s s seene e e e, 56.4% 57.0% 47.1%
Selling, general & admMinNiStratiVe EXPEMSE ....c.ovevrerirrrrererererirrnrrinersrsssessssssssssssesensarsssesssesssssssssssean, 20.5% 27.0% 30.1%
Research and product AeVEIOPIMENt COSIS ........cccveemrrrrirrreriersesiererrrrsesesrsrsssseasessensesesesssesesessssssssnens 4.9% 4.6% 7.3%
ROYAIEY IICOIMIE ..ottt ettt be et as s b ens s ssane st seaneseesneennens -2.4% -2.2% -0.5%
Contract research (INCOME).........ccuvuriviiiiiririerieeecereste et e e e e e se et et seneseseesesesssbosenennseeneannes -0.4% -0.6% -0.1%
INTETEST EXPEISE ...evieiiniciiitiecti ettt ettt ettt et et et s e st e bbb e b ae st e e etaabennabonsonennens 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Interest (iNCOME) ANA OLNET........cc.ccovviiieiiieieeicrecce et ettt s sese et ne s senenenenens -0.2% -0.7% -4.2%
Total expenses.........ccccevvencnnnn ettt bt st s et e et e s e e e Rt s R e b e e e b et a et s bseaae s et e bennesrenbesret 22.4% 28.1% 32.6%
INCOME DEfOTE tAX PIOVISION....cceitirriieterereereeeteeeteedeseete e eseeteseessesessessensebesesressesteseasansenesesateseseeeesenees 34.0% 28.9% 14.5%
INCOME tAX PIOVISION ...evvievreiieieiirtetetetetc sttt te e ete et ssbs s eseesessas s ebesnessenestansonereeneeseseeneesenens 11.0% 9.1% 5.6%
Income from CONtiNUING OPETALIONS........ceveeeierererreeerereee ettt rere e eseas s et ersne st sessssestseeserensenans 23.0% 19.8% 8.9%
Income (loss) from discONtiNUEd OPETALIONS ..........ccoveueeverreeeerereererereeerere et esesesesesesnaenns -1.3% -0.3% 0.7%
NELINCOMIE ...ttt ettt ettt et st b b e ss s s s s b e ba st et esesn et easanesese s ebesensssessatesensstsnsnnanes 21.7% 19.5% 9.6%
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR YEARS ENDED APRIL 30, 2011 AND 2010

Revenue

2011 2010 Change % Change

Hi-Tech GEnerics .......coviiriivirriiieirereescie et $ 157,361,000 $ 129,359,000 $ 28,002,000 22%
Health Care Products ........cccecvevviveieieciiecieccceceeseee e 13,872,000 11,268,000 2,604,000 23%
ECR Pharmaceuticals..........cceevvriruierieieererceieesreceeseseeeeneeneneeens 19,615,000 18,712,000 903,000 5%
TOAL....oeice et et $ 190,848,000 $ 159,339,000 $ 31,509,000 20%

Net sales of Hi-Tech generic pharmaceutical products, which include some private label contract manufacturing, increased due to an
increase in sales of Fluticasone Propionate nasal spray. Strong unit sales at higher average prices helped increase sales of Fluticasone
Propionate nasal spray to $73,800,000 for the year versus $13,800,000 in the previous year. Sales of Dorzolamide with Timolol
ophthalmic solution and Dorzolamide ophthalmic solution dropped to approximately $27,100,000 from approximately $49,600,000 in
the previous year due to significantly lower pricing for the products. Sales of cold and flu items declined during the year, compared to
a period of unusually strong demand during summer 2009. Lower pricing and unit volumes of Acetic Acid with Hydrocortisone also
contributed to the decline in sales of other generic products. The Company temporarily halted sales of several unapproved products in
late June 2010, which resulted in lower sales of these products. As of today, the Company has not resumed shipments of these
products. Sales of these products totaled approximately $5,000,000 in 2010.

The Health Care Products division, which markets the Company’s branded OTC products, experienced higher sales due to the
Company’s acquisition of the MagOx® line of magnesium supplements from Blaine Pharmaceuticals in March 2010.

ECR Pharmaceuticals, which sells branded prescription products, saw increased sales of the Lodrane® line of antihistamines, which
were partially offset by lower sales of the Dexpak® line of corticosteroids due to competition.
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On March 2, 2011, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) indicated in its MedWatch publication that the Agency removed
approximately 500 currently marketed cough/cold and allergy related products including Lodrane® products. Three of these are
currently marketed by ECR Pharmaceuticals under the brand name Lodrane®. ECR Pharmaceuticals must stop shipping these products
within 180 days after March 2, 2011. Sales of Lodrane® products amounted to approximately $16,600,000 and $13,100,000 for the
year ended April 30, 2011 and April 30, 2010, respectively.

On May 9, 2011 the Company sold various assets of its Midlothian Laboratories division, and the sales from this business are included
in discontinued operations.

Cost of Sales

2011 2010

3 % of sales $ % of sales

CoSt OF SALES ...ttt e e, $ 83,263,000 44% $ 68,553,000 43%

The increase in cost of sales as a percentage of net sales is primarily due to significant pricing declines for Dorzolamide with Timolol
ophthalmic solution and Dorzolamide ophthalmic solution. Pricing decreases and unit sales declines of the higher margin Acetic Acid
with Hydrocortisone also contributed to this trend. Increased sales of Fluticasone Propionate nasal spray at higher average prices
partially offset this effect as did increased sales of the MagOx® line of magnesium supplements and Lodrane®, which sell at margins
above the Company’s average. The Company experienced an increase in prices on certain raw materials and components which
increased cost of sales for certain generic products. Included in cost of sales is a reserve of $1,123,000 for potential obsolescence of
Lodrane® and Zolpimist® inventory for the ECR subsidiary.

Expense Items
) 2011 2010 Change % Change

Selling, general and administrative €Xpense ..........ovvvverereereesvesiennes $ 39,104,000 $ 43,100,000 $ (3,996,000) (9%
Research and product development COSES ..........cccveveerrrerrcerernvenenenns $ 9,350,000 $ 7,259,000 $ 2,091,000 29%
ROYAILY INCOME .....eouerveeieirieeieisteeteiete et eeene e e neeeseesesaeaseneevasans $ (4,607,000) $ (3,572,000) $ (1,035,000) 29%
Contract research (INCOME) ......ccccveirrrervrecieierreeneeeerresrseeseesee e $ (675,000) $ (894,000) $ 219,000 (24)%
INtETESt EXPENSE...c.ueruirreiuieieienteeiirieecrteeeree e e erasresreessasnsssenseeasseses $ 45,000 $ 29,000 $ 16,000 55%
Interest (income) and Other ............ccoveveueeeeeecieieeeeeeee et $ (433,000) $ (1,193,000) $ 760,000 (64)%
Provision for inCome tax €Xpense ..........ccecveveevreruecrerueseessenreresareesenns $ 21,082,000 $ 14,471,000 $ 6,611,000 46%

The decline in selling, general and administrative expenses was primarily due to absence of the royalty payment on profits of
Dorzolamide with Timolol ophthalmic solution which was $4,100,000 in the prior period. The Company bought out its partner on the
product in January 2010 for $2,100,000 and no longer incurs this expense.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the ECR Pharmaceuticals subsidiary rose as the sales force increased.

The increase in Research and Development expenditures is due to increased spending on internal projects for the generic division,
including an increase in the internal R&D staff and expenditures at the Company’s ECR Pharmaceuticals subsidiary.

Royalty income includes royalties relating to Brometane, a cough and cold product which the Company divested in July 2008, for
which the Company received royalties through December 2010, a royalty on sales of certain Naprelan® strengths and on nutritional
products divested by the Company’s Midlothian division. Hi-Tech kept the royalty stream generated by these nutritional products
when it sold off other assets of the Midlothian division. Royalties of these nutritional products were the primary driver of the increase
in royalty income, because the Company received four quarters of income this fiscal year versus only three quarters in fiscal 2010.

Interest (income) and other includes the $1,000,000 gain on the sale of the related rights to certain nutritional products previously sold
by Midlothian for the year ended April 30, 2010. Other (income) expense also includes a $250,000 write-off of the Company’s
investment in Neuro-Hitech based on the decline in the stock price and the limited trading activity.

The effective tax rate increased to 33% in fiscal year 2011 from 31% in fiscal year 2010 due to a larger benefit from stock option
exercises in the prior year.
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Income Analysis

2011 2010 Change % Change

Income from continuing OPerations ...............oceevevveevereveerrisresnennens $ 43,719,000 $ 31,586,000 $ 12,133,000 38%
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax................... (2,265,000) (465,000) (1,800,000) 387%
INEEINCOIMIE. ...ttt ettt ettt et eee e s e e seres e senesesesseeseeereeeseeanees $ 41,454,000 $ 31,121,000 $ 10,333,000 33%
Basic Earnings Per Share:

Continuing OPErations ........c.cceeevereeeeierereereeeeieeseeeereseenans 3.47 2.65 0.82 31%

Discontinued Operations ............ccecceueeveeeerveeesrieeeesereesennns (0.18) (0.04) (0.14) 350%
Basic Earnings Per Share.........cccccocceemmrrnincceeeeeeeeereeee e 3 329 § 261 § 0.68 26%
Diluted Earnings Per Share:

Continuing OPerations ...........ccceveveevesrerereeereeereesereresesneseenns 3.36 2.54 0.82 32%

Discontinued Operations ...........ccoeoeeeeeeceeervrecrcveeeereeereenenns (0.17) (0.04) (0.13) 325%
Diluted Earnings Per Share...............c.coverveveeerrreseresseresseeesesens $ 3.19 § 250 $ 0.69 28%
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding, Basic................ 12,615,000 11,903,000 712,000 6%
Effect of Potential Common Shares............cccovvveureviveeirnnnererninnen 397,000 522,000 (125,000) 24)%
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding, Diluted............. 13,012,000 12,425,000 587,000 5%

Shares outstanding increased due to the exercise of options.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR YEARS ENDED APRIL 30, 2010 AND 2009

Revenue

2010 2009 Change % Change
Hi-TeCh GENEIICS ....ceoeeeeeiueiiieeieieeeceeeeeeteese e e eeeeeeeaneseenn, $ 129,359,000 $ 88,848,000 $ 40,511,000 46%
Health Care Products..........oocvoiiiiiiieiiieiieeieeeeeeeeeeiee s eeeeeees 11,268,000 10,125,000 1,143,000 11%
ECR PharmaceutiCalS ........ocouviiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e ee e eeeeeesnes s, 18,712,000 2,807,000 15,905,000 567%

TOtAL .o $ 159,339,000 $ 101,780,000 $ 57,559,000 57%

Net sales of Hi-Tech generic pharmaceutical products, which include some private label contract manufacturing, increased primarily
due to new product launches in the previous year. Sales for Dorzolamide with Timolol Ophthalmic Solution and Dorzolamide
Ophthalmic solution totaled $49,600,000 in the year as the Company sold significantly more units, although at lower average prices
than the previous year in which sales totaled $23,500,000 for the six months in which the product was sold in the previous year. The
Company launched Hydrocortisone with Acetic Acid, a generic version of VoSol® HC, which the Company acquired in fiscal 2007,
and sales of this product were the second largest driver of Hi-Tech’s generic sales increase. Strong sales of Sulfamethoxazole with
Trimethoprim and Fluticasone Propionate nasal spray also contributed to the strong resuits. Sales of Dorzolamide and Fluticasone
products surged in the Company’s fourth quarter as a competitor was unable to supply these products. The Company discontinued
several unapproved cough and cold products, salicylic acid products and some strengths of urea products during the year, which
resulted in significantly lower sales of these products.

The Health Care Products division, which markets the Company’s branded OTC products, experienced higher sales of Diabetic
Tussin® and Multibetic®. Additionally, the Company acquired the Mag-Ox® line of Magnesium supplements from Blaine
Pharmaceuticals in March 2010, and benefited from two months of sales of these products.

In February 2009, the Company acquired the assets of ECR Pharmaceuticals which sells branded prescription products. Sales for the
period included sales of the Lodrane® line of antihistamines, the Dexpak® line of corticosteroids, Bupap®, an analgesic tablet and
VoSol® HC, a product indicated for swimmer’s ear. In February 2010, ECR launched Tropazone ™ , a treatment for dermatitis. Sales
of Lodrane® accounted for approximately 75% of the sales of this subsidiary, and the Company implemented a pricing increase in
January 2010 for its Lodrane® line.

On May 9, 2011 the Company sold various assets of its Midlothian Laboratories division, and the sales from this business are included
in discontinued operations.
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Cost of Sales

2010 2009
$ % of sales $ % of sales

COSt OF SALES ..ottt e, $ 68,553,000 43% $ 53,845,000 53%

The primary factor for an increase in gross profit is a full year of sales from our ECR Pharmaceuticals subsidiary, which sells higher
margin branded products. Gross margins declined in our Midlothian Laboratories’ business with a change in product mix, and this
business now has the lowest margins among our businesses. A full year of sales of higher margin generic products, including
Dorzolamide with Timolol ophthalmic solution, Dorzolamide ophthalmic solution and Hydrocortisone with Acetic Acid, also
contributed to higher gross margins. As competitors entered the Dorzolamide products market, the Company experienced a decline in
the sales price and gross profit margin for these products. Sales of some products, such as Sulfamethoxazole with Trimethoprim, were
at higher average prices than the previous year due to a price increase and a change in the mix. of customers. The Company was able to
negotiate lower raw material prices from some of its suppliers, helping decrease costs. Subsequent to year end, due to a warning letter
from the FDA the Company suspended sales of Paregoric, Urea 40% and vitamins containing fluoride. As a consequence of the
withdrawal of these products, the Company wrote off the value of inventory at year end by approximately $865,000. In fiscal 2010
these products contributed approximately $5,000,000 in sales and approximately $2,000,000 in gross margin.

Expense Items
2010 2009 Change % Change

Selling, general and administrative expense.............coeeervvevenennnen. $ 43,100,000 $ 30,633,000 $ 12,467,000 41%
Research and product development COSts ............ccccovvvereverreeennen. $ 7,259,000 $ 7,429,0000 $ (170,000) 2)%
ROYaltY INCOME....cerveirieeiiriieietceeeeteeeee ettt sene e see e sen $ (3,572,000) $ (547,000) $ (3,025,000) 553%
Contract research (income)..........cooevueeecenennennnne. eetrererearenarrenas $ (894,000) $ (136,000) $ (758,000) 557%
INtETESt EXPEISE. ....veuveeirirrrrstereeeeectete ettt es e eer e n e eeeaen $ 29,000 $ 38,000 $ (9,000) 24)%
Interest (income) and Other ............c.ceevmmveiviiicriieeeeceee s $ (1,193,000) $ (4,237,000) $ 3,044,000 (72)%
Provision for income tax expense/(benefit) ...........ccoeveveverenenennee. $ 14,471,000 $§ 5,660,000 $ 8,811,000 156%

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the period ended April 30, 2010 include expenses of the ECR Pharmaceuticals
subsidiary. ECR Pharmaceuticals markets branded pharmaceuticals to doctors and therefore, spends a higher proportion of its sales on
selling, general and administrative expenses. ECR Pharmaceuticals’ sales force increased during the year from fifty to over sixty sales
representatives. ECR Pharmaceutical’s selling, general and administrative expenses totaled $8,570,000 for the year ended April 30,
2010. ECR’s selling, general and administrative expenses for fiscal year 2009 were only $623,000, as it was acquired in February
2009.

During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2010, the Company paid $6,200,000 to its royalty partner on the Dorzolamide with Timolol
Ophthalmic Solution including a $2,100,000 payment to buy out the future royalty stream. These payments are included in selling,
general and administrative expense. For the year ended April 30, 2009 the Company paid $5,000,000 in royalties to its partner.

Additional increases in selling, general and administrative expenses in the current fiscal year included freight, legal, compensation,
and IT expenses related to the implementation of the SAP enterprise resource planning system.

Expenditures for research and development were driven by the end of clinical trials for an externally developed project offset by
increased expenditures on other external projects.

Royalty income increased due to royalties on certain nutritional products divested by Midlothian Laboratories in July 2009. Hi-Tech
kept the royalty stream generated by these nutritional products when it sold off other assets of the Midlothian division. Royalty
income also includes royalties relating to Brometane which the Company divested in July 2008 and a royalty on sales of the 500 mg
strength Naprelan®.

Contract research income was primarily for work completed on a product for a company in the branded prescription product market.
The Company plans to manufacture this product once it is approved the FDA.

Interest (income) and other includes the $1,000,000 gain on the sale of the related rights to certain nutritional products previously sold
by Midlothian for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2010. Interest (income) and other includes the $3,500,000 gain on the sale of
Brometane for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2009.
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The effective tax rate declined in fiscal year 2010 from fiscal year 2009 due to the benefit from the exercises of options in a
disqualifying disposition, and the reduction of the accrua! for uncertain tax positions in the current year, compared to an increase in
the prior year.

Income Analysis
2010 2009 Change % Change

Income from continuing OPerations............ceveveveeererrereererveenereeneas $ 31,586,000 $ 9,095,000 $ 22,491,000 247%
Income from discontinued operations, net of taX..........cceveveeerennne (465,000) 722,000 (1,187,000) (164)%
NEL INCOIME ....ooveeeevieiereeieriteeetestetestetetene e s esneseseeseesesesseseeseasanseses $ 31,121,000 $ 9,817,000 $ 21,304,000 217%
Basic Earnings Per Share:

Continuing OPETations ........c.eccveeeevererirereesrerereesereesserereeneens 2.65 0.80 1.85 231%

Discontinued Operations..........ccccvvavevueereereseruesesesneeencas (0.04) 0.07 (0.11) (157)%
Basic Earnings Per Share...........cocooeeeeieeiecveccecceeceieereesieesenens $ 261 $ 087 3 1.74 200%
Diluted Earnings Per Share:

Continuing OPerations ...........cceeceereerieereecrresrerareeeesseessessseenns 2.54 0.78 1.76 226%

Discontinued Operations..........ccceeeeceereeeceresrreceeireeinesreene (0.04) 0.06 (0.10) (167)%
Diluted Earnings Per Share............ccceeeveeiecieieeeieieeieesveeeveenennns $ 250 $ 084 § 1.66 198%
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding, Basic................ 11,903,000 11,303,000 600,000 5%
Effect of Potential Common Shares...........ocoeveerrereveennninnenninnns 522,000 389,000 133,000 34%

Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding, Diluted... 12,425,000 11,692,000 733,000 6%

Shares outstanding increased due to the exercise of options, and the effect of potential common shares increased due to a higher stock
price which resulted in a higher number of “in the money” outstanding options.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company’s operations are historically financed principally by cash flows generated from operations. At April 30, 2011 and
April 30, 2010, working capital was approximately $132,135,000 and $88,692,000, respectively. The increase of $43,443,000 was
primarily due to operating income earned during the fiscal year and cash received as a result of the exercise of stock options.

Cash flows provided by operating activities were approximately $33,086,000 which was primarily the result of net income of
$41,454,000 plus non-cash expenses for depreciation and amortization of $5,099,000 and stock based compensation of $2,552,000.
These inflows were offset by an increase of accounts receivables of $18,128,000 and various other changes in working capital
accounts. The receivables for the Company increased primarily due to the increase in sales of $17,825,000 in the fourth quarter. A
surge in orders in March and April for Fluticasone led to higher receivables levels and lower inventory levels than the Company
would consider typical at year end. :

Cash flows used in investing activities for the year ended April 30, 2011 were approximately $9,765,000. Intangible asset acquisitions
are detailed on the following table:

Acquisition Amount

ECR CAIM-OUL ...ttt et st et es et e s eeaaesressesseesanes $ 1,440,000
Nystatin oral SUSPENSION aCUISILION. ......ccverveerererieserereereeererererarnreresarneeens $ 150,000
OBRET .ot sttt n b s $ 65,000

Capital expenditures of $8,266,000 in the fiscal year included an expansion of the production area in our non-sterile manufacturing
facility and the purchase of a new high speed filler for nasal and oral sprays.

Cash flows provided by financing activities were $2,754,000 and primarily resulted from the proceeds and the tax benefit resulting
from the exercise of stock options. The Company drew down $621,000 on its equipment financing line with JP Morgan Chase as
described below.

The Company entered into a Revolving Credit Agreement, effective as of June 1, 2010, with JPMorgan Chase (the “Revolving Credit
Agreement”). The Revolving Credit Agreement permits the Company to borrow up to $10,000,000 pursuant to a revolving credit note
(“Revolving Credit Note”) for, among other things within certain sublimits, general corporate purposes, acquisitions, research and
development projects and future stock repurchase programs. Loans shall bear interest at a rate equal to, at the Company’s option, in
the case of a CB Floating Rate Loan, as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement, the Prime Rate, as defined in the Revolving
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Credit Agreement; provided that, the CB Floating Rate shall never be less than the Adjusted One Month LIBOR rate, or for a LIBOR
Loan, at a rate equal to the Adjusted LIBOR rate plus the Applicable Margin, as such terms are defined in the Revolving Credit
Agreement. The Revolving Credit Agreement contains covenants customary for agreements of this type, including covenants relating
to a liquidity ratio, a debt service coverage ratio and a minimum consolidated net income. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit
Agreement mature on May 27, 2013.

If an event of default under the Revolving Credit Agreement shall occur and be continuing, the commitments under the Revolving
Credit Agreement may be terminated and the principal amount outstanding under the Revolving Credit Agreement, together with all
accrued unpaid interest and other amounts owing under the Revolving Credit Agreement and related loan documents, may be declared
immediately due and payable.

The Company also entered into a $5,000,000 equipment financing agreement with JPMorgan Chase on June 1, 2010. This agreement
has similar interest rates. On June 15, 2010 the Company drew down $621,000 of the equipment financing line to fund a down
payment for new filling and packaging equipment, and anticipates drawing down an additional $1,379,000 to finance the remaining
payments for the equipment.

The Company may not declare or pay dividends or distributions, other than dividends payable solely in capital stock, so long as the
Revolving Credit Note remains unpaid.

The Company believes that its financial resources consisting of current working capital, anticipated future operating revenue and its
credit line will be sufficient to enable it to meet its working capital requirements for at least the next twelve months.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) has issued Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) No. 2010-27, Other Expenses
(Topic 720): Fees Paid to the Federal Government by Pharmaceutical Manufacturers. This ASU provides guidance on how
pharmaceutical manufacturers should recognize and classify in their income statements fees mandated by the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act (PPACA) and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act, both enacted in March 2010, referred to as the
“Acts.” The Acts impose an annual fee on the pharmaceutical manufacturing industry for each calendar year beginning on or after
January 1, 2011. An entity’s portion of the annual fee is payable no later than September 30 of the applicable calendar year and is not
tax deductible. A portion of the annual fee will be allocated to individual entities on the basis of the amount of their brand prescription
drug sales (including authorized generic product sales) for the preceding year as a percentage of the industry’s brand prescription drug
sales (including authorized generic product sales) for the same period. An entity’s portion of the annual fee becomes payable to the
U.S. Treasury once a pharmaceutical manufacturing entity has a gross receipt from branded prescription drug sales to any specified
government program or in accordance with coverage under any government program for each calendar year beginning on or after
January 1, 2011. The amendments in this ASU specify that the liability for the fee should be estimated and recorded in full upon the
first qualifying sale with a corresponding deferred cost that is amortized to expense using a straight-line method of allocation unless
another method better allocates the fee over the calendar year that it is payable. The annual fee is classified as an operating expense in
the income statement. The amendments in this ASU were effective for calendar years beginning after December 31, 2010, when the
fee initially became effective. The annual impact of this fee on us will be highly variable depending on the volume of our sales of
authorized generics and brand products. There was no material impact of the adoption of this guidance on the consolidated financial
statements of the Company at April 30, 2011.

The FASB has issued ASU 2010-29, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Disclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma Information for
Business Combinations. The amendments in this ASU affect any public entity as defined by Topic 805, Business Combinations, that
enters into business combinations that are material on an individual or aggregate basis. The amendments in this ASU specify that if a
public entity presents comparative financial statements, the entity should disclose revenue and earnings of the combined entity as
though the business combination(s) that occurred during the current year had occurred as of the beginning of the comparable prior
annual reporting period only. The amendments also expand the supplemental pro forma disclosures to include a description of the
nature and amount of material, nonrecurring pro forma adjustments directly attributable to the business combination included in the
reported pro forma revenue and earnings. The amendments are effective prospectively for business combinations for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2010.

In December 2010, the FASB updated the accounting guidance relating to the annual goodwill impairment test. The updated guidance
requires companies to perform the second step of the impairment test to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any, when it is
more likely than not that goodwill impairment exists when the carrying amount of a reporting unit is zero or negative. In considering
whether it is more likely than not that goodwill impairment exists, an entity shall evaluate whether there are adverse qualitative
factors. The updated guidance is effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2012. The adoption of this guidance
is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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In June 2011, the FASB updated the disclosure requirements for comprehensive income. The updated guidance requires companies to
disclose the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive income either
in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. The updated guidance does
not affect how earnings per share is calculated or presented. The updated guidance is effective for the Company beginning in the first
quarter of fiscal year 2013. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adoption of this accounting guidance on its
consolidated financial statements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In preparing financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, we are
required to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses for the reporting period covered thereby. As a
result, these estimates are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. We base our estimates and judgments on our historical
experience, the terms of existing contracts, our observance of trends in the industry, information that we obtain from our customers
and outside sources, and on various assumptions that we believe to be reasonable and appropriate under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis for making judgments which impact our reported operating results and the carrying values of assets and
liabilities. These assumptions include but are not limited to the percentage of new products which may have chargebacks and the
percentage of items which will be subject to price decreases. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Our significant
accounting policies are more fully described in Note A to our financial statements.

Revenue recognition and accounts receivable, adjustments for returns and price adjustments, allowance for doubtful accounts and
carrying value of inventory represent significant estimates made by management.

Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable: Revenue is recognized for product sales upon shipment and when risk is passed to the
customer and when estimates of discounts, rebates, promotional adjustments, price adjustments, returns, chargebacks, and other
potential adjustments are reasonably determinable, collection is reasonably assured and the Company has no further performance
obligations. These estimates are presented in the financial statements as reductions to net revenues and accounts receivable. Estimated
sales returns, allowances and discounts are provided for in determining net sales. Contract research income is recognized as work is
completed and billable costs are incurred. In certain cases, contract research income is based on attainment of designated milestones.

Adjustments for Returns and Price Adjustments: Our product revenues are typically subject to agreements with customers allowing
chargebacks, rebates, rights of return, pricing adjustments and other allowances. Based on our agreements and contracts with our
customers, we calculate adjustments for these items when we recognize revenue and we book the adjustments against accounts
receivable and revenue. Chargebacks, primarily from wholesalers, are the most significant of these items. Chargebacks result from
arrangements we have with end users establishing prices for products for which the end user independently selects a wholesaler from
which to purchase. A chargeback represents the difference between our invoice price to the wholesaler, which is typically stated at
wholesale acquisition cost, and the end customer’s contract price, which is lower. We credit the wholesaler for purchases by end
customers at the lower price. Therefore, we record these chargebacks at the time we recognize revenue in connection with our sales to
wholesalers.

The reserve for chargebacks is computed in the following manner. The Company obtains wholesaler inventory data for the
wholesalers which represent approximately 95% of our chargeback activity. This inventory is multiplied by the historical percentage
of units that are charged back and by the price adjustment per unit to arrive at the chargeback accrual. This calculation is performed by
product by customer. The calculated amount of chargebacks could be affected by other factors such as:

. A change in retail customer mix

. A change in negotiated terms with retailers
. Product sales mix at the wholesaler

. Retail inventory levels

. Changes in Wholesale Acquisition Cost (WAC)

The Company continually monitors the chargeback activity and adjusts the provisions for chargebacks when we believe that the actual
chargebacks will differ from our original provisions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Company maintains a return policy that allows our customers to return product within a
specified period. The Company’s estimate for returns is based upon its historical experience with actual returns. While such
experience has allowed for reasonable estimation in the past, history may not always be an accurate indicator of future returns. The
Company continually monitors its estimates for returns and makes adjustments when it believes that actual product returns may differ
from the established accruals.
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Included in the adjustment for sales allowances and returns is a reserve for credits taken by our customers for rebates, return
authorizations and other discounts. ‘

Sales discounts are granted for prompt payment. The reserve for sales discounts is based on invoices outstanding and assumes that
100% of available discounts will be taken.

Price adjustments, including shelf stock adjustments, are credits issued from time to time to reflect decreases in the selling prices of
our products which our customer has remaining in its inventory at the time of the price reduction. Decreases in our selling prices are
discretionary decisions made by us to reflect market conditions. Amounts recorded for estimated price adjustments are based upon
specified terms with direct customers, estimated launch dates of competing products, estimated declines in market price and inventory
held by the customer. The Company analyzes this on a case by case basis and makes adjustments to reserves as necessary.

The Company adequately reserves for chargebacks, discounts, allowances and returns in the period in which the sales takes place. No
material amounts included in the provision for chargebacks and the provision for sales discounts recorded in the current period relate
to sales made in the prior periods. The provision for sales allowances and returns includes reserves for items sold in the current and
prior periods. The Company has substantially and consistently used the same estimating methods. We have refined the methods as
new data became available. There have been no material differences between the estimates applied and actual results.

The Company determines amounts that are material to the financial statements in consideration of all relevant circumstances including
quantitative and qualitative factors. Among the items considered is the impact on individual financial statement classification,
operating income and footnote disclosures and the degree of precision that is attainable in estimating judgmental items.

The following table presents the roll forward of each significant estimate, which balances are reflected as deductions from accounts
receivable as of April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 and for the years then ended, respectively.

Beginning Actual Credits Ending
Balance Current in Current Balance
May 1 Provision Period April 30
For the year ended April 30, 2011
ChargebDacks.......coeiuieiieeieeeeeecee e eeeee e e e seseresesersereseseens $ 6,509,000 $ 113,922,000 $ (111,843,000) $ 8,588,000
Sales DISCOUNLS ....ccvveeveeereiriieiitee ettt eeee e e et ee e eeeeeereseeans 1,391,000 7,483,000 (6,521,000) 2,353,000
Sales Allowances & RetUITIS..........oeveeeeeeeeeeeeereesiesereereeresnens 6,470,000 34,995,000 (35,306,000) 6,159,000
Total Adjustment for Returns & Price Allowances......... $ 14,370,000 $ 156,400,000 $ (153,670,000) $ 17,100,000
For the year ended April 30, 2010
Chargebacks.......c.uvvecierieeiereecee ettt $ 2,904,000 $ 73,676,000 $ (70,071,000) $ 6,509,000
Sales DISCOUNLS .....cvecreiriirieurereieierriee e ceeseeeeeeeeeseeesseetesresseseeees 786,000 5,767,000 (5,162,000) 1,391,000
Sales Allowances & REtUIDS.........coveveoeeereeeeereeeeereeeesereenssenns 7,794,000 26,117,000 (27,441,000) 6,470,000
Total Adjustment for Returns & Price Allowances......... $ 11,484,000 $ 105,560,000 $ (102,674,000) $ 14,370,000
For the vear ended April 30, 2009
ChargebacKs.......cuvivieeericrriniiiee et e et s e e esee et esve e eeenes $ 2,668,000 $§ 35783,000 $ (35,547,000) $ 2,904,000
Sales DISCOUNES ....ecveiereierieitiieeenieeeeessese e reereesesseesesesseesenenns 440,000 3,744,000 (3,398,000) 786,000
Sales Allowances & RetUInS...........c.coeeeveeeeeeeereeeereeeereeresnens 5,357,000 23,311,000 (20,874,000) 7,794,000
Total Adjustment for Returns & Price Allowances......... $ 8465000 $ 62,838,000 $ (59,819,000) $ 11,484,000

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: We have historically provided credit terms to customers in accordance with what management
views as industry norms. Financial terms, for credit-approved customers, are generally on either a net 30 or 60 day basis, though most
customers are entitled to a prompt payment discount. Management periodically and regularly reviews customer account activity in
order to assess the adequacy of allowances for doubtful accounts, considering factors such as economic conditions and each
customer’s payment history and creditworthiness. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, or if they were
otherwise unable to make payments in accordance with management’s expectations, we would have to increase our allowance for
doubtful accounts.

Inventories: We state inventories at the lower of cost or market, with cost being determined based upon standard costing. In evaluating
the inventory, management considers such factors as the amount of inventory on hand, estimated time required to sell existing
inventory and expected market conditions, including levels of competition. We establish reserves for slow-moving and obsolete
inventories based upon our historical experience, product expiration dates and management’s assessment of current product demand.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As part of our ongoing business, we do not participate in transactions that generate relationships with unconsolidated entities or
financial partnerships which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes. As of April 30, 2011 we are not involved in any material unconsolidated transactions.

The Company’s ECR Pharmaceuticals subsidiary signed a lease for approximately 12,000 square feet in Richmond, VA commencing
September 1, 2009 and terminating August 31, 2014. The lease includes monthly payments of $6,941 which increase by 2% each year
for the term of the lease.

The Company entered into two lease obligations to partially finance a new computer system.

In June 2010, the Company entered into an agreement to lease a parking lot in Amityville, NY. The Company will pay $90,000 over a
five year period.

In connection with the acquisition of the assets of ECR Pharmaceuticals, the Company incurred $2,062,000 and $1,938,000 for fiscal
2010 and 2011, respectively, for an earn-out of which $498,000 was unpaid at April 30, 2011. The Company paid the final earn-out of
$498,000 in May, 2011. No additional obligation exists with respect to the earn-out.

Subject to the information and qualifications included in the above paragraphs, the table below sets forth the Company’s enforceable
and legally binding future commitments and obligations relating to all contracts that we are likely to continue regardless of the fact
that the contracts may be terminated.

Payments due by April 30,
Contractual Obligations 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Richmond, VA lease ............... bt esee et e r et ettt et e r et et e reneeene s $ 85000 $§ 87,000 $ 88,000 $ 30,000 $§ —
Software lease (principal and interest) .........occvceeereriecrineerecenrerenene. 37,000
AMItYVILE, NY L88SE.....vrrverrrcrerereseeeerensesesseessssesesssnsssasssassssssseessens, 17,000 17,000 18,000 19,000 3,000
TOAL....ovieveeeerereie ettt en et e e sttt e e a s e e e e n e saneneanas $ 139,000 $ 104,000 $ 106,000 $ 49,000 $ 3,000

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

We are exposed to market risk for changes in the market values of our investments (Investment Risk) and the impact of interest rate
changes (Interest Rate Risk). We have not used derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio.

We maintain our portfolio of cash equivalents and short-term investments primarily in money market funds, but sometimes invest in a
variety of securities, including both government and government agency obligations with ratings of A or better. Our investments seek
to preserve the value of our principal, provide liquidity and maximize return on the Company’s investment against minimal interest
rate risk. Consequently, our interest rate and principal risk are minimal. The quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk
are set forth below.

Investment Risk

We regularly review the carrying value of our investments and identify and recognize losses, for income statement purposes, when
events and circumstances indicate that any declines in the fair values of such investments below our accounting basis are other than
temporary.

Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to our cash equivalents and our floating interest rate on our new revolving credit
and equipment financing facilities with JPMorgan Chase. Our cash is invested in bank deposits and A-rated money market mutual
funds.

We do not operate and transact business in foreign countries and are, therefore, not subject to the risk of foreign currency exchange
rate fluctuations.

At this time, we have no material commodity price risks.

We do not believe that inflation has had a significant impact on our revenues or operations.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. (the “Company™) as of April 30, 2011
and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years
in the three-year period ended April 30, 2011. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. as of April 30, 2011 and 2010, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended April 30, 2011, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Hi-Tech
Pharmacal Co., Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated

July 8, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

EisnerAmper LLP

New York, New York
July 8, 2011
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.

We have audited Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.’s (the “Company”) internal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2011, based
on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO”). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying
Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. '

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness
of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of April 30,
2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. as of April 30, 2011 and 2010 and the related consolidated statements of
operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended April 30,2011 and our
report dated July 8, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

EisnerAmper LLP

New York, New York
July 8, 2011
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HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

April 30,
2011 2010
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash EQUIVAIENLS .........cccceeriruiereieeeeriireeteeseeteeseereeresestssseeseseese e ssassosersssassesensnene $ 62,304,000 $ 36,018,000
Accounts receivable (less allowances for doubtful accounts of $500,000 and $400,000 at
April 30, 2011 and 2010, reSPECIVELY)....c.crveirrererrrrrirererireressecesnereeessoneessessessrssssesesessnens 57,632,000 39,604,000
TEIVEIIEOTY -.veeietiteneeesere ettt et et et et et et a s e e ae e eabe st et ceneene s et e e st s sesa b e aa e st s s e st e sesanonesstonesenennans 23,784,000 19,604,000
Deferred INCOME tAXES .. .ccueiivrieieeeeieiieereesisaeeeesesseesiaeersreressesasesansasessssesssessssesesnsersnsesnsnsnsasans 5,546,000 4,219,000
Prepaid INCOME TAXES ......ooiereireecieniecerteeanssesee et ese oo e sss b s b st st s s sbesone e e s rer e bnonanentens 661,000 —
OthEr CUITENT ASSELS ...veiiieereeeiieeieieeieeiteeeieeestcessteeseeresassrsnessessesssessasasssnesssasassasnsneesssasnsnerenes 3,041,000 3,055,000
Current assets of discontinued OPETALIONS ........o.ececveriererrereniereniniiee e sresesee oo es s eene 774,000 1,673,000
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS ... .ottt sitesteeeestesaessne s restosnesonssssesssnonsasssesseessessnes $ 153,742,000 $ 104,173,000
Property and eqUIPIMENt, NEL ........c.ovvivvimeeiiicereiietereerrcrsrebe et s 25,866,000 20,321,000
Deferred IMCOMIE TAXES ....uveeeiiiiireieietieiiieeeeireeeestaesessteeaseeesesrsrrerossasesasasstsesssssesesantassssssasersranerassnesses 1,084,000 883,000
OFRET @SSELS ..vveuririireriistireetrrerte e stestestestesbasteebass e bassastaesnesaesessneses sesenesstensestseseseeasasatessennossestennssnens 300,000 479,000
Intangible aSSets, NMEL.......uiivviiriiiiriniiiiiie it s 21,231,000 21,686,000
Non-current assets of discontinued OPETAtIONS ...........cccecvveeererereneriiereeiteiereeseeieeee e sreieseesseesesenenes 1,017,000 2,742,000
TOTAL ASSETS.......o oottt sttt e e e e bbb nene s nens $ 203,240,000 $ 150,284,000
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
ACCOUNLS PAYADIE .....vevicvereierititesceececeetcestessssss s b et tesssssasabasaseesesebesesasananesasersassssssssssssssans $ 7,806,000 $ 5,388,000
ACCTUEA EXPEISES ...cvretereieneeieeeieeieeteemeaessentessessessese e e e st eeeone s e st esesbensestesseseesaneseeeesenrennene 13,658,000 8,757,000
Current portion of obligation under capital 1€ase ...........cccoverviiiininiiininnccre e, 37,000 193,000
INCOME taXES PAYADLE ..coviieieceieece ettt e re et renn e — 880,000
Current liabilities of discontinued OPETrations...........c.cevirierrneiiiininiiininiece sttt 106,000 263,000
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES............cooosruerirmmeseneesersasensssesassessssssessssesssmssssssasessens $ 21,607,000 $ 15,481,000
Obligation Under Capital IEASE........ccruevereriruieriererrier ettt sver s es et ne s 621,000 37,000
TOTAL LIABILITIES ...... ..ottt seeererseeseasaeasse s bes e ssessaesse s e e ssseessasssnassssseasnsasasas $ 22,228,000 $§ 15,518,000
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note L)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share; authorized 3,000,000 shares, none issued .............
Common stock, par value $.01; authorized 50,000,000 shares, 15,163,000 and 15,017,000
shares issued at April 30, 2011 and 2010, TESPECHVELY .....vueverervrrerrrerrerresessensnsessesesnnans 152,000 150,000
Additional paid-in CAPItAL........ccceierieiieieierietecerte ettt st r e e nene 79,981,000 75,345,000
RetaINEd CAITHIES .. .oveieierireieceeieeerteee e e st e te e raaesresses s et esbesbesseesesasa st essanbenseasensnesaesaansnsaans 123,879,000 82,425,000
Accumulated other comprehensive (108s), Net OF taX....c.ccoveevereiiiriiinirirenieicneerte e — (154,000)
Treasury stock, 2,456,000 shares of common stock, at cost at April 30, 2011 and 2010........ (23,000,000) (23,000,000)
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY .......ccoooiiiereeeerrerreeeesessaesenesaes e ssseessssnaesseassanns $ 181,012,000 $ 134,766,000
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ...t $ 203,240,000 $ 150,284,000

See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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NET SALES......oooiieeiiriiereiintesiaeaeasessesesssesesssestssesssserenesresesassesesssseassasssasens
Cost 0f 200dS SOIA.....couiuiirieieeeieieirieteeite e e

GROSS PROFTT .......c.ooiiriiietiieie et sie e see st eseene et st ane e sensesanennesaans

COST AND EXPENSES:
Selling, general and administrative €Xpense.........ccccvceeverrerericreririsnsesenses
Research and product development COStS......c.ccccriererieininicincesiniiieen.
ROYAILY INCOIME ...ceeeirereiierereriirecetecreene et r st st
Contract research (INCOMIE)......cvueeveeeveereereerrerrersreeseeseeeereeresresenesnesinaens
INEETESt EXPENSE ..coruririeieiirricrciie et r et s rn e s aas s sans
Interest (income) and Other..........cccooirviricnininienrcecn e

Income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes..............
Provision for inCOME taX EXPENSE .......ceerverervuerinerereseresirnserenrerinessesnssssssessssesns

Income from coNtinuUing OPErations .........coceeereeerereererierererreenimsieresiesieesssneneenes
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taX........cococeevercererercesenenanee

NET INCOME ...t st s srs e bt s ae s

BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE:
Continuing OPEIatioNS .......c.ceceeiererrieriereesiereesreseesesaiseeseeresesreseseresansneses
Discontinued OPerations..........cocceuereercerirrrereereserinaresessrestreresessnsesnesanns

BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE......... SO PO

WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING,
DILUTED .....coooiiiiiiiiiiteeteent ettt b sres st

HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended April 30,
2011 2010 2009
$ 190,848,000 $ 159,339,000 $ 101,780,000
83,263,000 68,553,000 53,845,000
107,585,000 90,786,000 47,935,000
39,104,000 43,100,000 30,633,000
9,350,000 7,259,000 7,429,000
(4,607,000) (3,572,000) (547,000)
(675,000) (894,000) (136,000)
45,000 29,000 38,000
(433,000) (1,193,000) (4,237,000)
42,784,000 $ 44,729,000 33,180,000
64,801,000 46,057,000 14,755,000
21,082,000 14,471,000 5,660,000
43,719,000 $ 31,586,000 9,095,000
(2,265,000) (465,000) 722,000
41,454,000 $ 31,121,000 9,817,000
3.47 2.65 0.80
(0.18) (0.04) 0.07
329 § 2.61 0.87
3.36 2.54 0.78
(0.17) (0.04) 0.06
319 § 250 S 0.84
12,615,000 11,903,000 11,303,000
397,000 522,000 389,000
13,012,000 12,425,000 11,692,000

See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated
Additional Other Treasury Total
Common Stock Paid in Retained Comprehensive Stock at Stockholders’  Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Cost Equity Income (Loss)
BALANCE—APRIL 30,
13,603,000 $136,000 $ 54,829,000 $ 41,487,000 $ 64,000 $ (21,351,0000 S 75,165,000
9,817,000 9,817,000 $ 9,817,000
Exercise of options 183,000 2,000 312,000 314,000
Purchase of Treasury Stock......... (1,649,000) (1,649,000)
Stock-based compensation
EXPEIISC.......cnreercecncrenresnnens 2,532,000 2,532,000
Tax benefit from exercise of
OPHONS......ooovceceeccecenees 304,000 304,000
Other comprehensive income
(loss), net of tax (128,000) (128,000) (128,000)
Total Comprehensive Income ..... $ 9,689,000
BALANCE—APRIL 30,
13,786,000 $138,000 S 57,977,000 $ 51,304,000 $  (64,000) $ (23,000,000) $ 86,355,000
Net income ... 31,121,000 31,121,000 31,121,000
Exercise of options.........ccccceeene. 1,231,000 12,000 12,017,000 12,029,000
Stock-based compensation
(24015 111 OO 2,459,000 2,459,000
Tax benefit from exercise of
OPLIODS cevevrvrcecrcericsrensienne 2,892,000 2,892,000
Other comprehensive
income (loss), net of tax........ (90,000) (90,000) (90,000)
Total Comprehensive Income...... $ 31,031,000
BALANCE—APRIL 30,
15,017,000 $150,000 $ 75,345,000 $ 82,425,000 $ (154,000) $ (23,000,000) $ 134,766,000
Net income .... 41,454,000 41,454,000 41,454,000
Exercise of options... 146,000 2,000 1,670,000 1,672,000
Stock-based compensation
EXPEIISE ..covevererrranereesransenserenes 2,552,000 2,552,000
Tax benefit from exercise of
options...... 414,000 414,000
Other comprehensive
income (loss), net of tax........ 154,000 154,000 154,000
Total Comprehensive Income ..... $ 41,608,000
BALANCE—APRIL 30,
15,163,000 $152,000 $ 79,981,000 $ 123,879,000 $ — $ (23,000,000) $ 181,012,000

See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended April 30,
2011 2010 2009
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
NELITICOIME «.cevviriiniiriiitiiet et b et et se sttt bese et ee s ese e et e bt abe st emeneeseeeneneen $ 41,454,000 $ 31,121,000 9,817,000
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities:
Loss (income) from discontinued Operations ...........cccceeeiveeveereereeverseensereesennens 2,265,000 465,000 (722,000)
Depreciation and amortiZation ............cccceeveeieeriereeiesiisiesessesesnsseeseesseseessessennens 5,099,000 3,819,000 3,180,000
Deferred INCOME LAXES......co.evereeerirerirereeerreeerseeseseeneaereneenessesenaessesesesessessassasens (1,528,000) (2,721,000) (375,000)
Stock based cOMPENSAtion EXPENSE........overrerrereeererererieeeenaenresessesresesessessassenes 2,552,000 2,459,000 2,532,000
(Gain) loss on sale of intangible asset and divestiture of products......c..ccceceec... — (1,000,000) (3,500,000)
Impairment of iNtangible aSSEtS........ccceeeveeeeieriiiiiitii et saesaens 221,000 — —
Increase in bad debt allowance..............c.ooouveevvevieveeerr et 100,000 — —
L0SS ON INVESTMENT ......ceiieeieitiettieceeeeeeceeeeee et ceeee e eeeesaeeseessaesreeseenesseasansees 250,000 — —
(Reversal) other than temporary write down of marketable securities............... — — (500,000)
CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES:
Accounts TECEIVADIE ......c.iiviiiiiiiiccc et e e (18,128,000) (8,897,000) (13,779,000)
INVEIEOTY ..ottt st sttt e et st sbaseesaneesastesrebessesassanees (4,180,000) (3,224,000) 2,177,000
Prepaid taxes / taxes PAYADIE........ccvoceiininieniienreneerreenee et eeen (1,862,000) 415,000 1,624,000
Other CUITENE ASSELS ......cuoiieiiiiiiiic e esa s (142,000) (871,000) (731,000)
OBhET @SSELS ..cviviviiieiiiiiiiet ittt ettt sttt sbe et saesa s orn o et e e eee s et ssetesestencnnene 164,000 23,000 (20,000)
Accounts payable ................... H TSSOSO P PO PTORROOON 2,418,000 (406,000) 1,087,000
ACCIUEG EXPEIISES ...euviueruienienienieiieteresseeseesresiesessessessessesseeessessessessastessastessnsntssessessesses 4,403,000 (260,000) 4,263,000
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES OF CONTINUING
OPERATIONS ...ttt ettt en st ta s e b es e st esassesassessesases $ 33,086,000 20,923,000 5,053,000
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from sale of investment in marketable securities, net ..........cooevveeveevveernnnnne $ — — 3,045,000
Purchase of property and eqUIPIIENT ...........ccoceiiieiiierirreresiereseeseeee e seeeeeeeseeeeseeenns (8,266,000) (3,907,000) (3,895,000)
Purchase of intangible @SSEtS ..........covivvirerierieeieiceee et (215,000) (11,380,000) (650,000)
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets, net and from divestiture of products ............ 156,000 2,343,000 3,235,000
Investment 1N NeUTO-HITECH ...ccueiiiiii ettt sttt ee e essaeeeeanseesanes — — (100,000)
Purchase of ECR PharmaceutiCals SSELS ..........c.cvvrvirivrieriesinseciniesessessenscesasssenseneanens (1,440,000) (6,200,000) (1,115,000)
NET CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES OF
CONTINUING OPERATIONS ...ttt seeceene $  (9,765,000) (19,144,000) 520,000
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from the exercise 0f OPHIONS......c..cvvieeiiiiriciesieeeei et $ 1,672,000 12,029,000 314,000
Tax benefit 0f StOCK INCENTIVES.......c.cceeicreiiiiecceceeecec et : 654,000 4,299,000 304,000
Purchase Of treasury StOCK .......c.ecieiiieiiiiecrieiecrecr e cr st eeseeaee b esss e e sseese e resessennen — — (1,649,000)
Payments under capital lease obligation............c.occevereeeeeireeeee e eeee e (193,000) (180,000) (138,000)
Proceeds from draw down of equipment 1080 .........cc.cccovvvevrivieennienrcieneeeeeeee e sveenes 621,000 — —
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES OF
CONTINUING OPERATIONS ...ttt see st st ssessaessesaessessesnans $ 2,754,000 16,148,000 (1,169,000)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS OF CONTINUING
OPERATIONS 26,075,000 17,927,000 4,404,000
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS OF
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS........ccooenitnreinenrreteeneeseneesceresesesneseeseseene 211,000 200,000 1,765,000
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year.........ccoceeeeecerirecerrteee e 36,018,000 17,891,000 11,722,000
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR........ccccccocvivivniiriennne $ 62,304,000 36,018,000 17,891,000
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information ............cccccvvrivceccecccncnce
Cash paid for: INtErest .......cceviecevereiiiricceceee ettt e e e sa e eae $ 75,000 29,000 38,000
TNCOME TAXES......oociiiieiiiee et ettt 21,000,000 12,219,000 6,797,000
Non-cash InVesting transactions: .........cccvvevririenienenenenese e sesesressessnessens
Other receivable from divestiture of products..........c.cccoceeverrercrcrceereeenen — 156,000 —
Notes receivable from the sale of intangible asset..........cccceeevervrererennns — — 1,500,000
Assets subject to capital IEases...........covvviiiveeeeceireeiisieneesre et — — 506,000

See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(NOTE A) The Company and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

[1] Business:

Hi-Tech is a specialty pharmaceutical company developing, manufacturing and marketing generic and branded prescription and OTC
products. The Company specializes in the manufacture of liquid and semi-solid dosage forms and produces a range of sterile
ophthalmic, otic and inhalation products. The Company’s Health Care Products Division is a developer and marketer of branded
prescription and OTC products for the diabetes marketplace. Hi-Tech’s ECR Pharmaceuticals subsidiary markets branded prescription
products.

The following table presents sales data for the Company by division.

Revenue 2011 2010 2009

Hi-TECH GENETICS ....uveuviiieeeririreieiene ettt esene e sn e ensestesenese et seseonenneses $ 157,361,000 $ 129,359,000 $ 88,848,000
Health Care ProQUCES .......coovvviue ettt eeeneseee e ese e s e esesesenesasns 13,872,000 11,268,000 10,125,000
ECR PharmaceutiCals.........oeciveieireeiieicieiieeceeeeeeeeest e se s sre s enssesessesnesmesene 19,615,000 18,712,000 2,807,000
TOtAL....ceee et r e b s r e st et s s e sresen $ 190,848,000 $ 159,339,000 $ 101,780,000

[2] Basis of Accounting and Principles of Consolidation:

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S.”). All intercompany accounts and transactions
are eliminated in consolidation.

[3] Inventory:
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in first-out or average cost) or market.

[4] Property and equipment:

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Estimated depreciation and amortization of
the respective assets is computed using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives.

[5] Income taxes:

The Company uses the liability method to account for deferred income taxes in accordance with ASC Topic 740-10 “Income Taxes”.
The liability method measures deferred income taxes by applying enacted statutory rates in effect at the balance sheet date to the
differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements. The resulting asset or
liability is adjusted to reflect changes in the tax law as they occur.

The Company follows the provision of ASC Topic 740-10, “Income Taxes”, relating to recognition thresholds and measurement
attributes for the financial statements recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. It
also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods and requires increased
disclosures.

This guidance provides that the tax effects from an uncertain tax position can be recognized in our financial statements, only if the
position is more likely than not of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. The Company has elected an
accounting policy to classify interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as interest expense.
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[6] Revenue recognition:

Revenue is recognized for product sales upon shipment and passing of risk to the customer and when estimates of discounts, rebates,
promotional adjustments, price adjustments, returns, chargebacks, and other potential adjustments are reasonably determinable,
collection is reasonably assured and the Company has no further performance obligations. These estimates are presented in the
financial statements as reductions to net revenues and accounts receivable. Contract research income is recognized as work is
completed and as billable costs are incurred. In certain cases, contract research income is based on attainment of designated
milestones. Advance payments may be received to fund certain development costs.

Royalty income is related to sales of divested products which are sold by third parties. For those agreements, the Company recognizes
revenue based on royalties reported by those third parties and earned during the applicable period.

[7]1 Advertising Expense:

Advertising costs are expensed when incurred. Advertising expense for the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 amounted to
$3,968,000, $3,791,000 and $3,217,000, respectively.

[8] Freight Expense:
Outgoing freight costs are included in selling, general, and administrative expense. Incoming freight is included in cost of goods sold.

[9] Research and Development Costs:
Research and product development costs are charged to expense as incurred.

[10] Cash and cash equivalents:

The Company considers U.S. Treasury bills and government agency obligations with a maturity of three months or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents.

[11] Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic earnings (loss) from continuing operations per common share is computed based on the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding. Diluted earnings from continuing operations per common share gives effect to all dilutive potential common
shares outstanding during the year. The dilutive effect of the outstanding options and warrants was computed using the treasury stock
method. The number of potentially dilutive securities excluded from the computation of diluted income per share was approximately
303,000, 299,000 and 2,116,000 for the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. These securities were excluded since
their effect would have been antidilutive.

[12] Long-lived assets:

The Company evaluates and records impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations, including intangible assets, when
events and circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired using the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by
those assets. Long-lived assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of their carrying amounts or fair values less disposal costs.
The Company incurred an impairment loss of $1,296,000 in connection with the sale of certain assets of the Midlothian division which
is included in the loss from discontinued operations and $221,000 in connection with the discontinuation of Tanafed products for the
year ended April 30, 2011,

[13] Fair Value of Financial Instruments:

The carrying value of certain financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, notes payable and accounts
payable approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature or their underlying terms.

[14] Use of estimates:

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The Company makes significant estimates in many areas of its
accounting, including but not limited to the following: sales returns, chargebacks, allowances and discounts, inventory obsolescence,
the useful lives of property and equipment and its impairment, stock-based compensation, accruals, impact of legal matters and the
realization of deferred tax assets. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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[15] Comprehensive Income:

The Company follows ASC Topic 220-10, “Comprehensive Income,” which requires companies to report as comprehensive income
all changes in equity during a period, except those resulting from investment by owners and distribution to owners, for the period in
which they are recognized. Comprehensive income is the total of net income and all other non-owner changes in equity (or other
comprehensive income) such as unrealized gains/losses on securities classified as available for sale.

[16] Stock-Based Compensation:

The Company follows the provisions of ASC Topic 718, “Compensation — Stock Compensation”, which requires the measurement
and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees, non-employee directors, and
consultants, including employee stock options. Stock-based compensation is measured at the grant date, based on the calculated fair
value of the award, and is recognized as an expense over the requisite employee service period (generally the vesting period of the
grant).

The Company recognized stock-based compensation for awards issued under the Company’s Stock Option Plans in the following line
items in the Statement of Operations:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
April 30,2011 April 30, 2010 April 30, 2009
COSt OF SALES ...oveevieieiiieeeeee ettt ees e st re e s $ 318,000 $ 488,000 $ 495,000
Selling, general and administrative €Xpenses..........ccovueveerereereerenrenenns 1,930,000 1,801,000 1,861,000
Research and development €Xpenses...........ccovevereererrereresrerenrererereesens 304,000 170,000 176,000
Stock-based compensation expense before income tax benefit........... $ 2,552,000 $ 2,459,000 $ 2,532,000

The Company amortizes the fair value of all awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. Cumulative
compensation expense recognized at any date will at least equal the grant date fair value of the vested portion of the award at that
time.

ASC Topic 718 requires the use of a valuation model to calculate the fair value of stock-based awards. The Company has elected to
use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which incorporates various assumptions including volatility, expected life and interest
rate. The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock. The expected life of an award is
based on the expected life pursuant to Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, “Share Based Payments”, as amended by Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 110. The interest rates for periods within the contractual life of the award are based on the U.S. Treasury yield on the date
of each option grant.

The following weighted average assumptions were used for stock options granted during the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and
2009:

Year Ended April 30,
2011 2010 2009
Dividend YIeld.......ccvriruiiiiierirereennteeie e ettt be b None None None
Expected VOIAtility.......ccuovieiirerieieieeieeeninrenir e vese st nan s s s v 58% 58% 49%
Risk-free INTEIESt TALE ......c.cccovreeieririeicreeeirsr e eseer e sr e eeerera s sse e s beenanas 2.60% 2.31% 2.37%
EXPECted tEIML. ..ottt s e a s na s asbesennas 5.0 5.0 5.0
Weighted average fair value per share at grant date............cococeevevevenrrriersrereceennns $§ 1170 $ 1026 $ 255

All options granted through April 30, 2011 had exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant, a
contractual term of ten years and generally a vesting period of four years. In accordance with ASC Topic 718, the Company adjusts
stock-based compensation on a quarterly basis for changes to the estimate of expected equity award forfeitures based on actual
forfeiture experience. The effect of adjusting the forfeiture rate for all expense amortization is recognized in the period the forfeiture
estimate is changed. As of April 30, 2011, the forfeiture rate was 9% and the effect of forfeiture adjustments in the year ended

April 30, 2011 was insignificant.

ASC Topic 718 requires the cash flows resulting from tax deductions in excess of compensation cost recognized for those options
(excess tax benefits) to be classified as financing cash flows. The actual income tax benefits realized for tax deductions related to
option exercises of share-based payments was $654,000, $4,299,000 and $304,000 for the year ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively.
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STOCK OPTION PLAN ACTIVITY

Employee Stock Option Plan;

A summary of the stock options activity and related information for the Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan and the 2009 Stock
Option Plan (“Employee Plan”) for the years ended April 30, 2011 and April 30, 2010 is as follows:

Weighted-Average
Weighted-Average Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic

Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan Shares Exercise Price Contractual Term Value
Outstanding at May 1, 2010........c.coueeereeeeererreererereeerenns 1,662,000 $ 13.26
GIanS.....oiiiiiiriric ettt ettt 454,000 22.69

EXEICISEA ...oeveeeeeeriereistecteereeeete et (132,000) 11.75

Forfeitures or eXpirations...........ceceeveueveceieecsreeeeeonerereenene (28,000) 12.87

Outstanding at April 30, 2011 .....cccceommeeviiiirieeeenen. 1,956,000 $ 15.40 64 $ 23,982,000
Vested and expected to vest at April 30, 2011.................. 1,869,000 $ 15.27 63 $ 23,161,000
Exercisable at April 30, 2011 .......ocoevrvrveviiiiercceeene. 997,000 $ 12.76 41 % 14,863,000

Weighted-Average
Weighted-Average Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic

Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan Shares Exercise Price Contractual Term Value
Outstanding at May 1, 2009.........ccocvvveeverieeeeeererereeerens 2,447,000 $ 10.83

GIaANLS....cctiveereerierie et seesee et esenesenens 358,000 19.98

Exercised..........ccevvvurrrerennnne. ettt (1,090,000) 10.02

Forfeitures or eXpirations...........ceeveveueervueueececevereseseresnenns (53,000) 13.02

Outstanding at April 30, 2010.......cccoeveveveeeerreeeere e 1,662,000 $ 13.26 66 $ 18,615,000
Vested and expected to vest at April 30, 2010................. 1,603,000 $ 13.23 64 $ 17,811,000
Exercisable at April 30, 2010........ccceuveeerereieereeeneae 860,000 $ 13.08 44 $ 9,682,000

Directors Stock Option Plan

A summary of the stock option activity and related information for the 1994 Director Stock Option Plan, as Amended, for the years
ended April 30, 2011 and April 30, 2010 is as follows:

Weighted-Average

Weighted-Average Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic
1994 Directors Stock Option Plan, as Amended Shares Exercise Price Contractual Term Value
Outstanding at May 1, 2010.......cc.ceeeerereieiiiiirereerenee 415,000 $ 13.72
GIANLS ....vevrerirecre st e eees et ssese e e st eesesesssessesnesaens 50,000 : 22.25
EXEICISEd .....vvveeeerettriririsiee ettt nenena (14,000) 8.36
Forfeitures or Xpirations...........c.ceeeveveeivesieseneeeeenereseeesenens (23,000) 20.68
Outstanding at April 30, 201 1..........cocevieveeeiiieieeeee s 428,000 $ 14.54 57 $ 5,622,000
Vested and expected to vest at April 30, 2011..................... 428,000 $ 14.54 57 $ 5,622,000
Exercisable at April 30, 2011 ......cccoovoviieciiiieeeeeeeeeeene 294,000 $ 13.90 44 $ 4,079,000

Weighted-Average

Weighted-Average Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic
1994 Directors Stock Option Plan, as Amended Shares Exercise Price Contractual Term Value
Outstanding at May 1, 2009.........ccoeeereeeeeeeeeereeeeeesensens 518,000 $ 11.61
GIANES...oeeeveeeeeeeeteie ettt ettt et ee et eesaessessnesenesnenne s 50,000 19.59
EXEICISEA...c..cviririiiriceriinie et ettt (141,000) 8.29
Forfeitures or Xpirations.........ceceeeveeverirvieereereeereeeresesesenn: (12,000) 10.99
Outstanding at April 30, 2010.......c.ccoovvvvevriivmrireiereieren, 415,000 $ 13.72 60 $ 4,439,000
Vested and expected to vest at April 30, 2010..................... 415,000 $ 13.72 60 §$ 4,439,000
Exercisable at April 30, 2010........cccocoevviveeeeerereeeeeeeeeeeen, 266,000 $ 14.40 48 §$ 2,689,000
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The aggregate intrinsic values in the preceding tables represent the total pretax intrinsic value, based on options with an exercise price
less than the Company’s closing stock price of $27.66 as of April 29, 2011, which would have been received by the option holders had
those option holders exercised their options as of that date.

Total intrinsic values of options exercised for the Employee Plan and the 1994 Directors Stock Option Plan, as Amended, were
$1,885,000, $15,584,000 and $880,000 for the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The total fair value of stock
options vested during the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 amounted to $2,259,000, $2,341,000 and $2,090,000,
respectively. As of April 30, 2011, $8,065,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options for both plans is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.1 years.

On November 10, 2010, a majority of the holders of the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company approved an increase by
1,000,000 the number of shares reserved under the 2009 Stock Option Plan, under which the Company can issue up to 1,500,000
shares. As of April 30, 2011 there were 768,000 shares available for grant under the 2009 Stock Option Plan and the 1994 Directors
Stock Option Plan. There were no shares available under the Amended and Restated Option Plan.-An aggregate of 504,000 stock
options were awarded under both the employees’ plans and the director plan for the year ended April 30, 2011.

[17] Recent Accounting Pronouncements:

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) has issued Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) No. 2010-27, Other Expenses
(Topic 720): Fees Paid to the Federal Government by Pharmaceutical Manufacturers. This ASU provides guidance on how
pharmaceutical manufacturers should recognize and classify in their income statements fees mandated by the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act (PPACA) and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act, both enacted in March 2010, referred to as the
“Acts.” The Acts impose an annual fee on the pharmaceutical manufacturing industry for each calendar year beginning on or after
January 1, 2011. An entity’s portion of the annual fee is payable no later than September 30 of the applicable calendar year and is not
tax deductible. A portion of the-annual fee will be allocated to individual entities on the basis of the amount of their brand prescription
drug sales (including authorized generic product sales) for the preceding year as a percentage of the industry’s brand prescription drug
sales (including authorized generic product sales) forthe same period. An entity’s portion of the annual fee becomes payable to the
U.S. Treasury once a pharmaceutical manufacturing entity has a gross receipt from branded prescription drug sales to any specified
government program or in accordance with coverage under any government program for each calendar year beginning on or after
January 1, 2011. The amendments in this ASU specify that the liability for the fee should be estimated and recorded in full upon the
first qualifying sale with a corresponding deferred cost that is amortized to expense using a straight-line method of allocation unless
another method better allocates the fee over the calendar year that it is payable. The annual fee is classified as an operating expense in
the income statement. The amendments in this ASU were effective for calendar years beginning after December 31, 2010, when the
fee initially became effective. The annual impact of this fee on the Company will be highly variable depending on the volume of our
sales of authorized generics and brand products. There was no material impact of the adoption of this guidance on the consolidated
financial statements of the Company at April 30, 2011.

The FASB has issued ASU 2010-29, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Disclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma Information for
Business Combinations. The amendments in this ASU affect any public entity as defined by Topic 805, Business Combinations, that
enters into business combinations that are material on an individual or aggregate basis. The amendments in this ASU specify that if a
public entity presents comparative financial statements, the entity should disclose revenue and earnings of the combined entity as
though the business combination(s) that occurred during the current year had occurred as of the beginning of the comparable prior
annual reporting period only. The amendments also expand the supplemental pro forma disclosures to include a description of the
nature and amount of material, nonrecurring pro forma adjustments directly attributable to the business combination included in the
reported pro forma revenue and earnings. The amendments are effective prospectively for business combinations for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2010.

In December 2010, the FASB updated the accounting guidance relating to the annual goodwill impairment test. The updated guidance
requires companies to perform the second step of the impairment test to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any, when it is
more likely than not that goodwill impairment exists when the carrying amount of a reporting unit is zero or negative. In considering
whether it is more likely than not that goodwill impairment exists, an entity shall evaluate whether there are adverse qualitative
factors. The updated guidance is effective for the Company beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2012. The adoption of this guidance
is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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In June 2011, the FASB updated the disclosure requirements for comprehensive income. The updated guidance requires companies to
disclose the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive income either
in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. The updated guidance does
not affect how earnings per share is calculated or presented. The updated guidance is effective for the Company beginning in the first
quarter of fiscal year 2013. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adoption of this accounting guidance on its
consolidated financial statements.

(NOTE B) Marketable Securities:

The Company invested in auction rate securities (ARS) consisting primarily of municipal securities that were held as investments
available-for-sale. During January and February of 2008, two of the auction rate securities failed to auction due to sell orders
exceeding buy orders. Liquidity for these auction-rate securities is typically provided by an auction process that resets the applicable
interest rate at pre-determined intervals. The Company sold one of these securities at a loss of approximately $500,000 in July 2008.
This decrease in the value of the security was fully reserved for at April 30, 2008, and the corresponding expense was included in
interest income and other on the statement of operations. The remaining securities were liquidated in September 2008 at their par
value. In December 2008, the Company received a reimbursement from the dealer of the security, Bank of America, of approximately
$500,000 for the ARS sold by the Company at a loss. This amount is included in interest income and other in the Company’s
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended April 30, 2009.

On May 1, 2008, the Company adopted Statement of ASC Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures”. The adoption of
the standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position and the results of operations.

ASC Topic 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. This standard is now the single source in generally accepted
accounting principles for the.definition of fair value, except for the fair value of leased property. It establishes a fair value hierarchy
that distinguishes between (1) market participant assumptions developed based on market data obtained from independent sources
(observable inputs), (2) assumptions that are other than quoted prices which are either directly or indirectly observable for the asset or
liability through correlation with market data and (3) an entity’s own assumptions about market participant assumptions developed
based on the best information available in the circumstances (unobservable inputs). The fair value hierarchy consists of three broad
levels, which gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the
lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3).

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under ASC Topic 820 are described below:

. Level 1—Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted
assets or liabilities.

. Level 2—Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly, including quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical
or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset
or liability (e.g., interest rates); and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by
correlation or other means. ’

. Level 3—Inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable.
At April 30,2011 and 2010, the Company had no marketable securities except Neuro-HiTech described in Note F.

(NOTE C) Accounts Receivable:

At April 30, 2011 and 2010, accounts receivable balances net of returns and allowances and allowance for doubtful accounts are as
follows:

April 30,
2011 2010
ACCOUNLS TECEIVADLE, BIOSS ....ovevierireeiereeeceietetestce st sae st n et see e seesesessesesesenseneas $ 75,232,000 $ 54,374,000
Adjustment for returns and price allowances (2)........c.c.oceveevereveereereereieierecseeeesereseens (17,100,000) (14,370,000)
Allowance for doubtful aCCOUNLS...........c.ceeeiiereeiieietececee et eeas (500,000) (400,000)
AcCCOUNLS TECEIVADIC, NEL......civviiieicreicter ettt st st et e st e ese e $ 57,632,000 $ 39,604,000

(a) directly reduces gross revenue
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(NOTE D) Inventory:

The components of inventory consist of the following:

April 30,

. 2011 2010
FiniShed Z00AS. ..cuviivirciiieiiereeieerier ettt et b e ere e besre s e ernesa e b e b eesseneeseereeneoneenns $ 8,124,000 $ 7,306,000
WOTK I PIOCESS...uveuveirieuereienietertenereestessestessastessassesssesesssessessiesesssssessetessesssesesnsensonnensones 935,000 740,000
RAW MATETIALS ...eeveieiie ittt sttt ettt ertesrneearaeaseareerbesasesteeseenesnes 14,725,000 11,558,000
TOLAL ..ttt et e ae e e b s e s e et e st e e aene e s e aeer e e n e e e baresraentensetenres $ 23,784,000 $§ 19,604,000

Work in process included raw materials and components staged for use in production as well as raw materials and components for our
ECR Pharmaceuticals division which are held at a contract manufacturer for manufacturing prior to completion.

During fiscal 2011 and 2010 the Company incurred an expense of $534,000 and $865,000 to write off the value of inventory for
products for which the company suspended sales subsequent to year end due to receipt of a warning letter from the FDA. Additionally,
the Company reserved $900,000 and $223,000 on ECR’s Lodrane® and Zolpimist® inventory, respectively, for the year ended

April 30,2011.

(NOTE E) Property and Equipment:

The components of property and equipment consist of the following:

April 30,
2011 2010 Useful Lives

Land and building and improvements.............cccocvovevveeevvneeseeeeeeeseeeieeeereeeeesreenenes $ 17,453,000 $ 15,741,000 27.5 Yrs.
Machinery and €qUIPIMENL..........c.c.evuevveeeeieeeieeereeeeeee e eecee e ereeereebeessesasseseeeseeneerees 26,916,000 21,172,000 7 and 10 Yrs.
Transportation EQUIPINENL .........cccvvvreriirieierteseeieeeseseeseeseseseeseseeseeseasessessssessaseesessesas 55,000 37,000 7 Yis.
Computer equipment and SYSTEIMS .......cccceeveeruieiereereieereieeeseereeeee e eeseesesessnesseseseens 5,679,000 4,982,000 3 and 7 Yrs.
Furniture and fIXIUIES. .. .cocovrieieeeie ettt seae e e s earesebes e 1,145,000 1,057,000 7 Yrs.

51,248,000 42,989,000
Accumulated depreciation and amOTtiZation.............ceeveuvieeveieeeeeee et e 25,382,000 22,668,000
Total property and eqUIPIMENE—TNEL ........ccceeeeereririererireereeereteerresseseeessesseessesseanas $ 25,866,000 $ 20,321,000

The Company incurred depreciation expense of $2,722,000, $2,647,000 and $2,456,000 for the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010, and
2009, respectively. No depreciation is taken on land with a carrying value of $1,754,000 at April 30, 2011 and 2010.

(NOTE F) Other Assets:

Included in other assets is the Company’s investment in a limited liability company for the marketing, development and distribution of
nutritional supplements, Marco Hi-Tech JV LLC (“Marco Hi-Tech”). The investment in Marco Hi-Tech is recorded using the equity
method. During fiscal year ended April 30, 2011 a loss of $174,000 attributable to the investment in Marco Hi-Tech is included in
interest (income) and other on the statement of operations. At April 30, 2011 the carrying value of this investment was $213,000.

During fiscal year ended April 30, 2010 income of $28,000 attributable to the investment in Marco Hi-Tech is included in interest
(income) and other on the statement of operations. At April 30, 2010 the carrying value of this investment was $387,000.

The valuation of our investment in Neuro-Hitech, Inc., a marketable security to be retained by the Company valued pursuant to ASC
Topic 320, “Investments — Debt and Equity Securities”, is classified as available for sale and measured at fair value with the
adjustment to fair value and changes therein recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income. The Company wrote off the
investment in Neuro-Hitech, Inc. during the year ended April 30, 2011 based on the decline in the stock price and the limited trading
activity. The Company recognized a $250,000 loss relating to this write-off recorded in other (income) and expense.

At April 30, 2010, the Company owned 1,526,922 shares of Neuro-Hitech with a fair value of $0.01 per share, with a total value of
$15,000 which resulted in an unrealized loss of $90,000, net of deferred tax of $48,000, being included in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) as of such date.
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(NOTE G) Intangible Assets:

Acquired intangible assets consist of:

April 30, 2011 April 30, 2010
Gross Carrying Accumulated Gross Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization Amortization Period
ECR intangible assets ............ccoeerrrueren.n. $ 7,334,000 $ (1,102,000) $ 5,396,000 $  (459,000) 9-10 years
MagOx® intangible assets ..............c.c......... 4,100,000 (478,000) 4,100,000 (68,000) 10 years
Clobetasol intangible asset......................... 4,000,000 (400,000) 4,000,000 — 10 years
Zolpimist® intangible assets........................ 3,000,000 (94,000) 3,000,000 — 10 years
Zostrix ® intangible assets ..........c.cceevennnnnn. 5,354,000 (2,738,000) 5,354,000 (2,285,000) 3-11.5 years
Midlothian intangible assets ...................... 1,011,000 (224,000) 1,011,000 (157,000) 3-10 years
Vosol® and Vosol® HC intangible assets.... 700,000 (227,000) 700,000 (157,000) 10 years
Other intangible assets...........ccoveveueenneee. 1,528,000 (533,000) 1,534,000 (283,000) 2-10 years

$ 27,027,000 $ (5,796,000) $ 25,095,000 $ (3,409,000)

Intangible assets are stated at cost and amortized using the straight line method over the expected useful lives of the product rights.
Amortization expense of the intangible assets for the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $2,387,000, $1,172,000 and
$762,000, respectively. Amortization is included in selling, general and administrative expenses for all periods presented. The
Company amortizes intangible assets when the related products begin to sell. As of April 30, 2011, the Company had approximately
$245,000 of intangibles, for which the amortization period had not started yet. The Company tests for impairment of intangible assets
annually and when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable.

Business acquisitions:

On December 28, 2007, the Company acquired the assets of Midlothian Laboratories, LLC for $5 ,900,000 in an all-cash transaction,
including inventory. Under the terms of the acquisition Hi-Tech received rights to Midlothian’s current product line, consisting of
prescription nutritional supplements including pre-natal vitamins and several cough and cold formulations, and future ANDA and non-
ANDA products that were in development. Subsequent to April 30, 2011, on May 9, 2011 the Company sold certain assets of the
Midlothian Laboratories division (See Discontinued Operations). The Company incurred amortization expense of $67,000 for the
years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 related to assets retained by Hi-Tech after the divestiture of the Midlothian Laboratories
division.

On February 27, 2009 the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement with E. Claiborne Robins Company, Inc. d/b/a ECR
Pharmaceuticals, a Virginia corporation (“ECR”) to purchase substantially all of the assets and business of ECR for a purchase price
of $5,138,000 plus an earn-out. Based on the purchase agreement, $1,000,000 was paid at closing and $4,138,000 was paid within
eight months after closing. To date, the Company recorded $4,000,000 of an earn-out based on sales and gross margins. These
payments increased the ECR intangible asset balance, including $545,000 of goodwill. The Company has $498,000 accrued at

April 30, 2011 related to the earn-out, which the Company paid in May, 2011. No additional obligation exists with respect to the earn-
out.

Intangible assets with an estimated fair value of $7,334,000, including $4,000,000 from the earn-out payment, were recognized in the
acquisition of certain assets of ECR. These intangible assets, consisting of certain brand name products and intellectual property, have
estimated useful lives of 10 years. The Company incurred amortization expense of $643,000 and $403,000 for the years ended

April 30, 2011 and April 30, 2010, respectively.

Assets acquired in connection with the purchase of the assets and the business of ECR are:

Brand name and intellectual PrOPEILY ..........ccoeueuiueuierueieiireteieeeeeeesce e e eeee e s s, $ 7,334,000
ACCOUNTS TECEIVADLE, TET........cveeieieiititiit ettt eeee e e oot e e ee e e e ettt 1,263,000
INVEIEOTY ..ottt ettt et s e e e e s e e e e e ee e s e e er et e et eee e e sen, 1,035,000
Property and eqUIPMENL.............coviiurieririieriectetecee ettt e e s s e en e 104,000
OBRET BSSES.......ouiiiiteeriretee ettt ettt e et eeeee s e ases et s et e e s e s e e s e s e s e ee e 73,000
9,809,000
ASSUMEA HADILIEIES. ..ottt es e s, (322,000)
NEt @SSEE ACQUITEM ........vvieiececeirieieieice ettt esenesseeteses s s e s eaeteeeeesess s $ 9,487,000
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Product Acquisitions:

On July 12, 2005, the Company acquired an interest in Zostrix® brand products for $5,054,000 including $491,000 of closing costs.
$4,000,000 was paid at the closing and $400,000 was payable in four equal quarterly installments commencing October 1, 2005. Such
amount was paid by the fiscal year ended April 30, 2008. The Company incurred amortization expense of $423,000, $461,000 and
$468,000 for the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, in connection with the purchase of Zostrix® brand.

On February 19, 2007, the Company purchased the rights to a new Zostrix® foot care product from Rodlen Laboratories, Inc. The
purchase price for the formula was $300,000, of which $150,000 was paid upon signing and $150,000 was paid on June 19, 2007. The
Company incurred amortization expense of $30,000, $30,000 and $30,000 for the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively.

In May 2008, the Company purchased an ANDA for $200,000 from a development company. This amount is included in other
intangibles, and the intangible is being amortized over a ten year life.

In December 2008, the Company signed a supply and distribution agreement with a foreign company to be the sole U.S. distributor of
an ANDA that this company had filed with the FDA. Hi-Tech paid an upfront payment of $300,000 which is being amortized over the
life of the five year agreement. This amount is included in other intangibles.

In March 2009, the Company licensed the technology for a patented over the counter product for an upfront payment of $150,000 and
an additional payment of $150,000 paid 180 days after the agreement date. The license agreement is included in other intangibles and
is being amortized over the life of the product’s patents.

On July 16, 2009, the Company entered into an agreement with DFB Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“DFB”), the plaintiff in a lawsuit against
the Company, whereby in exchange for the payment of $2,000,000 upon signing the term sheet of the settlement agreement, the
Company obtained the right to purchase five ANDAs and/or a manufacturing facility from DFB for consideration agreed to in the
agreement. The Company signed the settlement agreement and paid $2,000,000 on July 17, 2009. On August 31, 2009 the Company
paid an additional $2,000,000 in order to obtain five ANDAs of various dosage forms of Clobetasol Propionate 0.05% including the
ointment, solution, cream, emoltion cream and gel. The Company markets and plans to subsequently manufacture these products at its
facility. The Company did not exercise the option to purchase a manufacturing facility from DFB. The Company incurred
amortization expense of $400,000 for the year ended April 30, 2011.

On November 13, 2009, Hi-Tech signed an exclusive licensing agreement between Hi-Tech’s ECR Pharmaceuticals subsidiary and
NovaDel Pharma, Inc., a drug development company, through which ECR obtained the rights to market Zolpimist® (Zolpidem Tartrate
oral spray, Smg per spray), in the United States and Canada. Under the terms of the agreement ECR paid NovaDel $3,000,000 upon
closing. In addition NovaDel will receive a royalty of up to 15% on net sales, and a one time $7,500,000 milestone payment if net
sales reach $100,000,000 in any calendar year throughout the life of the product. The Company incurred amortization expense of
$94,000 for the year ended April 30, 2011.

On March 1, 2010, the Company acquired the Mag-Ox® line of magnesium nutritional supplements from Blaine Company, Inc., a
privately held company, for $4,100,000 in an all-cash transaction. The Company paid an additional $300,000 for inventory. Under the
terms of the acquisition Hi-Tech received rights to Mag-Ox®, Maginex®, Uro-Mag® and Corban™. The brands are being sold through
the Company’s Health Care Products division. The Company incurred amortization expense of $410,000 and $68,000 for the years
ended April 30, 2011 and April 30, 2010, respectively.

The Company purchased an additional $215,000 of intangible assets during the period including a payment of $150,000 for the
Nystatin Oral Suspension ANDA.

Estimated Amortization Expense
For the year ending April 30,

2002 ittt ettt ee e ettt e be st e s bt e Rt e bt e e b e ara e s aeaasenteeanee bt easeeteestansteareeareenres $ 2,882,000
2003 ittt e et e et e beeae sheeabe e b ee A e e bt earbeart e iRt eessetaearteensesaeteesteasbesneesraenres 2,653,000
2004t e e e e et e e s e g e st e et e e st ae st e e baaaetateeabeeantee s nsesasaaenreres 2,653,000
200 ettt et e et e e e abe sttt e s be e ae e sttt ek e e e b et e e te e btnae et e e rae e teeeanaenateanrenes 2,653,000
2056ttt e s e e e bt e st e e e e e e e rae e n e s nteeenae e e nae e beaennnareabeanseees 2,618,000
B 115 21 =) U EEPUUUPRRPUPPOt 7,227,000
TOAL ...ttt ettt et e te st e st een e st e eat et s eat e sraseseessseaneeaseeas e bt eabbaeasaese e baeseenteenraennerrranee $ 20,686,000
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Discontinued Operations:

The Company divested the Midlothian Laboratories division in exchange for a cash payment of $1,700,000 in May 2011. The
Company retained marketing and distribution rights to generic buprenorphine sublingual tablets, an ANDA that is filed with the FDA
an ANDA that is in development and a royalty stream from products previously divested. Metrics, Inc, a drug development company
located in North Carolina, acquired Midlothian Laboratories from the Company.

t

At Apn’l 30, 2011, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1,296,000 in connection with the sale of the Midlothian
Laboratories division, which is included in the loss from discontinued operations. Intangible assets in the amount of $953,000 are
included in Non-current assets of discontinued operations at April 30, 2011.

The operations of the Midlothian Laboratories division have been segregated from continuing operations and are reflected as
discontinued operations in each period’s consolidated statement of operations as follows:

April 30,
2011 2010 2009
SALES.....otieiicict ettt ettt as e enens $§ 2,136,000 $ 4,352,000 $ 6,871,000
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of taX............ccouevvueenennnee. (2,265,000) (465,000) 722,000
Diluted (loss) earnings per common share from discontinued
OPETALIONS .. .eeveeieteteeeeeeeresteteet et sees e e esene e eeaaesessesneseesesesnesaeseseeesesessens $ 0.17) $ 0.04) $ 0.06
(NOTE H) Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities:
The following summarizes accrued expenses and other current liabilities:
April 30,
. 2011 2010
Accrued rebates and adVertiSing..............cceerervereeieiieei et eseesesteseesseens $ 5,274,000 $ 3,159,000
Accrued commissions and royalty PAYINENES ........ccceeeererirerereureeeereseseseeeeeeeereeseseseees 1,748,000 1,653,000
Accrued compensation and DENETIES ...........ec.evvierirereeeeeeerereeeeseseeereeeeeeeeeereereseseeseseesesas 3,826,000 2,312,000
Accrued professional and legal fees............... teent et te e e e he st et e b ekt e neetesabe st enrenteseenean 1,237,000 717,000
Accrued €arnout PAYADLE ........coeieieeeiiieeieece ettt ee et 498,000 —
OBRET .ttt et et bbbt st r et b s s seas s sttt eneeen st eeensseeeeenens 1,075,000 916,000

$ 13,658,000 $ 8,757,000

(NOTE I) Debt
Obligation under Capital Lease:
During year ended April, 30, 2009, the Company entered into capital lease agreetnents to finance part of its enterprise resource

management system. As of April 30, 2011, the Company was obligated to provide for aggregate monthly payments of approximately
$17,000 and terms expiring from June through August 2011.

The carrying value of assets under capital leases included in property and equipment are as follows:

April 30,
2011
Equipment anG SOTEWATE ........c.couvveriririeereeseteeeite et se e seb s s s e e e s see e et aeeseneeneseenas $ 506,000
Less accumulated amortization and depreciation ............ce.eveeeeeeceeuenevererersiereeeseeereeeseeeeess s eenens (180,000)
$ 326,000

Depreciation expense for equipment under capital lease for the years ended April 30, 2011 and April 30, 2010 were $72,000 and
$72,000, respectively.
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Future minimum lease payments under the terms of the capital lease agreements are as follows at April 30, 2011:

Year Ending April 30,

2012 ettt r et he et ae e ek et et be b et e s e bt s A et eRe st et e saena e et e re e e rnrebennns $ 37,000
2003 e ettt R b £ bt et e bt e r e ae s e s e e h e e e b e e e e an e ae e eaanteeaes —
Future minimum [€8S€ PAYIMENTS ........cc.ccveveeieieieereieeseriseeseseresessessessssessstessereeresneresssssesseresssanesensens 37,000
LLESS IIEETESE ..cueeeieririietiire et e et et eeee e e sie s s e be st e e saesssesesebt s e esae e e seasteseasbasbaebeesaeseasaesasanentersesessenensasss —
Future principal PAYMENLS ...........ccceeeeireeieiicieerereriereesrestestesesestssnesessasassessesessassessesassensssessesessessessesens 37,000
LSS CUITEIE POTEION ......ooeoeneveceeesise e ieesseesceses s sesessesesastsssasessasesssseenestssessesesenonossenseseaseasaseneren 37,000
Long-term obligations under capital I€aSES .........ccvvvrerrreeerreririieeniirree sttt $ 0

Revolving Credit Facility

The Company entered into a Revolving Credit Agreement, effective as of June 1, 2010, with JPMorgan Chase (the “Revolving Credit
Agreement”). The Revolving Credit Agreement permits the Company to borrow up to $10,000,000 pursuant to a revolving credit note
(“Revolving Credit Note”) for, among other things within certain sublimits, general corporate purposes, acquisitions, research and
development projects and future stock repurchase programs. Loans shall bear interest at a rate equal to, at the Company’s option, in
the case of a CB Floating Rate Loan, as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement, the Prime Rate, as defined in the Revolving
Credit Agreement; provided that, the CB Floating Rate shall never be less than the Adjusted One Month LIBOR Rate, or for a LIBOR
Loan, at a rate equal to the Adjusted LIBOR Rate plus the Applicable Margin, as such terms are defined in the Revolving Credit
Agreement. The Revolving Credit Agreement contains covenants customary for agreements of this type, including covenants relating
to a liquidity ratio, a debt service coverage ratio and a minimum consolidated net income. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit
Agreement mature on May 27, 2013,

If an event of default under the Revolving Credit Agreement shall occur and be continuing, the commitments under the Revolving
Credit Agreement may be terminated and the principal amount outstanding under the Revolving Credit Agreement, together with all
accrued unpaid interest and other amounts owing under the Revolving Credit Agreement and related loan documents, may be declared
immediately due and payable.

The Company has not drawn down on this credit facility and has no balance due at April 30, 2011.

The Company also entered into a $5,000,000 equipment financing agreement with JPMorgan Chase on June 1, 2010. This agreement
has similar interest rates. The Company has a balance of $621,000 under this loan at April 30, 2011.

The Company may not declare or pay dividends or distributions, other than dividends payable solely in capital stock, so long as the
Revolving Credit Note remains unpaid.

(NOTE J) Product Divestures:

On July 11, 2008, the Company sold the related rights to Brometane, a cough and cold product, for $3,500,000. The Company has
received royalties on net sales of the product through December 2010. The Company recognized a gain of $3,500,000 on this
transaction in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. The gain was included in Interest (income) and other on the Consolidated Statement of
Operations.

On July 3, 2009 the Company entered into an agreement whereby the Company has granted the marketing rights to certain nutritional
products previously marketed by Midlothian Laboratories division, in exchange for a series of payments totaling $1,000,000 over the
course of one year. In addition, the Company receives a royalty on the sales of these products, not to exceed $1,500,000 per year for
three years ending June 30, 2012. These products contributed approximately $600,000 and $1,600,000 in sales for the Midlothian
Laboratories division for the year ended April 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The Company recognized a gain of $1,000,000 from
this agreement in the first quarter of fiscal 2010, recorded in Interest (income) and other on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

(NOTE K) Related Party Transactions:

On May 1, 2010, the Company entered into an amended and restated executive employment agreement with David S. Seltzer pursuant
to which Mr. Seltzer is to serve as President and Chief Executive Officer, effective May 1, 2010 through April 30, 2013. Mr. Seltzer is
to receive an annual base salary of $464,565 for the period May 1, 2010 through April 30, 2011 (“Base Salary™) and for each fiscal
year thereafter during the term of the employment agreement, Mr. Seltzer will be paid a base salary equal to the sum of (a) the Base
Salary for the immediately preceding fiscal year and (b) an amount determined by multiplying the Base Salary in effect for the
immediately preceding fiscal year by five percent (5%). Mr. Seltzer may also receive a bonus during each year of employment which
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shall be approved by the Company’s Compensation Committee. Such bonus may be based on the Company meeting certain fiscal
goals and also taking into account, among other things, progress towards strategic objectives not fully measured by pre-tax net
income, the Company’s acquisitions, strategic alliances, submissions to the FDA, operational efficiencies and approval of ANDAs by
the FDA. During the term of the agreement Mr. Seltzer shall be eligible to annually receive options to purchase a minimum amount of
50,000 shares of the Company’s comumon stock. Compensation paid under the agreement for the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010,
and 2009 was $465,000, $451,000 and $442,000, respectively. Annual bonuses under the agreement were $300,000, $225,000, and $0
paid in the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Mr. Reuben Seltzer, an attorney, stockholder, director, and brother of the President, has been employed by the Company in corporate
development activities since January 1, 2009. For each of the fiscal years 2011, 2010 and 2009, he received compensation of
$378,000, $306,000, and $95,000, respectively. Annual bonuses under the agreement were $275,000, $100,000 and $0. Mr. Reuben
Seltzer was previously the CEO of Neuro-Hitech and also has an interest in the joint venture of Marco Hi-Tech as described in Note F.

In addition, in fiscal year 2011 the Company granted Mr. Reuben Seltzer an option to purchase 95,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock at an exercise price of $22.25, which vest at 25% per annum and are exercisable through 2020. The Company valued
these options at $1,097,000, which is being charged to operations over a four year term. In fiscal year 2010, the Company granted

Mr. Reuben Seltzer an option to purchase 25,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $19.59, which vest at
25% per annum and are exercisable through 2019. The Company valued these options at $252,000, which is being charged to
operations over a four year term.

The Company is jointly developing a generic product outside of its area of expertise with EMET Pharmaceuticals, LLC (“EMET”),
previously known as XCell Pharmaceuticals, and another entity. Reuben Seltzer is a principal of EMET. During the fiscal years 2011,
2010 and 2009, the Company spent approximately $127,000, $713,000 and $2,978,000, respectively, on this project, which was
included in research and development expense. :

Tashlik, Kreutzer, Goldwyn and Crandell P.C. received $397,000, $422,000, and $297,000 in legal fees in each of the years ended
April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, for services performed for the Company. Mr. Martin M. Goldwyn, a member of such
firm, is a director of the Company.

(NOTE L) Commitments, Contingencies and Other Matters:
[1] Government regulation:

The Company’s products and facilities are subject to regulation by a number of Federal and State governmental agencies. The Food
and Drug Administration (“FDA”), in particular, maintains oversight of the formulation, manufacture, distribution, packaging and
labeling of all of the Company’s products. The Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”) maintains oversight over the Company’s
products that are considered controlled substances.

On June 30, 2010, the Company received a warning letter from the FDA. The warning letter primarily dealt with the marketing of
several products that the FDA states require FDA approval and manufacturing practices related to those products. The Company
suspended sales of these products as a result of the warning letter. Sales of these products totaled approximately $5,000,000 in fiscal
year 2010. In addition, the Company incurred an expense of $534,000 and $865,000 to write off the value of the inventory used in the
manufacturing of these products in fiscal year 2011 and fiscal year 2010, respectively. The Company responded to the warning letter
and has met with FDA officials to determine how best to resolve these issues. In November, 2010, the Company was the subject of an
FDA inspection. The inspection was a follow up to the warning letter received June 30, 2010 as well as a general GMP inspection.
The Company received a Form 483, an FDA form on which deficiencies are noted after an FDA inspection, with inspector
observations. The Company responded to those observations.

On March 2, 2011, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) indicated in its MedWatch publication that the Agency removed
approximately 500 currently marketed cough/cold and allergy related products including Lodrane® products. Three of these are
currently marketed by ECR Pharmaceuticals under the brand name Lodrane®. According to the FDA press release, ECR
Pharmaceuticals must stop shipping these products within 180 days after March 2, 2011. Sales of Lodrane® products amounted to
approximately $16,600,000 and $13,100,000 for the year ended April 30, 2011 and April 30, 2010, respectively.

On July 7, 2009, the Company received a subpoena duces tecum demanding production of its business records in connection with an
investigation by the Office of the Attorney General of the State of California, Department of Justice, relating to drugs not approved by
the FDA and the potential filing of false claims with California’s Medicaid (Medi-Cal) program. The Company has responded to the
subpoena. No claims for damages have been made. The Company has been advised that this investigation has been closed.
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[2] Legal Proceedings:

On March 19, 2010 the Midlothian Laboratories Division of the Company (“Midlothian™) received a subpoena duces tecum
demanding production of Midlothian business records in connection with an investigation by the Office of Inspector General of the
United States Department of Health & Human Services relating to Medicare or Medicaid reimbursement for certain drugs. The
Company has produced documents in response to the subpoena. No claims for damages have been made. The Company has no
estimate at this time of its potential exposure and cannot, at this time, predict the outcome of this matter.

On March 5, 2010 in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California, a complaint was filed naming the
Company and several pharmaceutical and other companies as defendants under the qui tam provisions of the federal civil False
Marking Statute. A private plaintiff, San Francisco Technology Inc., is filing the civil action under the Statute on behalf of the federal
government. The complaint alleges that the Company falsely marked the packaging of a product with regard to patents that had
expired. The product was marketed by the Company’s Health Care Products Division under the Zostrix® Neuropathy brand. The
complaint alleges these actions violate the federal civil False Marking Statute. The Company was served with the complaint on
March 22, 2010. On July 19, 2010, the judge ordered that the Company be severed from the action and transferred to the Eastern
District of New York. On November 15, 2010, the Company moved to dismiss or stay the action and on December 6, 2010, the
plaintiff filed a motion in opposition to dismiss or stay the action. On February 4, 2011, the Court granted the Company’s motion to
dismiss the action. The plaintiff was also granted a 30 day leave to amend its complaint. The plaintiff filed an amended complaint on
March 8, 2011. The Company renewed its motion to dismiss or stay the action on April 14, 2011. The motion is pending. The
Company intends to defend against such allegations and believes it has meritorious defenses. The Company is in settlement
discussions with the plaintiff. The Company believes that any potential settlement payment will not be material.

On February 9, 2010, in the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts (the “Federal District Court™), a “Partial
Unsealing Order” was issued and unsealed in a civil case naming several pharmaceutical companies as defendants under the qui tam
provisions of the federal civil False Claims Act (the “Qui Tam Complaint”). The qui tam provisions permit a private person, known as
a “relator” (sometimes referred to as a “whistleblower™), to file civil actions under this statute on behalf of the federal and state
governments. Pursuant to the Order, a Revised Corrected Seventh Amended Complaint was filed by the relator and unsealed on
February 10, 2010. The relator in the Complaint is Constance A. Conrad. The Complaint alleges that several pharmaceutical
companies submitted false records or statements to the United States through the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”)
and thereby caused false claims for payments to be made through state Medicaid Reimbursement programs for unapproved or
ineffective drugs or for products that are not drugs at all. The Complaint alleges that the drugs were “New Drugs” that the FDA had
not approved and that are expressly excluded from the definition of “Covered Outpatient Drugs”, which would have rendered them
eligible for Medicaid reimbursement. The Complaint alleges these actions violate the federal civil False Claims Act. The Revised
Corrected Seventh Amended Complaint did not name the Company as a defendant.

On February 9, 2010, the Court also unsealed the “United States’ Notice of Partial Declination” in which the government determined
not to intervene against 68 named defendants, including the Company. The Notice stated that the relator has filed a Motion for
Voluntary Dismissal of 55 of the 68 named defendants. To our knowledge, the relator’s Motion for Voluntary Dismissal remains
under seal. The government’s declination Notice also stated that it had not yet made an election decision as to “certain other
defendants.”

On July 23, 2010, the relator, Constance A. Conrad, further amended the Complaint, which, as amended, includes the addition of the
Company, including a subsidiary or affiliate of the Company, as a defendant. On January 6, 2011, the Court issued an order unsealing
the government’s notice of election to intervene as to a previously unnamed defendant, and instructed the relator to file an unredacted
version of her latest amended complaint, which was to be unsealed. On January 14, 2011, the relator filed a Ninth Amended
Complaint, which was unsealed, and which includes the Company and a subsidiary of the Company. To our knowledge, at this time,
there have been no changes to the government’s Notice of Declination, other than its notice of intervention as to the previously
unnamed defendant. Should this Qui Tam action proceed, the Company intends to vigorously defend against the allegations in the
Complaint. The Company cannot predict the outcome of the action.

On June 5, 2009, Allergan, Inc. (“Allergan”) filed a complaint against the Company in the United States District Court for the Eastern
District of Texas, Civil Action No. 2:09-cv-182, in response to the Company’s Paragraph IV certifications in ANDA No. 91-086 (the
“ANDA”) alleging noninfringement or invalidity of the United States patents identified in the Orange Book on Allergan’s product,
Combigan®. In counts one and two of the complaint, Allergan alleges that the Company’s submission of the ANDA to the FDA under
Section 505(j) of the Food, Drug & Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”) to obtain approval to engage in the commercial manufacture, use or sale
of the Company’s generic Brimonidine Tartrate/Timolol Maleate Ophthalmic Solution 0.2%/0.5% product infringes U.S. Patents

No. 7,030,149 and 7,320,976. The Company believes the complaint is without merit. On July 25, 2009, the Company filed a motion to
dismiss the action based on lack of personal jurisdiction and improper venue. Allergan responded on September 8, 2009 opposing Hi-
Tech’s motion to dismiss. The Company withdrew its motion to dismiss on November 19, 2009, and on November 20, 2009, Allergan
filed an amended complaint adding a claim for infringement of U.S. Patent No. 7,323,463. The Company answered the amended
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complaint on December 10, 2009, asserting counterclaims of non-infringement and invalidity as to all asserted patents. Allergan
replied to the Company’s counterclaims on January 4, 2010. Discovery has commenced. On March 17, 2010, Allergan filed a second
complaint adding allegations of infringement of U.S. Patent No. 7,642,258. The Company answered on March 19, 2010 denying
infringement of any valid claims. The Company settled with Allergan on May 20, 2011 without incurring a liability and the case was
dismissed with prejudice on May 31, 2011.

[3] Commitments and Contingencies:

The Company’s ECR Pharmaceuticals subsidiary currently leases approximately 12,000 square feet in Richmond, VA. This lease ends
August 31, 2014.

The Company entered into two software lease obligations to partially finance a new computer system, see note .

In June 2010, the Company entered into an agreement to lease a parking lot in Amityville, NY. The Company will pay $90,000 over a
five year period.

In the course of its business, the Company enters into agreements which require the Company to make royalty payments which are
generally based on net sales or gross profits of certain products.

In connection with the acquisition of the assets of ECR Pharmaceuticals, the Company paid $2,062,000 and $1,938,000 for fiscal 2010
and 2011, respectively, for an earn-out. At April 30, 2011 $498,000 was included in accrued expenses for the ECR earn-out. No
additional obligation exists with respect to the earn-out.

Payments due by April 30,
Contractual Obligations 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Richmond, VA IS ......c.ccciivirieeneeeiireceseeieeseesesiesseesreseeneenessessssnans $ 85000 $§ 87,000 $ 88,000 $ 30,000 $ —
Software lease (principal and interest)................... SRS RRTOTOT 37,000
AMItYVIlle, NY LEESE ...vvvevererrcrrieiereeerereieieeeeneeesest s sesesens 17,000 17,000 18,000 19,000 3,000
TOtAL...ooeerieeerecreeterr ettt e e e e e e ab e e a e e b e sea b se b e saesae s b b enneeres $ 139,000 $ 104,000 $ 106,000 $ 49,000 $ 3,000

For the years ended April 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the rent expense amounted to approximately $112,000, $107,000 and $93,000,
respectively.

(NOTE M) Income Taxes:

[1] The provisidn (benefit) for income taxes from continued operations is comprised of the following:

Year Ended April 30,
2011 2010 2009

Current: ‘

FEAEIAL.....ooovieeieieecteeeeeece ettt e et st esee e st saesant b s e st e saesean e $ 22,433,000 $§ 17,093,000 $ 5,974,000

AL .. .eeveeierieietieteite st e str et e s te et e erbe st e b e ene e se e bean b e nnerareeateeat e ke e R esnrennateenren 122,000 26,000 60,000

FOTEIGN ...ttt ettt et et e s b a bbb nnans 55,000 73,000 0
Deferred:

FEACTAL.....ooeeeetietiiteeteeete ettt et st cre st esa e tesreean s e stebeesreeneneeesenesnerannenns (1,504,000) (2,682,000) (368,000)

R 7 = J OO TU P VPP PSTOPTOURTOTRRPOR (24,000) (39,000) (6,000)

TOAL ittt et ae e e s e e e et s e s e s s e aa s nb e sas e an e $ 21,082,000 $ 14,471,000 $ 5,660,000
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[2] Expected tax expense based on the statutory rate is reconciled with actual tax expense from continued operations as
follows:

Year Ended April 30,
2011 2010 2009
STAEUIOTY TALE. ....vevtevitiiseci ittt b e st ee s e e s s s s e easen 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income tax, net of federal iINCOME taX DENETI......vveveveveeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseseeeeee 0.2% 0.1% 0.4%
Research and development taX CIEAIt ..........oveueuiueiurrcereeieieeee e eeeee e ses s es e 0.5%  (0.8)% (1.1)%
IRS Section 199 tax DENELIt...........cccvuieeriireiiieiceecee ettt e e e B0 (A7D%  (1.9%
Share-based COMPENSALION EXPEINISE .........cveurrrerrreesesreristeseeeeestssseseeesseeessessesssessesesessessessssesseseeeeos 1.0% 1.2% 3.5%
ORET ...ttt et e st et e s e et ee et s sees 02)% (Q24% 2.5%
BITECHIVE TAX TALE......cvvieiiciei ettt et s e s s e s e e e s et e s e 32.5% 31.4% 38.4%

For the years ended April 30, 2011, April 30, 2010, and April 30, 2009, the Company’s state effective tax rate was reduced due
to the utilization of state investment tax credits, the utilization of net operating losses carry forwards and change in New York
law. Future effective state income tax rates may be affected by the availability of state investment tax credits.

During the year ended April 30, 2011, the Company earned tax deductions from the exercise of non-qualified options and of

options in a disqualifying disposition of approximately $1,884. As a result, the Company recorded tax benefits amounting to
$414,000 as additional paid in capital and $240,000 as a credit to income tax expense.

[3] Current and non-current deferred tax assets are composed of the following:

April 30,
2011 2010
Current deferred tax assets:
Allowances and write-offs not currently deductible for accounts receivable and
INVENLOTY ..ottt ettt s e e ne st st e et eeeeeeees e s sas s e $ 5,493,000 $ 3,144,000
Expenses not currently deductible .............ccoovevinieenieiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e ee e 53,000 1,075,000
5,546,000 4,219,000
Non-current deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Expenses not currently deductible ...............vcvcueeiviviiieeeeeeeceee e eeees e 1,861,000 1,637,000
TAX CTEAILS ...t s et s s ere e e 1,409,000 984,000
Depreciation, amortization and unrealized gain on investments.............co.covun....... (802,000) (779,000)
Valuation AlIOWANCE ........ceeveieuirirititecececececceieiete et s e eesess s e s st (1,384,000) (959,000)

$ 1,084,000 $ 883,000

The Company recorded a liability for uncertain tax positions related to research and development credits taken by the Company in the
net amount of $0 and $163,000 as of April 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

The reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefit is as follows:

Balance at APIil 30, 2010 ..ot e te oo e et es e et $ 163,000
Decrease in tax positions for prior YEars.............ceeeeecerreveeeeeeresereeeeeeenn ereeererr et baenns (163,000)
Balance at ApLil 30, 2011 .....coooiiuoieieeeiceeiee et ees e st $ 0

All tax years prior to April 30, 2008 are closed to IRS and state tax authorities audit.

At April 30, 2011 the Company has New York State investment tax credits in the amount of $1,384,000, of which $242,000 are
expiring through April 30, 2023. The Company is accounting for the investment tax credit using the flow-through method. The
Company provided a full valuation allowance on its New York State credits due to the unlikely utilization of the credits as the New

York state allocation continues to decrease. The allowance increased by approximately $425,000 during the year ended April 30,
2011.
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(NOTE N) Significant Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk:

For the year ended April 30, 2011, three customers, accounted for net sales of approximately 15%, 13%, and 11%, respectively. These
customers represented approximately 52% of the accounts receivable at April 30, 2011, For the year ended April 30, 2010, these three
customers accounted for net sales of approximately 22%, 16%, and 16%, respectively. These customers represented approximately
65% of the accounts receivable at April 30, 2010.

Cash in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Company limitations is held in certain banks.

(NOTE O) Savings Plan:

The Company has a defined contribution plan that qualifies under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code for the benefit of
substantially all full time eligible employees. Employees may contribute between 1% and 15% of their salary up to the dollar
maximum allowed by the Internal Revenue Service. Company contributions are voluntary and are made at the discretion of the Board
of Directors. The Company contributed $397,000, $366,000 and $284,000, for fiscal years 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively.
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Fiscal 2011
‘Net 5ales .o,
Gross Profit......cccevvreeeieeceevenreeereeenennen,
Income from continuing operations.......
Income (loss) from discontinued
operations, net of tax ........................

NeEt INCOME ..o r e eeeaeaen

Basic earnings (loss) per share: .............
Continuing operations ............coceeveueese..
Discontinued operations........................

Basic earnings per share........................

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:...........
Continuing operations ..........ccocevvnene..
Discontinued operations........................

Diluted earnings per share.....................

Fiscal 2010
Net SAlES ...cveeenerirrrreerieeee e
Gross Profit......c.ccocceevvereesverereeeeresernennen.
Income from continuing operations.......
Income (loss) from discontinued
operations, net of tax ........................

NEt INCOMIE ..ovveiieiieceeee e ee e

Basic earnings (loss) per share:..............
Continuing operations ..............ccevne...
Discontinued operations........................

Basic earnings per share........................

Diluted earnings (loss) per share: ..........
Continuing operations ............cecvevevene.e.
Discontinued operations........................

Diluted earnings per share.....................

Fiscal 2009
Net sales ...coccerenierinennienrnenreceeeenne,
Gross profit......ccceeeveveeceevenieeeeeeceeeen,
Income from continuing operations.......
Income (loss) from discontinued
operations, net of tax ...........c.c.u.e....

NELINCOME ... eeeeeere e

Basic earnings (loss) per share: .............
Continuing operations ..............cceveuee...
Discontinued operations.........................

Basic earnings per share........................

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:...........
Continuing operations ..............oveeeen...
Discontinued operations.........................

Diluted earnings per share.....................

(NOTE P) Quarterly Financial Results (unaudited):

Quarter

2 3 4 Year
$ 39,309,000 $ 44,656,000 $ 49,700,000 $ 57,183,000 $ 190,848,000
$ 22,543,000 $ 25,131,000 $ 28,632,000 $ 31,279,000 $ 107,585,000
8,525,000 $ 10,423,000 $ 10,796,000 $ 13,975,000 $ 43,719,000
150,000 $  (447,000) $  (658,000) $ (1,310,000) $  (2,265,000)
8,675,000 $ 9,976,000 $ 10,138,000 $ 12,665,000 $ 41,454,000
0.68 § 083 $ 085 $ 1.10 $ 3.47
0.01 $ (0.04) $ (0.05) $ (0.10) $ (0.18)
0.69 $ 079 § 0.80 $ 1.00 $ 3.29
066 $ 079 $ 084 § 1.08 $ 3.36
001 $ (0.03) $ (0.05) $ (0.10) $ (0.17)
067 § 0.76 3 079 § 098 § 3.19
$ 42,046,000 $ 40,167,000 $ 37,768,000 $ 39,358,000 $ 159,339,000
$ 26,029,000 $ 21,970,000 $ 21,976,000 $ 20,811,000 $ 90,786,000
8,734,000 $ 7,317,000 $ 8,601,000 $ 6,934,000 $ 31,586,000
(60,000) $ 81,000 $ (61,0000 $  (425,000) $ (465,000)
8,674,000 $ 7,398,000 $ 8,540,000 $ 6,509,000 $ 31,121,000
077 § 062 $ 071 §$ 056 $ 2.65
(0.01) $ 001 $ 0.01) $ (0.04) $ (0.04)
076 $ 063 §$ 070 % 052 $ 2.61
074 % 059 §$ 0.67 $ 054 $ 2.54
0.01) § 001 § — 3 0.04) $ (0.04)
073 § 0.60 $ 0.67 §$ 050 $ 2.50
14,388,000 $ 22,841,000 $ 27,457,000 $ 37,094,000 $ 101,780,000
5,112,000 $ 10,490,000 $ 12,443,000 $ 19,890,000 $ 47,935,000
1,298,000 $ 522,000 $ 1,638,000 $ 5,637,000 $ 9,095,000
202,000 $ 602,000 $ 433,000 $ (515,000) $ 722,000
1,500,000 $ 1,124,000 $ 2,071,000 $ 5,122,000 $ 9,817,000
011 §$ 005 $ 015 § 049 $ 0.80
002 §$ 005 $ 004 $ (0.04) $ 0.07
013 § 0.10 $ 0.19 §$ 045 § 0.87
011 $ 004 $ 0.14 § 049 $ 0.78
002 $ 005 $ 0.04 $ (0.05) $ 0.06
0.13 0.09 $ 0.18 § 044 $ 0.84




Earnings (loss) per common share amounts for fiscal quarters have been calculated independently and may not in the aggregate equal
the amount for the full year.

(NOTE Q) Pro Forma Financial Statements:

The results of ECR Pharmaceuticals, acquired on February 27, 2009, have been included in the statements of operations since the date
of acquisition. Unaudited pro forma results of operations for the year ended April 30, 2009 are included below. Such pro forma
information assumes that the above acquisition had occurred as of May 1, 2008, and net sales is presented in accordance with the
Company’s accounting policies. This summary is not necessarily indicative of what our results of operations would have been had
these businesses been acquired during such periods, nor does it purport to represent results of operations for any future periods.

Year Ended
April 30, 2009
(unaudited)
INEL SALES....eicveeeiceeieecee it eree et ereesreesteenbessresaneeseaebesestenseenssesasessasansaseens $ 120,206,000
NELINCOME. ... $ 11,009,000
Earnings per share—Basic............ccccooriiiniininniinniniiiicececeeecee h 0.94
Earnings per share—Diluted................cc.oooiiiiiiinniinniinicceecnenees $ 0.92

(NOTE R) Subsequent Events:

On May 9, 2011, effective May 1, 2011, the Company divested the Midlothian Laboratories division in exchange for a cash payment.
Hi-Tech retained marketing and distribution rights to generic buprenorphine sublingual tablets, an ANDA that is filed with the FDA,
an ANDA that is in development and a royalty stream from products previously divested. Metrics, Inc, a drug development company
located in North Carolina acquired Midlothian Laboratories from Hi-Tech. The divestiture of the assets of the Midlothian Laboratories
division resulted in an impairment of $1,296,000 which is included in the loss from discontinued operations on the statement of
operations at April 30, 2011.

On June 27, 2011, the Company acquired marketing and distribution rights to several branded products for the treatment of pain from
Atley Pharmaceuticals. Three of the products are approved and additional products are pending approval with the FDA. The Company
paid $3,220,000 in cash for rights to the products and inventory. The Company will pay an additional $355,000 within 180 days, less
any amount which has been offset by certain claims. The Company will pay royalties for certain of these products under a license
agreement it has assumed.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON SCHEDULE II

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.

We have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) the
consolidated financial statements of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. (the “Company”) as of April 30, 2011 and 2010 and for each of the
three years in the period ended April 30, 2011. Our audits also included the financial statement Schedule II-Valuation and Qualifying
Accounts. This schedule is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion based on our
audits.

In our opinion, the financial statement schedule referred to above, when considered in relation to the base financial statements taken as
a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

EisnerAmper LLP

New York, New York
July 8, 2011
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SCHEDULE II

HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC.
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance at Charges in
Beginning of costs and Balance at

Description Period expenses Deductions End of Period
Allowance for doubtful accounts

Year ended April 30, 2011 «e.evereeeeeeeeeereeseeeeesesere s $ 400,000 $  102,000(a) $ 2,000) $ 500,000

Year ended April 30, 2010 .....c.ooeeeereveereeeeeeeeeceee e $ 300,000 $  210,000(a) $ 110,000(b) $ 400,000

Year ended April 30, 2009 .........ccceemreerrreeeereeeeeeeeene, $ 200,000 $ 132,000(a) $ 32,000(b) $ 300,000
Accumulated depreciation

Year ended April 30, 2011 .....ccoveivereeeeeece e $ 22,668,000 $ 2,722,000 $ 8,000(c) $ 25,382,000

Year ended April 30, 2010 ......ccoevveecrevireeeeeeceee e $ 22,812,000 $ 2,647,000 $ 2,791,000(c) $ 22,668,000

Year ended April 30, 2009 ........cccoomrrreeeereeerereeee e $ 20,453,000 $ 2,456,000 $ 97,000(c) $ 22,812,000

(a) Change in reserve required
(b) Direct write-off of receivable

(c) Disposition of equipment or retirements

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE.

NONE
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the
Company’s filings with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time period specified in the SEC’s rules
and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure based on the definition of “disclosure controls and procedures” as defined in Rule 13a-15(¢) and Rule 15d-15(¢)
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™). In designing and evaluating disclosure
controls and procedures, the Company has recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated,
can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply judgment in
evaluating its controls and procedures. ‘

The evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of Company management, including its CEO and CFO,
to assess the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls and procedures (as defined under the Exchange Act).
Based on that evaluation, the Company’s management, including its CEO and CFO, concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures were effective as of April 30, 2011.

Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is
designed, under the supervision of the Company’s CEO and CFO, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The Company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (a) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of its assets; (b) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that the
Company’s receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
Company; and (c) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of its assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well
designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
GAAP.

54



The Company assessed the effectiveness of its internal controls over financial reporting as of April 30, 2011. The Company based the
evaluation on the framework in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework™ issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO) and has concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
April 30, 2011. :

EisnerAmper LLP, the Company’s auditor, has audited the Company’s financial statements included in this report on Form 10-K and,
as part of their audit, has issued their report, set forth in the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, on the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, as of April 30, 2011.

Our audit committee is comprised of three non-employee members of the board of directors, all of whom are independent from our
Company. The committee charter, which was attached to the Company’s proxy statement dated October 1, 2010, outlines the
members’ roles and responsibilities and is consistent with the recently enacted corporate reform laws and regulations. It is the audit
committee’s responsibility to appoint an independent registered public accounting firm subject to shareholder ratification, approve
both audit and non-audit services performed by the independent registered public accounting firm, and review the reports submitted by
the firm. The audit committee meets several times during the year with management, and the independent public accounting firm to
discuss audit activities, internal controls, and financial reporting matters, including reviews of our externally published financial
results. The independent registered public accounting firm has full and free access to the committee.

Continuing Improvements to Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Hi-Tech’s managemeht recognizes the importance of continued attention to improving its internal controls related to the period end
financial reporting processes. Hi-Tech continues to implement the new ERP system and processes which will allow it, over time, to
reduce its reliance on manual controls.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

No change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) occurred during
the fourth quarter of 2011, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial
reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
NONE

PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.

The Board of Directors consists of seven members. All Directors are elected at each Annual Meeting of Shareholders and hold office
until the next Annual Meeting of Shareholders when their respective successors are duly elected and qualified.

Set forth below is the name and age of each Director, his position with the Company and his principal occupation during the past five
years and the year in which each Director was first elected as a Director of the Company. Also listed below are the specific
experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that they are qualified to serve as our directors.

Elected to
Name of Director Principal Occupation and other Directorships Age the Board
David S. Seltzer David S. Seltzer has been Chairman of the Board since September 2004 and Chief 51 1992

Executive Officer and President of the Company since May 1, 1998 and a Director,
Secretary and Treasurer since February 1992. From July 1992 to May 1, 1998 Mr.
Seltzer was Executive Vice President - Administration and since July 1992, Vice
President — Administration and Chief Operating Officer of the Company since March
1992. Mr. Seltzer received a B.A. in Economics from Queens College in 1984. David S.
Seltzer is the brother of Reuben Seltzer.

Mr. Seltzer’s experience brings to the Board an understanding of financial investment,
business development, strategic planning, sales and operational management in our
industry and provides practical guidance, insight and perspective with respect to our
operations and strategy.
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Name of Director

Principal Occupation and other Directorships

Age

Elected to
the Board

Reuben Seltzer

Martin M. Goldwyn

Yashar Hirshaut, M.D.

Jack Van Hulst

Reuben Seltzer has been a Director of the Company since April 1992. Mr. Seltzer is
currently serving as an employee of to the Company in corporate development activities
since January 1, 2009. Mr. Seltzer was formerly a Vice Chairman and Director of
Neuro-HiTech Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a drug development company engaged in the
development and commercialization of products in the specialty pharmaceutical area.
Mr. Seltzer is no longer affiliated with this company as an Officer or Director. Mr.
Seltzer had been president of R.M. Realty Services Inc., a real estate investment and
consulting company from May 1988 to September 1992. From May 1983 to May 1988
Mr. Seltzer was a vice president and attorney with Merrill Lynch Hubbard Inc., a real
estate investment subsidiary of Merrill Lynch and Company. Mr. Selizer received a
B.A. in Economics from Queens College in 1978, a Juris Doctor from the Benjamin N.
Cardozo School of Law in 1981 and a L.L.M. from the New York University School of
Law in 1987. Reuben Seltzer is the brother of David Seltzer.

Mr. Seltzer’s experience brings to the Board an understanding of financial investment,
business development and strategic planning in our industry and provides practical and
legal guidance, insight and perspective with respect to our operations and strategy.

Martin M. Goldwyn was elected a Director of the Company in May 1992. Mr. Goldwyn
is a member in the law firm of Tashlik, Kreutzer, Goldwyn & Crandell P.C. Mr.
Goldwyn received a B.A. in finance from New York University in 1974 and a Juris
Doctor from New York Law School in 1977.

Mr. Goldwyn brings legal experience in the pharmaceutical field, particularly in
pharmaceutical licensing and development agreements and acquisitions which helps
provide legal and practical guidance and strategy to the Company.

Yashar Hirshaut has been a Director of the Company since September 1992. Dr.
Hirshaut is a practicing medical oncologist and is currently an Associate Clinical
Professor of Medicine at Cornell University Medical College. Since July 1986, he has
been a Research Professor of Biology at Yeshiva University. In addition, he has served
as editor-in-chief of the Professional Journal of Cancer Investigation since July 1981.
Dr. Hirshaut received a B.A. from Yeshiva University in 1959 and his medical degree
from Albert Einstein College of Medicine in 1963.

Dr. Hirshaut has decades of experience as a practicing oncologist and brings vast
pharmaceutical knowledge to the business and helps with customer viewpoints and
product ideas.

Jack Van Hulst, has been a senior executive with 42 years of domestic and global
experience in many sectors of the pharmaceutical industry. From 1999 to 2005 he was
Executive Vice President of MOV A Pharmaceutical Corporation, a contract
manufacturer in Puerto Rico with three manufacturing sites and approximately 1,700
employees. MOVA merged with the publicly held Canadian contract manufacturer
Patheon, which is the largest worldwide pharmaceutical contract manufacturer. From
1997 to 1998, he was a consultant responsible for special project implementation related
to Women’s Healthcare at Population Council. From 1993 to 1996 he was part owner,
President and Chief Executive Officer of Morton Grove Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a
manufacturer and marketer of generic liquid prescriptions and OTC pharmaceuticals
prior to its sale to William Blair Capital Partners. From 1991 to 1993 he was part
owner, President and Chief Executive Officer of Pennex Products, Inc., a manufacturer
and marketer of OTC drugs prior to its sale to Rexall-Sundown. He is a Board Member
of The International Center, New York, New York; Senesco Technologies, Inc., New
Brunswick, New Jersey (AMEX:NST); and Napopharma (LSE:NAPU). He received a
Law Degree from the University of Utrecht, The Netherlands.

Mr. Van Hulst brings decades of pharmaceutical experience, particularly in the generic
drug business, and provides valuable business development, strategic planning and
operational management insight.
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Elected to
Name of Director Principal Occupation and other Directorships Age the Board

Anthony J. Puglisi Anthony J. Puglisi was elected a Director of the Company on September 21, 2005. Mr. 62 2005
Puglisi is Chief Financial Officer of the IMI Merchandising group of IMI plc, a publicly
traded British company. Mr. Puglisi was Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
Sbarro, Inc., an owner, operator and franchisor of quick-service restaurants, from
February 2004 to April 2009. Prior to joining Sbarro, Mr. Puglisi was the Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Langer, Inc., a provider of products used to
treat muscle-skeletal disorders, from April 2002 to February 2004. Mr. Puglisi was
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Netrex Corporation from
September 2000 to October 2001 and Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of Olsten Corporation, a provider of staffing and home health care services from
1993 to March 2000. Mr. Puglisi has been a certified public accountant in New York for
over twenty-five years. He earned a B.B.A. in Accounting from Bernard Baruch
College. Mr. Puglisi is a director of CPNA International.

Mr. Puglisi brings years of experience as a Chief Financial Officer and significant
financial, accounting and business development experience to the Company.

Bruce W. Simpson Bruce W. Simpson was elected Director of the Company on September 9, 2005. 69 2005
Mr. Simpson is President and CEO of B.W. Simpson & Associates, a consulting
company that works with small emerging pharmaceuticals companies in the areas of
marketing, business development and strategic planning. Prior to founding his own
healthcare-consulting firm in 1998, from July 1998 to August 1999, Mr. Simpson was
President of Genpharm, Inc., located in Ontario, Canada, a division of E. Merck. From
1992 to July 1998, he served as President and CEO of Medeva Pharmaceuticals in
Rochester, New York. He has been affiliated with American Academy of Allergy and is
a former Director of Draxis Health Inc., Bradley Pharmaceuticals and Adams
Laboratories. Mr. Simpson holds a B.S. in Marketing from Fairleigh Dickinson
University, an M.B.A. in Marketing from the University of Hartford, and has done post-
graduate work in healthcare marketing at UCLA. Prior to entering the pharmaceutical
field, Mr. Simpson served as a Captain in the United States Marine Corps.

Mr. Simpson brings his board experience from other firms, his experience as a Chief
Executive Officer of a pharmaceutical company and years of consulting experience in
the pharmaceutical industry with an expertise in marketing which helps with both our
branded OTC and branded prescription businesses.

Executive Officers

The executive officers of the Company are set forth in the table below. All executive officers are elected at the annual meeting or
interim meetings of the Board of Directors. No arrangements or understanding exists between any executive officer and any other
person pursuant to which he was elected as an executive officer.

Name Age Position and Period Served

David S. Seltzer .........ccce.u.e. 51 Chairman of the Board since September 2004, Chief Executive Officer and President of the
Company since May 1, 1998 and a Director, Secretary and Treasurer since February 1992.
Mr. Seltzer served as Executive Vice President of Administration until February 1992.

William Peters.........cccocvueeneene 43 Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company since May 2004.

Gary M. April ....ccccoovvieienneens 54 President of Health Care Products Division since May 1998 and Divisional Vice President of
Sales since January 1993.

Davis S. Caskey .....c.coceeveeueene 63 Vice President, Pharmaceutical Operations ECR Pharmaceuticals since February 2009. Mr.

Caskey was Vice President of E. Claiborne Robins Company, Inc. d/b/a ECR Pharmaceutical,
from 1992 to February 27, 2009.

Kamel Egbaria ..........cccc....... 53 Executive Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer since April 2010. From 2003 to 2009, Mr.
Egbaria was the Chief Scientific Officer and Vice President of Research and Development for
Qualitest Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Reuben Seltzer..........oce....... 55 Vice Chairman since November 2010. Director since 1992.
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Significant Employees

Name Age Position and Period Served

Tanya Akimova, Ph.D........... 57 Vice President of Strategic Planning and Product Development since October 2009, Senior
Director, Strategic Planning and Product Development since November 2008 and Director of
New Business Development since October 2000.

Edwin A. Berrios .................. 58 Vice President of Sales and Marketing since November 2000.

Joanne Cutti.......cccoeerverennnene. 70 Director of Regulatory Affairs since January 1992.

Polireddy Dondeti, Ph.D....... 46 Vice President of Research and Development since October 2008 and Senior Director of
Research and Development since October 2003,

Jesse Kirsh .....cooovevveveieenennne 52 Vice President of Quality since October 2006 and Senior Director of Quality Assurance since
March 1994

Christopher LoSardo............. 45 Vice President of Corporate Development since October 2005.

Eyal Mares.........ccccoceceeenrnene. 48 Vice President, Operations since October 2006. From 2004 to 2006, Mr. Mares was Vice
President, Operations for Perrigo New York, a division of Perrigo Company.

Pudpong Poolsuk .................. 67 Senior Director of Science since May 2000.

Steven Roth........cccccecernnnnnns 51 Associate General Counsel since June 2011.

Margaret Santorufo............... 45 Vice President and Controller since May 2004.

James P. Tracy ......ccccovveviennnns 67 Vice President of Information Technology since August 2004.

Audit Committee

We have a separately-designated standing Audit Committee established in accordance with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The members of the Audit Committee are Anthony J. Puglisi,

Yashar Hirshaut M.D., and Jack Van Hulst, and each member is independent as such term is defined under the rules promulgated by
the NASDAQ listing standards.

Audit Committee Financial Expert

The Board of Directors of the Company has determined that Anthony J. Puglisi is an audit committee financial expert as defined by
Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regulation S-K of the Exchange Act and is independent within the listing standards set forth by the NASDAQ.

Nominating Committee

The Nominating Committee is responsible for identifying and evaluating nominees for director and for recommending to the Board a
slate of nominees for election at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders in accordance with the Nominating Committee’s charter. The
Nominating Committee is comprised of Jack Van Hulst, Anthony J. Puglisi and Bruce W. Simpson. They are non-management
directors who are “independent” as defined under the rules promulgated by the NASDAQ listing standards.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a code of ethics for our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer,
controller, persons performing similar functions, as well as directors and employees. We will provide a copy of our Code of Ethics
(“Code”) to any person, without charge, upon request to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc., Attention: Investors Relations, 369 Bayview
Avenue, Amityville, NY 11701, (631) 789-8228. If we make any substantive amendments to the Code or grant any waiver, including
any implicit waiver, from a provision of the Code to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting
officer or controller or persons performing similar functions, we will disclose the nature of such amendment or waiver on our website
or in a report on Form 8-K in accordance with applicable rules and regulations.

Board Leadership

The CEO and senior executive officers are selected by the Board based upon recommendations from the Company’s management and
Board of Directors. The Board determines whether the role of Chairman and CEO should be separate or combined based upon its
judgment as to the most appropriate structure for the Company at a given point in time. David S. Seltzer has served as our Chairman
of the Board since 2004 and CEO since 1998. Based on its most recent review of the Company’s Board leadership structure and
continued strong performance of the business, the Board has determined that this structure is optimal for the Company, because it
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provides our Company with strong and consistent leadership and leverages Mr. Seltzer’s extensive knowledge of our pharmaceutical
business and competitive environment with the strategic oversight role of the Board. Given the current challenging regulatory and
market environment, and the need to execute our ongoing strategic plans, the Board believes that having one person serving as both
the Chairman and CEO provides clear, decisive, and effective leadership.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires the Company’s Directors and Executive Officers and persons who own
more than ten percent of a registered class of the Company’s equity securities to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission
initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of Common Stock and other equity securities of the Company.
Officers, Directors and greater than ten percent shareholders are required by Securities and Exchange Commission regulation to
furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) reports they file. The Company believes that all Section 16(a) filing
requirements were met during fiscal 2011 except for one transaction for each of Mr. Bryce Harvey and Dr. Kamel Egbaria.

Mr. Harvey’s transaction involved the exercise of stock options and sale of shares; Dr. Egbaria’s transaction involved the grant of
stock options. The filings were late filings. In making this statement, the Company has relied on the written representations of its
incumbent directors and officers and copies of the reports that they have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and
NASDAQ.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The following tables and paragraphs provide information concerning compensation paid for the last three fiscal years to our Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and three other most highly compensated senior executive officers (each, a “Named
Executive Officer”) earning in excess of $100,000 in total compensation as defined in Regulation S-K, subpart 229.402(a)(3),
including compensation discussion and analysis, summary compensation table, grants of plan-based awards, outstanding equity
awards, employment agreements, potential payments upon termination or change in control, compensation of directors, compensation
committee report and compensation committee interlocks.

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis provides a narrative describing how compensation for our named executive officers is
established and should be read in conjunction with the compensation tables and related narrative descriptions set forth below.

Objectives and Philosophy of Our Executive Compensation Program

Our mission is to be a significant provider of quality products in the markets we serve. To support this and other strategic objectives as
approved by the Board of Directors and to provide adequate returns to shareholders, we must compete for, attract, develop, motivate,
and retain top quality executive talent at the corporate office and operating business units during periods of both favorable and
unfavorable business conditions.

Our executive compensation program is a critical management tool in achieving this goal. “Pay for performance” is the underlying
philosophy for our executive compensation program. Consistent with this philosophy, the program has been carefully conceived and is
independently administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, which is comprised entirely of non-employee
directors.
The program is designed and administered to:

. reward individual and team achievements that contribute to the attainment of our business goals; and

. provide a balance of total compensation opportunities, including salary, bonus, and longer-term cash and equity

incentives, that are competitive with similarly situated companies and reflective of our performance.

In seeking to link executive pay to corporate performance, the Compensation Committee believes that the most appropriate measure of
corporate performance is the increase in long-term shareholder value, which involves improving such quantitative performance
measures as revenue, net income, cash flow, operating margins, earnings per share, and return on shareholders’ equity. The
Compensation Committee may also consider qualitative corporate and individual factors which it believes bear on increasing our long-
term value to our shareholders. These include:

. the development of competitive advantages

+  successful filing of ANDAs

. successful approval of ANDAs

. success in developing business strategies and managing costs

. execution of divestitures, acquisitions, and strategic partnerships

59



. implementation of operating efficiencies

. the general performance of individual job responsibilities

The Compensation Committee reviews compensation practices of other pharmaceutical organizations of like size and structure in
order to assess our competitiveness. The Company subscribes to Equilar, Inc.’s on-line database of executive and director
compensation, which is drawn directly from SEC filings. In 2011, the Compensation Committee used this database to benchmark the
Company’s executive compensation. The following companies were used as the peer group: Akorn, Alkermes Inc., Biomarin
Pharmaceuticals Inc., Caraco Pharmaceutical Laboratories, Impax Laboratories, Inspire Pharmaceuticals, Isis Pharmaceuticals,
Lannett, Pain Therapeutics, PDI, Pozen, Salix Pharmaceuticals and Sciclone Pharmaceuticals. Benchmarked items include salary,
bonus, equity compensation, deferred compensation, other compensation and total compensation. This data is used to ensure that the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company are paid within the 25th to 75th percentile range. The Company
believes that this is the appropriate range to target salaries so that they can be competitive.

Components of our Executive Compensation Program
The primary elements of our executive compensation program are:

. base salary

. annual cash incentive bonus
. a long-term incentive represented by stock options
. insurance, 401(k) plan and other employee benefits

The Company does not have a formal or informal policy or target for allocating compensation between long-term and short-term
compensation, between cash and non-cash compensation or among different forms of non-cash compensation. Instead, the
Compensation Committee, after reviewing information provided by management, determines subjectively what it believes to be the
appropriate level and mix of the various compensation components.

Base Salary. Base salary is used to recognize the experience, skills, knowledge and responsibilities required of all our employees,
including our executives. In determining the amount of compensation to be paid to our executive officers, the Compensation
Committee adheres to compensation policies pursuant to which executive compensation is determined. Base salary determinants
include the prevailing rate of compensation for positions of like responsibility in the particular geographic area, the level of the
executive’s compensation in relation to our other executives with the same, more, or less responsibilities, and the tenure of the
individual.

Minimum base salaries are mandated by our employment agreements for Mr. David Seltzer, Mr. William Peters, Mr. Reuben Seltzer,
Dr. Kamel Egbaria and Mr. Davis Caskey.

Base salaries are reviewed annually or when employment contracts expire by our Compensation Committee, and are adjusted from
time to time to realign salaries with market levels after taking into account individual responsibilities, performance and experience.

Annual Cash Incentive Bonus. The Compensation Committee has the authority to award annual bonuses to individual senior
executives on a discretionary basis. The Committee believes that the bonus plan promotes the Company’s performance-based
compensation philosophy by providing executives with direct financial incentives in the form of annual cash bonuses for
achievements accomplished throughout the fiscal year.

The Compensation Committee considers various factors in determining, in its discretion, the bonuses to be awarded to its Named
Executive Officers. The Compensation Committee does not utilize a formal written compensation plan or specific formula for the
determination of bonuses to its CEO and CFO. Nor does it employ specific financial goals other than those listed below.

In the case of Mr. David Seltzer, the Compensation Committee determines Mr. Seltzer’s bonus based on:

. growing the Company’s revenues
. achieving pre-tax net income

. completing acquisitions

. forming strategic alliances

,® submitting ANDAs to the FDA
. gaining FDA approval of ANDAs
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. operating within the compliance parameters required by federal and state governmental regulatory agencies
. achieving operational efficiencies
The Compensation Committee has awarded Mr. Seltzer a bonus for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2010 in the amount of $300,000.

Mr. Seltzer’s bonus was awarded for increasing the Company’s revenues by 51%, increasing EPS by 198%, and acquiring the Mag-
Ox® brand for the Health Care Products division.

In the case of Mr. William Peters, the Compensation Committee determined Mr. Peters’ bonus based on performance as well as his
accomplishments. Factors considered included:

. valuation analyses for potential acquisition candidatés

. helping value, negotiate and integrate the Mag-Ox® acquisition

. accomplishments related to his responsibilities as head of human resources, specifically implementing an affirmative
action plan :

. financing activities, including negotiating a line of credit, investor relations and other financings

. operating within the compliance parameters required by federal and state governmental regulatory agencies

. identifying cost savings and reducing overhead and SG&A costs of target areas

The Compensation Committee has awarded Mr. Peters a bonus for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2010 in the amount of $150,000.
Mr. Peters’ bonus was awarded for increasing the Company’s revenues by 51%, increasing EPS by 198%, negotiating operating cost
savings and helping value, negotiate and integrate the Mag-Ox® acquisition.

In the Case of Mr. Reuben Seltzer, the Compensation Committee determined Mr. Seltzer’s bonus based on performance as well as his
accomplishments. Factors considered included:

. his corporate development activities which resulted in the licensing of Zolpimist® oral spray
. his corporate development activities on potential generic acquisition candidates
. the performance of ECR

. the royalty stream from Naprelan®

The Compensation Committee has awarded Mr. Seltzer a bonus for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2010 in the amount of $275,000
based on the factors listed above.

Bonus payments to Dr. Egbaria and Mr. Caskey are based on formulas tied to the performance of their respective divisions.

Dr. Egbaria’s employment agreement specifies that he is entitled to (i) a $5,000 bonus for each Abbreviated New Drug Application
(“ANDA”) submitted under his supervision and accepted for filing by the Federal Drug Administration (“FDA”); (ii) a $10,000 bonus
for each ANDA that is submitted under his supervision and approved by the FDA; (iii) a $5,000 bonus for each ANDA that is, as of
April 26, 2010, pending with the FDA for at least twelve (12) months and which is approved by the FDA; (iv) a $10,000 bonus for
each ANDA that is, as of April 26, 2010, pending with the FDA for less than twelve (12) months and which is approved by the FDA;
and (v) he is entitled to participate in the Corporation’s executive bonus pool. Dr. Egbaria is entitled to only one bonus for each
ANDA approved by the FDA. The bonuses payable above shall not, in the aggregate, exceed 50% of Dr. Egbaria’s salary for the year
in which such bonuses are payable. Because Dr. Egbaria was not employed untit April 26, 2010, no bonus has been earned by him or
paid to him as of April 30, 2010. In fiscal 2011, Dr. Egbaria was paid a bonus of $50,000 as payment on the bonus to be paid in fiscal
2012. Dr. Egbaria earned a bonus of $25,000 based on ANDA approvals in fiscal 2011. He received an aggregate bonus of $150,000
based on his contributions to the Company in the areas of research and development, regulatory oversight and validation.

Mr. Caskey’s employment agreement specifies that a bonus will be calculated based on the sum of (i) 2.5% of the first $3,500,000 of
ECR Pharmaceuticals Co., Inc.’s pre-tax net income; and (ii) 4% of ECR Pharmaceuticals Co., Inc.’s pre-tax net income in excess of
$3,500,000. Mr. Caskey earned a bonus of $157,000 in fiscal 2011 which will be paid in fiscal 2012.

Stock Options. The long-term component of our executive compensation program consists of stock options. We believe that equity
grants provide our executives with a strong link to our long-term performance, create an ownership culture and help to align the
interest of our executives and our shareholders. Stock options are granted upon the recommendation of management and approval of
the Compensation Committee based upon their subjective evaluation of the appropriate amount for the level and amount of
responsibility of each executive officer. Factors entering into this process include company-level performance, the individual
executive’s performance, the amount of equity previously awarded to the executive and the vesting of such awards.
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The Compensation Committee reviews all components of the executive’s compensation when determining annual equity awards to
ensure that an executive’s total compensation conforms to our overall philosophy and objectives.

The options generally permit the option holder to buy the number of shares of the underlying common stock (an option exercise) at a
price equal to the market price of the common stock at the time of grant. Thus, the options generally gain value only to the extent the
stock price exceeds the option exercise price during the term of the option. Generally, the options vest over a period of four years, with
25% vesting upon the first anniversary of the date of grant and 25% on each anniversary thereafter, and expire no later than ten years
after grant.

Equity awards are typically granted to our executives annually in conjunction with the review of their individual performance. We set
the exercise price of all stock options to equal the closing price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Stock Market on the day of the
grant.

Benefits and Other Compensation. We maintain broad-based benefits that are provided to all employees, including health and dental
insurance, and a 401(k) plan. Executive officers are eligible to participate in all of our employee benefit plans, at no cost. The
Company matches 50% on the first 6% of the contributions to the 401 (k) plan for all employees up to the federal maximum amount
allowable.

Mr. David Seltzer, Mr. Reuben Seltzer and Mr. William Peters received $9,000, $8,000 and $6,000, respectively, for automobile
reimbursements. These amounts were reported as taxable income.

Severance and Change-in-Control Benefits. Pursuant to employment agreements we have entered into with certain of our executives
and our 2009 Stock Option and our Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan (the “Stock Option Plans”), our executives are entitled
to specified benefits in the event of the termination of their employment under specified circumstances, including termination
following a change in control of our Company. We have provided more detailed information about these benefits, along with
estimates of their value under various circumstances, under the caption “Potential Payments upon Termination of Employment or
Change-in-Control” below.

We believe providing these benefits help us compete for executive talent. We believe that our severance and change-in-control
benefits are generally in line with severance packages offered to executives by other companies.

Tax Considerations

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code prohibits us from deducting any compensation in excess of $1 million paid to certain of
our executive officers, except to the extent that such compensation is paid pursuant to a shareholder approved plan upon the
attainment of specified performance objectives. The Compensation Committee believes that tax deductibility is an important factor,
but not the sole factor, to be considered in setting executive compensation policy. Accordingly, the Compensation Committee
periodically reviews the potential consequences of Section 162(m) and generally intends to take such reasonable steps as are required
to avoid the loss of a tax deduction due to Section 162(m). However, the Compensation Committee may, in its judgment, authorize
compensation payments that do not comply with the exemptions in Section 162(m) when it believes that such payments are
appropriate to attract and retain executive talent.
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table summarizes the compensation of the Named Executive Officers for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2011. The
Named Executive Officers are the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Vice Chairman, Chief Scientific
Officer, and ECR Pharmaceuticals Co., Inc.’s Vice President of Pharmaceutical Operations.

Options Oflﬂer
Salary Bonus Awards Compensation Total
Name and Principal Position Year Q) 3$)Q2) #HE) )4 (€3]
David S. SEltZer ..ccueeeveeiieeiceeeeeeeeee e 2011 465,000 300,000 578,000 24,000 1,367,000
President, Chief Executive Officer ...........cccovennee...., 2010 451,000 225,000 504,000 24,000 1,204,000
Secretary, and Treasurer ..........ccccececeeeenvnvencenreeceennan, 2009 442,000 0 139,000 22,000 603,000
William J. Peters .....ccovvevvrvcererierieeeeeeceecere e, 2011 295,000 150,000 347,000 20,000 812,000
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer............... 2010 278,000 100,000 252,000 20,000 650,000
2009 251,000 45,000 69,000 19,000 384,000
Reuben SeltZer.....ccocvvvvveeeceieeieeieeeeeeeeeeeeeian 2011 378,000 275,000 1,097,000 8,000 1,758,000
Vice Chairman .........cceeeveeeeneienieneiie e 2010 306,000 100,000 252,000 8,000 666,000
2009 95,000 0 113,000 0 208,000
Kamel Egbaria (5)...c.cccceveneevienenininerieseseseeeeenen, 2011 350,000 0 539,000 108,000 997,000
Executive Vice President, and Chief Scientific
OFfICOT oottt 2010 3,000 0 478,000 50,000 531,000
Davis S. Caskey (6) .coceevvevevievieriecieeneereneereere v, 2011 173,000 139,000 58,000 5,000 375,000
ECR Pharmaceuticals Co., INCe,.vuvvvvereererre e, 2010 168,000 0 50,000 5,000 223,000
Vice President of Pharmaceutical Operations ) 2010 27,000 0 12,000 1,000 40,000

(1) Represents base salary through April 30, 2011.
(2) Bonuses represent payments made during the fiscal year, not the bonus earned during the fiscal year.

(3) Represents the fair value of options granted on the grant date in accordance with ASC Topic 718, “Compensation — Stock
Compensation”.

(4) Represents the matching contributions to the Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Employee Savings Plan and /or the dollar value of the
premium paid by the Company for term life insurance for the benefit of the Named Executive Officer and automobile
reimbursement that were reported as taxable income. Dr Egbaria’s other compensation also includes a $50,000 signing bonus in
2010, $65,000 of relocation expense in 2011 and $35,000 of rent allowance in 2011.

(5) Dr. Egbaria was hired by Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. in April 2010.

(6) Mr. Caskey has been employed at Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. since the assets of ECR Pharmaceuticals were acquired on

February 27, 2009.
Grants of Plan-Based Awards
All Other Option Grant Date
Awards: Number Exercise or Fair Value
of Securities Base Price of of Stock

Underlying Option Awards and Options

Name Grant Date Options (#)(1) ($/Sh)(2) Awards (3)
David S. SEIZET ...oocveeeieeeeeeeeeeeeete ettt e, 11/10/10 50,000 22.25 578,000
President, Chief Executive Officer .........cocovroeeieicicieeceeereeiean 11/12/09 50,000 19.59 504,000
Secretary, and TTEASUIET ........cccceverreeeieiereeeeeete e steetee e e eveesaenis 11/13/08 50,000 5.83 139,000
William J. PeLerS ....uvvrriveriiecieeceeectee ettt e 11/10/10 30,000 22.25 347,000
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer............coooevvevvevvivveneennes. 11/12/09 25,000 19.59 252,000
11/13/08 25,000 5.83 69,000
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All Other Option Grant Date
Awards: Number Exercise or Fair Value
of Securities Base Price of of Stock

Underlying Option Awards and Options

Name Grant Date Options (#)(1) ($/Sh)(2) Awards (3)
Reuben SEltZer......cccvviiiiirieciiiiecrcee ettt s s, 11/10/10 95,000 22.25 1,097,000
Vice CHAITMAN ....vevievrererriirierneieeriiseecsestessassessessessessessesssessassassesses. 11/12/09 25,000 19.59 252,000
11/13/08 25,000 5.83 69,000
9/12/08 25,000 9.70 44,000
Kamel EGDaria .....c.ceovevirieriecieiieniiniesirieneseeeseseseresssesnesseseessaneas 4/26/11 40,000 27.17 539,000
Executive Vice President, and Chief Scientific Officer 4/26/10 40,000 23.10 478,000
Davis S. CaSKEY ....eevvrrericrerrireisie ettt eteeee e e s care e seeneneee. 11/10/10 5,000 22.25 58,000
ECR Pharmaceuticals Co., INC....cevvuviveieiiecicceeee e, 11/12/09 5,000 19.59 50,000
Vice President of Pharmaceutical Operations............ccccveceeeervencne 2/27/09 5,000 5.17 12,000

(1) The amounts set forth in this column reflect the number of stock options granted under our 2009 Stock Option Plan and our
Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan. The options vest at the rate of 25% per year starting on the first anniversary of the

grant and expire in 10 years from the date of grant.

(2) The exercise price equals the closing price of our common stock on the date of grant.

(3) The dollar values of stock options disclosed in this column are equal to the aggregate grant date fair value computed in
accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718, “Compensation — Stock
Compensation”. See note A[16] of the consolidated financial statements, except no assumptions for forfeitures were included.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

Option Awards
Number of Number of
Securities Securities
Underlying Underlying
Unexercised Unexercised
Options (#) Options (#) Option Exercise Option
Name Exercisable Unexercisable Price ($) Expiration Date
David S. Seltzer
President, Chief Executive Officer, 112,500 — 3 3.84 11/15/11
Secretary, and Treasurer 112,500 —  § 11.56 1/14/13
75,000 — 5 14.99 12/4/13
75,000 —  § 12.05 2/1/15
50,000 — 3 23.98 3/8/16
50,000 - — 3 10.68 2/2/17
37,500 12,500 $ 10.68 1/29/18
25,000 25,000 $ 5.83 11/13/18
12,500 37,500 $ 19.59 11/12/19
— 50,000 $ 22.25 11/10/20
William J. Peters
Vice President and 4,983 — 19.95 9/9/13
Chief Financial Officer 18,750 — 3 18.87 8/1/15
6,250 — 3 15.09 8/9/16
6,250 — 3 10.68 2/2/17
12,500 6,250 § 10.68 1/29/18
6,250 12,500 $ 5.83 11/13/18
6,250 18,750 $ 19.59 11/12/19
— 30,000 $ 22.25 11/10/20
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Option Awards

Number of Number of
Securities Securities
Underlying Underlying
Unexercised Unexercised
Options (#) Options (#) Option Exercise Option
Name | Exercisable Unexercisable Price ($) Expiration Date
Reuben Seltzer
Vice Chairman 11,250 — 3 429 10/26/11
56,250 — 3 3.84 11/15/11
11,250 — 3 8.31 12/5/12
11,250 — 5 13.50 11/28/13
11,250 — & 10.93 11/15/14
11,250 — 3 24 .95 11/8/15
11,250 — 3 14.99 11/9/16
8,438 2,812 § 9.65 11/15/17
12,500 12,500 $ 9.70 9/12/18
12,500 12,500 $ 5.83 11/13/18
6,250 18,750 § 19.59 11/12/19
— 95,000 $ 22.25 11/10/20
Kamel Egbaria 10,000 30,000 $ 23.10 4/26/20
o Executive Vice President, and Chief Scientific Officer — 40,000 § 27.17 4/26/21
RS Davis S. Caskey 2,500 2,500 $ 5.17 2/27/19
o ECR Pharmaceuticals Co., Inc., Vice President of 1,250 3,750 $ 19.59 11/12/19
Pharmaceutical Operations — 5,000 § 22.25 11/10/20
Options Exercises and Stock Vested
Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Shares Number of Shares
Acquired on Value Realized on Acquired on Value Realized
Name Exercise (#) Exercise ($) © Vesting (#) on Vesting (3)
David S. SEIZEr ...ccveeeeeeieeieeeeeteeceeeeeecee et
President, Chief Executive Officer, ......ocevoerecveeeeeernerenn
Secretary, and TTEASUTET .......cccocvveveeeeeceecreeere e, 0 0 0 0
William J. PeLerS ......cocvvvvirernieeeecre et e,
Vice President and .........ccceeveeieevrenriieneeneeneeececcie s,
Chief Financial OffiCer.......ccooevevvivreieerinririnieseerenenenns 0 0 0 0
Reuben SEItZer ......oocvvvriverieerit et s,
Vice Chalrman ........c.coceevuveciviiecieeiiseeseeeeeeeeeesee e e e e 0 0 0 0
Kamel EgDaria .......cccocecevrevirnriesinineseeeeeeeeevevevevenens
Executive Vice President, and Chief............ccccvvvevveeennn,
Scientific OffiCer......oivieiiiveiieicrecrcce e 0 0 0 0
Davis S. Caskey ....ccccoeverinirieeieiecesteecre e
ECR Pharmaceuticals Co., INC......coccveeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeseeans
Vice President of Pharmaceutical .............occeveverervnenenne..
OPEIationS.......covrviiiiiiitt ittt 0 0 0 0

The Company does not maintain a pension plan, or nonqualified deferred contribution or other nonqualified deferred compensation

plans.
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Employment Agreements
We have employment agreements with each of our Named Executive Officers.

David S. Seltzer — Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Executive Officer, Secretary and Treasurer

David S. Seltzer serves as Chairman of the Board since Bernard Seltzer retired the position in September, 2004. David S. Seltzer was
elected to serve as President and Chief Executive Officer effective May 1, 1998. On May 1, 2010, the Company entered into an
amended and restated executive employment agreement with David S. Seltzer pursuant to which Mr. Seltzer is to serve as President
and Chief Executive Officer, effective May 1, 2010 through April 30, 2013. Mr. Seltzer received an annual base salary of $451,000
for the period May 1, 2009 through April 30, 2010 (“Base Salary”) and for each fiscal year thereafter during the term of the
employment agreement, Mr. Seltzer will be paid a base salary equal to the sum of (a) the Base Salary for the immediately preceding
fiscal year and (b) an amount determined by multiplying the Base Salary in effect for the immediately preceding fiscal year by five
(5%) percent. Mr. Seltzer may also receive a bonus during each year of employment which shall be approved by the Company’s
Compensation Committee. Such bonus may be based on the Company meeting certain fiscal goals and also taking into account,
among other things, progress towards strategic objectives not fully measured by pre-tax net income, the Company’s acquisitions,
strategic alliances, submissions to the FDA, operational efficiencies and approval of ANDAs by the FDA. During the term of the
agreement Mr. Seltzer will be eligible to receive annually options to purchase a minimum amount of 50,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock. The amended and restated employment agreement contains standard confidentiality provisions and indemnification
provisions.

William Peters — Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

On June 23, 2009, the Company and Mr. Peters, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, entered into Amendment No. 2 to Mr. Peters’
employment agreement. The'amendment, effective as of June 23, 2009, extends the term of Mr. Peters’ employment until July 31,
2011. The term is automatically renewed for successive one (1) year terms unless terminated (i) by the Company upon six (6) months
advance written notice to Mr. Peters, (ii) by Mr. Peters upon sixty (60) days advance written notice to the Company, or (iii) unless
terminated in accordance with the provisions of Section 5 of the agreement. The amendment provides that Mr. Peters will receive as
compensation for his services an annual salary equal to $280,000 for the period August 1, 2009 through July 31, 2010 and $300,000
for the period August 1, 2010 through July 31, 2011.

The agreement provides for annual bonuses to be determined in accordance with performance goals set by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors and the President of the Company. In the event of a termination upon total disability, the
Company will pay to Mr. Peters the salary which would otherwise be payable to him during the continuance of such disability.

Reuben Seltzer — Vice Chairman

On November 10, 2010 the Company and Mr. Reuben Seltzer entered into to an Employment Agreement (the “Agreement”), effective
as of September 13, 2010, which provides for a term of employment until April 30, 2013. The term is automatically renewed for
successive one (1) year terms unless terminated (i) by the Company upon six (6) months advance written notice to Mr. Seltzer, (ii) by
Mr. Seltzer upon thirty (30) days advance written notice to the Company, or (iii) unless terminated in accordance with the provisions
of Section 5 of the Agreement. The Agreement provides that he will receive as compensation for his services an annual salary equal to
$425,000 for the period September 13, 2010 through April 30, 2011 and for each fiscal year thereafter during the term of the
Agreement, Mr. Seltzer will be paid a base salary equal to the sum of (a) the Base Salary for the immediately preceding fiscal year and
(b) an amount determined by multiplying the Base Salary in effect for the immediately preceding fiscal year by five (5%) percent. Mr.
Seltzer may also receive a bonus during each year of employment which shall be determined in accordance with performance goals set
by the Company’s Compensation Committee in its sole discretion. The bonus may be based on, among other things, Mr. Seltzer’s
development and implementation of strategic objectives, acquisitions, product development, strategic alliances, including but not
limited to, licensing arrangements and joint ventures, financings and strategic divestitures. Mr. Seltzer received options to purchase
45,000 shares of the Company’s common stock on November 10, 2010 with an exercise price equal to the closing price as of the close
of business on such date. In addition, he received and will be eligible annually to receive options to purchase a minimum amount of
50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, in accordance with the terms of the Company’s 2009 Stock Option Plan.

Dr, Kamel Egbaria — Chief Scientific Officer and Executive Vice President

On April 26, 2010, the Company and Dr. Kamel Egbaria entered into an employment agreement (the “Egbaria Agreement”) pursuant
to which Dr. Egbaria is to serve as Chief Scientific Officer and Executive Vice President of the Company. The term of the Egbaria
Agreement is until April 26, 2013, unless earlier terminated pursuant to the provisions of the Egbaria Agreement. Dr. Egbaria is to
receive as compensation for his services an annual base salary of $350,000. Upon each anniversary of April 26, 2010 during the term
of the Egbaria Agreement, Dr. Egbaria’s salary will be increased by 5%. Dr. Egbaria will be entitled to receive certain bonuses upon
the submission with the FDA of Abbreviated New Drug Applications and further bonuses upon the approval by the FDA of same.
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Dr. Egbaria shall also be entitled to participate in the Company’s executive bonus pool. Dr. Egbaria received on April 26, 2011 and
2010, respectively, and upon each anniversary thereof, subject to approval by the Company’s Compensation Committee, an option to
purchase 40,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, subject to the Company’s 2009 Stock Option Plan.

Davis S. Caskey — Vice President, Pharmaceutical Operations of ECR Pharmaceuticals Co., Inc.

On February 27, 2009 the Company and Mr. Davis S. Caskey entered into an employment agreement (the “Caskey Agreement”).

Mr. Caskey serves as Vice President, Pharmaceutical Operations of the Company’s subsidiary, ECR Pharmaceuticals Co., Inc.
(“Subsidiary”). The term of the Caskey Agreement is until February 28, 2011 unless earlier terminated pursuant to the provisions of
the Caskey Agreement. Mr. Caskey is to receive as compensation for his services an annual salary equal to $165,000. On February 27,
2010, Mr. Caskey’s salary was $168,000. For the second year of the term of the Caskey Agreement, Mr. Caskey will receive a bonus
equal to the sum of (i) 2.5% of the first $3.5 million of Subsidiary’s pre-tax net income for the second year of the term of the Caskey
Agreement; and (ii) 4% of the Subsidiary’s pre-tax net income in excess of $3.5 million for the second year of the term of the Caskey
Agreement. Mr. Caskey will receive stock options to purchase five thousand (5,000) shares of the Company’s common stock, subject
to and in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Company’s 2009 Stock Option Plan. Mr. Caskey may receive additional
stock options at the sole discretion of the Company’s management, such discretion to be exercised by recommendation of the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer to the Compensation Committee; however, the Compensation Committee shall make the final
determination, in its discretion, as to the number of stock options to be granted to Mr. Caskey.

The Caskey Agreement provides that Mr. Caskey’s employment shall terminate in the event of Mr. Caskey’s death or total disability,
or a termination for Cause, as defined in the Caskey Agreement, or termination by the Company upon two weeks prior notice to
Mr. Caskey by the Company. The Caskey Agreement contains standard confidentiality provisions and indemnification provisions.

Involuntary Termination. Certain of our employment agreements with our Named Executive Officers provide for severance pay and
other payout amounts in the event that employment is terminated other than for cause or voluntary termination.

Mr. David Seltzer’s employment agreement provides that in the event of a termination of employment by the Company without cause,
the Company will pay to Mr. Seltzer his base salary up to the end of the month in which such termination occurs. The employment
agreement further provides that in the event of Mr. Seltzer’s death or total disability, he will be paid his base salary for the remaining
term of the agreement; provided, however, that in the case of a total disability, the base salary paid to Mr. Seltzer shall be reduced by
any proceeds paid to Mr. Seltzer, his designee or estate, from a disability insurance policy owned by the Company. In addition, if

Mr. Seltzer is terminated by the Company without cause or in the event of Mr. Seltzer’s death or total disability, he will also be paid
an amount equal to the product of (i) the bonus for the year in which such termination, death or total disability occurred and (ii) a
fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months during such year which Mr. Seltzer was employed by the Company through
and including the month of his death, total disability or termination of employment, and the denominator of which is twelve.

If Mr. William Peters is terminated, or if he terminates his employment for Good Reason, as defined in his employment agreement,
then the Company will pay to him the sum of (i) his salary for the greater of six (6) months or the balance of the term of his agreement
and (ii) the pro rata portion of his annual bonus for the prior year. The severance shall be payable weekly. In addition, the Company
will continue to keep in effect all health, insurance and welfare benefits for a period of the lesser of six months from the date of
termination or until Mr. Peters obtains similar benefits from a new employer. Mr. Peters will not be entitled to severance if the
Company gives six months advance written notice that a decision not to renew his agreement has been made by the Company.

Mr. Reuben Seltzer’s Employment Agreement provides that in the event of a termination of Mr. Seltzer’s employment by the
Company without cause or by Mr. Seltzer for Good Reason (as that term is defined in his employment agreement), Mr. Seltzer will
receive severance equal to the sum of (i) his salary for the greater of 6 months or the balance of the term of the employment agreement
and (ii) the pro rata portion of his bonus for the prior year. The employment agreement provides that in the event of Mr. Seltzer’s
disability, he will be paid his Salary during the continuance of his disability; provided, however, that the salary paid to Mr. Seltzer
shall be reduced by any proceeds paid to Mr. Seltzer, his designee or estate, from a disability insurance policy owned by the Company.

The Egbaria Agreement provides that Dr. Egbaria’s employment shall terminate in the event of Dr. Egbaria’s death or total disability,
or a termination for Cause as defined in the Egbaria Agreement, or a termination by Dr. Egbaria for Good Reason, as defined in the
Egbaria Agreement, or a termination by the Company upon six (6) months’ prior written notice (a “Discretionary Termination™). In
the case of a Discretionary Termination or a termination by Dr. Egbaria for Good Reason, Dr. Egbaria will be entitled to receive
severance payments equal to the sum of (i) the greater of (A) six (6) months of Dr. Egbaria’s salary or (B) Dr. Egbaria’s salary for the
balance of the term of the Egbaria Agreement and (ii) the bonus received by Dr. Egbaria for the year prior to such termination. In
addition, the Company will keep in effect all health insurance and benefict for a period equal to the lesser of the balance of the term of
the Egbaria Agreement or until Dr. Egbaria obtains similar benefits from a new employer. Dr. Egbaria is not entitled to receive
severance in the event his employment is terminated for Cause, or as a result of his disability or death. Dr. Egbaria is not entitled to
receive severance in the event his employment is terminated for Cause, as defined in the Egbaria Agreement.
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Change in Control. Our employment agreement with Mr. David Seltzer provides in the event of a “Change in Control” of the
Company during the term of his employment under his employment agreement, followed by Mr. Seltzer’s termination for any reason
whatsoever, including his voluntary termination within 24 months of a Change in Control, by the Company and/or its successor or by
Mr. Seltzer, Mr. Seltzer will receive severance pay in a lump sum equal to (i) three (3) times his current base salary for the calendar
year in which such termination occurs plus (ii) the bonus declared payable to him for the preceding calendar year; the continuation of
health care benefits for 24 months; the continuance of his automobile lease then in effect, but not more than 3 years, and provides
appropriate outplacement services not to exceed $15,000 for up to 12 months from the date of his termination; and the immediate
vesting of all of Mr. Seltzer’s stock options under the Company’s Stock Option Plans held by him prior to the effective date of the
Change in Control. The payment of the severance and bonus shall be made as soon as practicable after termination of employment, but
in no event more than 30 days after termination. In the event any payment or distribution to Mr. Seltzer is subject to an excise tax,
Mr. Seltzer will be entitled to receive an additional payment (“Gross-Up Payment”) from the Company in an amount such that after
payment by Mr. Seltzer of all taxes, including any excise tax imposed on the Gross-Up Payment, Mr. Seltzer retains an amount of the
Gross-Up Payment equal to the excise tax imposed on the payments.

Mr. Seltzer’s employment agreement provides that a “Change in Control” shall be deemed to occur upon the earliest to occur after the
date of the agreement of any of the following events:

(1) Acquisition of Stock by Third Party. Any Person (as defined in the employment agreement) is or becomes the Beneficial Owner (as
defined in the employment agreement), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing twenty-five percent (25%) or
more of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities and such Person has initiated in the past or
thereafter initiates actions or demonstrates an intent to influence or control the business, affairs or management of the Company or to
cause the Company to enter into a transaction or a series of transactions with such Person or a third party without the prior consent or
request of the Board of Directors;

(ii) Change in Board of Directors. During any period of 12 months, individuals who at the beginning of such period constitute the
Board, and any new director whose election by the Board or nomination for election by the Company’s shareholders was approved by
a vote of at least a majority of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of the period or whose
election or nomination for election was previously so approved, cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board,;

(iii) Corporate Transactions. The effective date of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other entity, other than a merger
or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior to such merger or
consolidation continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving
entity) more than 51% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of the surviving entity outstanding immediately after
such merger or consolidation and with the power to elect at least a majority of the board of directors or other governing body of such
surviving entity;

(iv) Liquidation. The approval by the shareholders of the Company of a complete liquidation of the Company or an agreement for the
sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets;

(v) Other Events. There occurs any other event of a nature that would be required to be reported in response to Item 6(e) of Schedule
14A of Regulation 14A (or a response to any similar item on any similar schedule or form) promulgated under the Exchange Act,
whether or not the Company is then subject to such reporting requirement.

Our employment agreement with Mr. William Peters provides that in the event of a “Change in Control” the Company will pay or
cause its successor to pay to Mr. Peters, in cash, in a lump sum an amount equal to 2 times his base salary which equals the sum of
(1) his annual salary on the day preceding the Change in Control, plus (ii) the annual bonus for the year immediately preceding the
Change in Control. This amount will be made in a lump sum payment within 15 days after the Change in Control. All insurance and
welfare payments will also continue for the lesser of one year or the eligibility of similar benefits from a new employer.

A “Change of Control” shall be deemed to occur upon the earliest to occur after the date of the agreement of any of the following
events:

(1) Acquisition of Stock by Third Party. Any Person (as defined in the employment agreement) is or becomes the Beneficial Owner (as
defined in the employment agreement), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing forty (40%) percent or more
of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities;

(i1) Change in Board of Directors. The date when continuing Directors (as defined in the employment agreement) cease to be a
majority of the Directors then in office, it being understood that it shall not be deemed a Change in Control as long as the majority of
the Directors were nominated by the Continuing Directors;

(iii) Corporate Transactions. The effective date of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other entity, and with the power
to elect at least a majority of the board of directors or other governing body of such surviving entity; and
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(iv) Liquidation. The approval by the shareholders of the Company of a complete liquidation of the Company or an agreement for the
sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets.

Our employment agreement with Mr. Reuben Seltzer provides that in the event of a Change in Control of the Company (as defined in
his employment agreement), the Company will pay or cause its successor to pay to Mr. Reuben Seltzer, in cash, in a lump sum within
fifteen (15) days after the Change in Control, an amount equal to three times his base compensation which equals the sum of (i) his
annual salary on the day preceding the Change in Control, plus (ii) his annual bonus for the year immediately preceding the Change in
Control. In addition, following a Change in Control, at no cost to Mr. Reuben Seltzer, the Company ‘will maintain for Mr. Reuben
Seltzer and his dependents, all health, insurance and welfare benefits for the lesser of one year or until he and his dependents are
eligible for similar benefits from his new employer and will continue to pay the automobile allowance provided in Section 4.4 of the
his employment agreement until the end of the automobile lease then in effect but not more than 2 years.

A “Change in Control” shall be deemed to occur upon the earliest to occur after the date of his employment agreement of any of the
following events: ‘

(a) Acquisition of Stock by Third Party. Any Person (as defined in the employment agreement) is or becomes the Beneficial
Owner (as defined in the employment agreement), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing forty (40%) percent
or more of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities (“Acquisition”).

(b) Change in Board of Directors. The date when Continuing Directors cease to be a majority of the Directors then in office, it
being understood that it shall not be deemed a Change in Control as long as the majority of the Directors were nominated by the
Continuing Directors (as defined in the employment agreement);

(c) Corporate Transactions. The effective date of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other entity, and with the
power to elect at least a majority of the board of directors or other governing body of such surviving entity; and

(d) Liquidation. The approval by the shareholders of the Company of a complete liquidation of the Company or an agreement
for the sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets.

In the event Dr. Egbaria’s employment is terminated following a Change in Control (as defined in the Egbaria Agreement), except for
a termination as a result of Cause, or Dr. Egbaria’s death or total disability, the Company will pay or cause its successor to pay to

Dr. Egbaria, in cash, a lump sum within fifteen (15) days after the Change in Control Termination, an amount equal to two (2) times
Dr. Egbaria’s base compensation which equals the sum of (i) his annual salary on the day preceding the Change in Control
Termination, plus (ii) his annual bonus for the year immediately preceding the Change in Control Termination. In addition, following
a Change in Control Termination, the Company or its successor will keep in effect all health insurance and benefits for a period equal
to the lesser of one year or until Dr. Egbaria obtains similar benefits from a new employer.

A “Change in Control” shall be deemed to occur upon the earliest to occur after the date of this Agreement of any of the following
events:

(a) Acquisition of Stock by Third Party. Any Person (as hereinafter defined) is or becomes the Beneficial Owner (as hereinafter
defined), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing forty (40%) percent or more of the combined voting power
of the Company’s then outstanding securities and such Person initiates actions to cause the Company to enter into a transaction or
series of transactions with such Person or a third party without the prior consent or request of the Board of Directors;

(b) Change in Board of Directors. The date when Continuing Directors cease to be a majority of the Directors then in office, it
being understood that it shall not be deemed a Change in Control as long as the majority of the Directors were nominated by the
Continuing Directors;

(c) Corporate Transactions. The effective date of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other entity where the
Company is not the surviving entity, and the surviving entity has the power to elect at least a majority of the board of directors or other
governing body of such surviving entity; and

(d) Liquidation. The approval by the shareholders of the Company of a complete liquidation of the Company or an agreement
for the sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets.
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Potential Payments Upon Termination of Employment or Change in Control

The following information and table set forth the amount of payments'to each of our Named Executive Officers in the event of a
termination of employment as a result of involuntary termination and termination following a change in control.

Assumptions and General Prihéiples. The following assumptions and general principles apply with respect to the following table
and any termination of employment of a Named Executive Officer:

. The amounts shown in the table assume that each Named Executive Officer was terminated on April 30, 2011.
Accordingly, the table reflects amounts earned as of April 30, 2011 and includes estimates of amounts that would be paid
to the Named Executive Officer upon the occurrence of a termination or change in control. The actual amounts to be paid
to a Named Executive Officer can only be determined at the time of the termination or change in control.

. Because we have assumed an April 30, 2011 termination date, each of the Named Executive Officers would have been
entitled to receive 100% of the annual bonus payment made for fiscal year 2010 that was paid in fiscal 2011. If
termination would occur in Fiscal 2012, the bonus amount would be the bonus amount that the Board determines to pay
out for the year ended April 30, 2011.

. A Named Executive Officer may exercise any stock options that are exercisable prior to the date of termination and any
payments related to these stock options are not included in the table because they are not severance payments.

David William Reuben Kamel Davis
Seltzer Peters (1) Seltzer Egbaria Caskey (2)
Involuntary Termination
Prorated annual bonus compensation.................ccoceeveereverenenne $ 300,000 $ 150,000 $ 179,000 $ (U 0
Cash SEVerance Payment...........cceeeeeeerieeveereeerereresenerenenesens 1,395,000 300,000 893,000 184,000 0
Continued health care benefits and other............ccccceevvuunn.... ' — 20,000 41,000 14,000 0
TOtAL.......oeeeeteetetee ettt et ee e s ve e et renan $§ 1,695,000 $ 470,000 $ 1,113,000 $ 198,000 $ 0
Change in Control with Termination
Prorated annual bonus compensation.................oeueveuereennnen... $§ 300,000 $ 300,000 $ 1,071,000 $ 0 $ 0
Cash Severance payment.......c....cocevevvereeerereeneeeeneeeresneseseness 1,395,000 600,000 1,339,000 184,000 0
Continued health care benefits and other................ rerreeaeaes - 89,000 21,000 47,000 14,000 0
TOtAL.......oeiii et $ 1,784,000 $ 921,000 $ 2,457,000 $ 198,000 $ 0

(1)  Mr. Peters’-Change in Control provision is paid upon a change in control regardless of whether he is terminated or not.

(2) Mr. Caskey’s employment agreement does not have a provision for a payment on Change in Control.

As described more fully below, this chart summarizes the annual cash compensation for the Company’s non-employee directors
during fiscal year 2011.

Director Compensation

Fees Earned Stock Option All Other
or Paid in Awards Awards Compensation Total
Name Cash (3) ($) $)Q) ) ($)
Martin M. GOIAWYTL....c.coveuroiiiiinirieceeeeee et 12,000 -0- 116,000 -0- 128,000
Yashar Hirshaut, M.D........cccccvvmmvrnnnriceeeceeceeeseee s 15,000 -0- 116,000 -0- 131,000
Jack van Hulst........ccooviviievenniiee e 15,000 -0- 116,000 -0- 131,000
Anthony J. PugliSi......ccccvevevenrriniteeeeeececeeecee et 15,000 -0- 116,000 -0- 131,000
Bruce W. SImMPSOm......coeereverirrreirieeineeeeeeee e a e sees 15,000 -0- 116,000 -0- 131,000

(1)  Represents the dollar values of stock options disclosed in this column are equal to the aggregate grant date fair value computed
in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718, “Compensation —
Stock Compensation”. See note A[16] of the consolidated financial statements, except no assumptions for forfeitures were
included.
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Stock Option Plans
The 2009 Stock Option Plan and the Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan (the “Stock Option Plans”)

The Company’s 2009 Stock Option Plan provides for a total of 1,500,000 shares of Common Stock authorized to be granted under
such Plan. During Fiscal 2011, the Company granted options to purchase 454,000 shares of Common Stock at a weighted average
exercise price of $22.69 per share. During Fiscal 2011, 28,000 options were cancelled or expired, and 695,000 shares are available for
future grant under such Plan. No additional shares are available for grant under the Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan. The
Company’s Stock Option Plans provide for the grant of options to its key employees and directors in order to give such employees a
greater personal interest in the success of the Company and an added incentive to continue and advance in their employment. The
Company’s Stock Option Plans provide for a fifteen year expiration period for non-statutory options and ten years for incentive stock
options granted thereunder and allows for the exercise of options by delivery by the optionee of previously owned Common Stock of
the Company having a fair market value equal to the option price, or by a combination of cash and Common Stock.

The Stock Option Plans are administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The Committee has broad
discretion in determining the recipients of options and numerous other terms and conditions of the options.

The exercise price for shares purchased upon the exercise of non-statutory options granted under the Stock Option Plans are
determined by the Compensation Committee as of the date of the grant.

The exercise price of an incentive stock option must be at least equal to the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date such
option is granted (110% of the fair market value for shareholders who, at the time the option is granted, own more than 10% of the
total combined classes of stock of the Company or any subsidiary). No employees may be granted incentive stock options in any year
for shares having a fair market value, determined as of the date of grant, in excess of $100,000.

No incentive option may have a term of more than ten years (in the case of incentive stock options, five years for shareholders holding
10% or more of the Common Stock of the Company). Options generally may be exercised only if the option holder remains
continuously associated with the Company or a subsidiary from the date of grant to the date of exercise. However, options may be
exercised upon termination of employment or upon the death or disability of any employee within certain specified periods.

Directors Plan

The Company’s 1994 Directors Stock Option Plan, as Amended (“Directors Plan™) provides for a total of 800,000 shares of Common
Stock authorized to be granted under the Directors Plan.

The Directors Plan provides for the automatic annual grant of options to non-employee directors and is administered by the Board of
Directors. Each non-employee director will be automatically granted 10,000 shares of Common Stock on the date of each annual
meeting of the Company’s shareholders.

To remain eligible, a non-employee director must continue to be a member of the Board of Directors. Each option granted is
exercisable in increments of 25% per year commencing on the first anniversary date of the date of grant. The exercise price for all
options may not be less than the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date of grant. Options under the Directors Plan have a
term of 10 years and may be exercised for limited periods after a person ceases to serve as a director.

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis with management. Based on
this review and discussion, the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that it be included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

The Compensation Committee
Bruce W. Simpson

Yashar Hirshaut, M.D.

Jack Van Hulst

Dated: July 11, 2011

The information contained in the report above shall not be deemed to be “filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission, nor
shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent specifically incorporated by reference therein.
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Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The Compensation Committee of our board of directors is currently composed of Bruce W. Simpson (chair), Yashar M. Hirshaut,
M.D., and Jack van Hulst. None of the members of the Compensation Committee has ever been an officer or employee of ours. None
of our Named Executive Officers serves or has served as a member of the Board of Directors or compensation committee of any other
company that had one or more executive officers serving as a member of our Board of Directors or Compensation Committee.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

The following table identifies as of July 14, 2011 each person known to the Company to be the beneficial owner of more than five
percent of the Company’s Common Stock, each director of the Company, and all directors and executive officers of the Company as a
group, and sets forth the number of shares of the outstanding Common Stock beneficially owned by each such person and such group
and the percentage of the shares of the outstanding Common Stock owned by each such person and such group. Except as noted
below, the named person has sole voting power and sole investment power over the securities.

Amount and
Nature of Percent of
Beneficial Common
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Ownership (1) Stock
DAVIA S. SEIZET ..veveeeieiririeei ettt teee st see s ae s e e e sba s s sae e sane e e eae s nesasesaneeesastestsssesanesasanneensns 2,034,634® 15.3%
c/0 Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., INC. .....vvviiiiiieciie et eerte s e eeteae e s eae s e e sase s e ras s e s e saae s ssesesanbanessnns
3609 BAYVIEW AVEIIUE ...ecivereruieiieuieiriseieeentestenesere e siresassassresas st sss e sssaesas st sasssastssbesesensassassessenenns
Amityville, New YOIk 11701 ...c.covieiririreircininiiininiiinsnienrsneese et sanessesssesssussassesns

REUDEI SEIZET ..vietietiecti ettt ettt e e st esae e b e et et s se e seaesbe s neesnssnbessseessessansaensenssssasesssesasnssenes 936,176® 7.3%
¢/0 Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., INC. ....cciiiieiieiericiirrceiecieiesieeesteeesvesnbneessstsensessssnesssesssseessssssssessnesnsascnrens

369 BAYVIEW AVEIIUC .....coveeuiienirirerrerrereeseeestesiaesessesasneseneresenstsanessessisensosmesonnessnesssessessssssnmansenns

Amityville, New York 11701 .......cccoovvrureunnes et ettt ettt s ettt en et s aeeas

Yashar HIrShatf, MLD. .....c.covvoiririeiinienieieireeeese st sece st sen st et st sssaseseseeneessesessensensesentosasensossanensennans 110,438® *
c/0 Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., INC. .c.uuvei it cemveeeeetvtr e etee e s eeraeasesaseaesnsseesessaaaessnssanssnrresansns

3609 BAYVIEW AVEIIUE ....ocviruieieuieiteeietenreseeeeseentesate e st nesosiateessssesa s b e saeeanesesases e saestsassentnanemasanestans

Amityville, New YOrk L1701 .....coiiiieiececeetetrtec ettt e r e

MATtin M. GOLAWYIL..c.coteiieieiieiecicstete s e s es e e et et e se e sete s e se e se e st et s ne st e se s sesaeraeaeeseensasannes 62,868® *
c¢/o Tashlik, Kreutzer, Goldwyn & Crandell P.C. .......ccoooireoiriirrciiiiiieictenecreceecee e s,

40 Cuttermill ROAA ... ..iciiiieeieiieeeceec ettt st s s e e s s s e s et e s be e s b e s saesraesrna st esaennnesana s

Great Neck, NeW YOIK 11021 ...ttt eecteer e sernreeeeecbaseesesaeseenseeeesernneseransesessnnesssnnens

WVILIAIIE POIETS. ... veeeiieiceieeeie e sttt e ette s e e e eteecetesesbaeessesenraessr e s reaeassessnteeebeessbesastaessssesasenasneensnrassnnessssenans 61,233® *
¢/0 Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., INC........vcocueeiieiiiieceicrecseeccreeraesectte s e s esas e eeeeseaeeasassessasstsesnsssenseasssnasssnes

369 BAYVIEW AVEIUE ...eovieuirriretinenriseerenesesseesesnessossssssesessseseesenssesseessesessenes revestesseneestntreseestantes

Amityville, New YOIk 11701 ....c.cccoveriiiiiiiiiciiiiiintn ittt
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Amount and
Nature of Percent of
Beneficial Common
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Ownership (1) Stock

ANONY J. PUGHIST.c..cvieititcitt ittt ettt sa s bt et een s 40,4697 *

BIUCE W. SIIIPSOM ..ottt ese s en bt s st se st s e e eseseeseseseses et st eemessseaeseseseseos 24,156® *

GAEY ML ADTIL oot et e s ettt e vt et eenan 13,750 *
¢/0 Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., INC.........ouveeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et ee e e ee e eeree e ese e e e e e

369 BAYVIEW AVENUE ......ovvviiereieieiriisseetesesssssssssse et tssse st st ssss s ee e eeneseseeesesesesenessesessssesessssoes

AMItYVILEe, NY 1170 ..ottt ettt r s s s e e e s s

DaAVIS S. CASKEY ....vvtteieieiirt e te ettt bbbttt sttt et et en et e s e e e e s e e s es et es e e aens 3,750 *

JACK VAN HUISE.......ooviittiiccrei ettt ettt et s e eeseseeaesass s e et et seesee e, 5,594 *

Kamel EGDATIA .......c.coiviiiiireceniiieiceceetiit et st sttt ettt ea e e e e e e se s s s ssss s e s s s eesans 10,0009» *

All Directors and Executive Officers as a group (12 PETSONS) ......vvveeririrememeeeerererereeeeeessseresesesesssssnsns 3,303,068 24.0%

BlackROCK GIODAL INVESIOTS. .....cuvvrrirernireiiieteteeieetec sttt st s es e e eese e e et eenesesessesessesesssssesesesas 1,046,717 8.2%
400 HOWATA SITEEL.........oviiieeeiriirretetete ettt ettt sttt e eseee s et et et s s essses s esess e

* Amount represents less than 1% of Common Stock including shares issuable to such beneficial owner under options which are
presently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days.

(1) Unless otherwise indicated, each person has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares shown as beneficially
owned by such person.

(2) Amount includes options to purchase 550,000 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 11,2011 and 311,014
shares of Common Stock owned by Mr. Seltzer’s wife and children and trusts for the benefit of his children.

(3)  Amount includes options to purchase 163,438 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 11, 2011 and 299,203
shares of Common Stock owned by Mr. Seltzer’s wife and children.

(4) Amount represents options to purchase 87,438 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 11, 2011.
(5) Amount includes options to purchase 62,868 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 11, 2011.

(6) Amount includes options to purchase 61,233 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 11, 2011.
(7)  Amount includes options to purchase 40,469 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 11, 2011.
(8) Amount includes options to purchase 24,156 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 11, 2011.
(9)  Amount includes options to purchase 13,750 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 11, 2011.
(10) Amount includes options to purchase 3,750 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 11, 2011.

(11) Amount represents options to purchase 5,594 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 11, 2011.
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(12) Amount includes options to purchase 10,000 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 11, 2011.
(13) Amount includes options to purchase 1,026,446 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 11, 2011.
(14) Source: 13F Form filings March 31, 2011

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

The Company and Reuben Seltzer have a 17.7% and 17.7% interest, respectively, in Marco Hi-Tech JV LLC, a New York limited
liability company (“Marco Hi-Tech”), which markets raw materials for nutraceutical products. Additionally, the Company has an
investment in an available for sale security, Neuro-Hitech, Inc. of which Reuben Seltzer is a shareholder. The Company has a 9%
interest in Neuro-Hitech, Inc.

The Company is jointly developing a generic product outside of its area of expertise with EMET Pharmaceuticals (“EMET”),
previously known as XCell Pharmaceuticals, and another company. Reuben Seltzer is a principal of EMET. During the fiscal year
ended April 30, 2011, the Company spent approximately $127,000 on this project, which was included in research and development
expense.

Tashlik, Kreutzer, Goldwyn & Crandell P.C. received $397,000 in legal fees for services performed for the Company during the
Company’s fiscal year ended April 30, 2011. Mr. Martin M. Goldwyn, a member of such firm, is a director of the Company.

The Company has adopted a policy for approval of transactions between the Company and its directors, director nominees, executive
officers, greater than 5% beneficial owners and their respective immediate family members. The policy is not in writing and the
Committee has not adopted any pre-approvals under the policy. The related parties transactions described above are subject to, and
have been approved and ratified, under this policy.

The policy provides that the Audit Committee reviews all related party transactions subject to the policy and determines whether or
not to approve or ratify those transactions. In doing so, the Audit Committee takes into account, among other factors it deems
appropriate, whether the transaction is on terms that are no less favorable to the Company than terms generally available to an
unaffiliated third party under the same or similar circumstances and the extent of the related party’s interest in the transaction. A
summary of any new transactions is provided to the Board for its review in connection with each regularly scheduled Committee
meeting.

The Company believes that material affiliated transactions between the Company and its directors, officers, principal stockholders or
any affiliates thereof have been, and will be in the future, on terms no less favorable than could be obtained from unaffiliated third
parties.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES.
Audit Fees

EisnerAmper LLP has served as the auditors for the Company for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2011. EisnerAmper LLP has billed or
is expected to bill us $385,000 and $437,000, in the aggregate, for professional services for the audit of our annual financial
statements and audit of the Company’s internal controls in compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for fiscal 2011 and 2010,

respectively, and for the review of our interim financial statements which are included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for fiscal
2011 and 2010.

Audit Related Fees

EisnerAmper LLP has billed or is expected to bill us $90,000 and $113,000 for other audit-related fees for fiscal 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Other audit-related fees related primarily to services rendered in connection with our filing of registration statements
with the SEC and due diligence in connection with potential acquisitions and accounting consultations.

Tax Fees

EisnerAmper LLP has billed or is expected to bill us $48,000 and $44,000 for fiscal 2011 and 2010, respectively, for tax services
including tax compliance.

All Other Fees

The Company did not engage EisnerAmper LLP for professional services other than those services captioned “Audit Fees”, “Audit
Related Fees” and “Tax Fees” in fiscal 2011.

All non-audit services were reviewed with the Audit Committee, which concluded that the provision of such services by EisnerAmper
LLP was compatible with the maintenance of that firm’s independence in the conduct of its auditing function.
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Policy on Audit Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Auditor

Consistent with SEC policies regarding auditor independence, the Audit Committee has responsibility for appointing, setting
compensation and overseeing the work of the independent auditor. In recognition of this responsibility, the Audit Committee has
established a policy to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the independent auditor.

Prior to engagement of the independent auditor for the next year’s audit, management will submit a list of services and related fees
expected to be rendered during that year within each of four categories of services to the Audit Committee for approval.

1. Audit services include audit and review work performed on the financial statements, as well as work that generally only the
independent auditor can reasonably be expected to provide, including comfort letters, statutory audits, and discussions surrounding the
proper application of financial accounting and/or reporting standards.

2. Audit-Related services are for assurance and related services that are traditionally performed by the independent auditor,
including due diligence related to mergers and acquisitions, employee benefit plan audits, and special procedures required to meet
certain regulatory requirements.

3. Tax services include all services, except those services specifically related to the audit of the financial statements, performed
by the independent auditor’s tax personnel, including tax analysis; assisting with coordination of execution of tax related activities,
primarily in the area of corporate development; supporting other tax related regulatory requirements; and tax compliance and
reporting.

4. Other Fees are those associated with services not captured in the other categories. The Company generally does not request
such services from the independent auditor.

Prior to engagement, the Audit Committee pre-approves independent auditor services within each category. The fees are budgeted and
the Audit Committee requires the independent auditor and management to report actual fees versus the budget periodically throughout
the year by category of service. During the year, circumstances may arise when it may become necessary to engage the independent
auditor for additional services not contemplated in the original pre-approval categories. In those instances, the Audit Committee
requires specific pre-approval before engaging the independent auditor.

The Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority to one or more of its members. The member to whom such authority is
delegated must report, for informational purposes only, any pre-approval decisions to the Audit Committee at its next scheduled
meeting.
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ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.
(@) (1) Financial Statements filed as part of this Report are listed in Item 8 of this Report.

(2) No other financial schedules have been included because they are not applicable, not required or because required
information is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(a) Exhibit Page Number
Number Description of Document Foot-Notes
3.1 Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation (1)
3.2 Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws 2)
3.3 By-laws ‘ 3)
4.3 Copy of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. 2009 Stock Option Plan “)
4.4 Copy of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Stock Option Agreement &)
4.5 Copy of 1994 Directors Stock Option Plan, as Amended (6)
10.1  Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement with David S. Seltzer (7
10.2  Employment Agreement of William Peters (8
10.3  Amendment No.1 to Employment Agreement of William Peters €))
104 Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement of William Peters (10)
10.5 Employment Agreement of Bryce M. Harvey 11)
10.6  Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement of Bryce M. Harvey (12)
10.7 Employment Agreement of Gary M. April (13)
10.8  Employment Agreement of Davis S. Caskey (14)
10.9 Employment Agreement of Kamel Egbaria (15)

10.10 Supply Agreement for Dorzolamide Hydrochloride with Ragactives S.L.U. effective as of July 18, 2008.
Portions of Exhibit 10.10 have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment and the non-

public material has been filed separately with the Commission. (16)
10.11 Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of May 27, 2010, with JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. (17)
10.12 Employment Agreement with Reuben Seltzer (18)
14.1  Code of Ethics (19)

*21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant
*23.1 Consent of EisnerAmper LLP

*31.1 Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14 or 15d-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

*31.2  Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14 or 15d-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

*32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* , Filed herewith

(1) Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.
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3)
4
5)
(©)
(M)
®)
©)
(10)
(1
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)

(19)

Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended January 31,
2011 and Exhibit 3.0 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 31,
1994, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 3.11 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated September 18, 2007, filed on
September 21, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Annex A to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Definitive Proxy Statement, dated October 8, 2009, filed on October 1, 2009,
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-47860) and incorporated
herein by reference.

Filed as Appendix C to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Definitive Proxy Statement, dated October 11, 2007, filed on October 9,
2007, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K, dated May 1, 2010, filed on May 4, 2010,
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for quarterly period ended July 31, 2005,
filed on September 9, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K, dated October 30, 2007, filed on
November 5, 2007, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K, dated June 23, 2009, filed on June 25, 2009,
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K, dated June 23, 2009, filed on June 25, 2009,
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K, dated June 23, 2009, filed on June 25, 2009,
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K, dated June 23, 2009, filed on June 25, 2009,
and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.10 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K, dated February 27, 2009, filed on May 13,
2009, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K, dated April 26, 2010, filed on April 28,
2010, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended April 30, 2009, filed on
July 20, 2009, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K, dated June 1, 2010, filed on June 4, 2010,
and incorporated herein by reference. ‘

Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K, dated November 10, 2010, filed on
November 11, 2010, and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 14.1 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended April 30, 2006, filed on
July 14, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: July 11, 2011 HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC.

By: /s/ David S. Seltzer

David S. Seltzer, Chief Executive Officer, President,
Secretary & Treasurer

By: /s/ William Peters

William Peters, Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

/s/ David S. Seltzer , July 11, 2011

David S. Seltzer, Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, President,
Treasurer, Secretary

/s/ Reuben Seltzer July 11, 2011

Reuben Seltzer, Director

/s/ Martin M. Goldwyn July 11, 2011
Martin M. Goldwyn, Director

/s/ Yashar Hirshaut, M.D. July 11, 2011
Yashar Hirshaut, M.D., Director

/s/ Jack van Hulst July 11, 2011

Jack van Hulst, Director

/s/ Anthony J. Puglisi ’ July 11, 2011
Anthony J. Puglisi, Director

/s/ Bruce W. Simpson July 11, 2011

Bruce W. Simpson, Director

78



EXHIBIT 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

. ‘Where
Name Incorporated

ECR Pharmaceuticals Co., Inc. Delaware




EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. (the “Company”) on Form
S-8 (File No. 333-155407, 333-139796, 333-126872, 333-168458, and 333-171395), and in the Registration Statement on Form S-3
(File No. 333-165439) of our report, dated July 8, 2011, with respect to our audits of the consolidated financial statements and
schedules of the Company which express an unqualified opinion, and our report dated July 8, 2011 on our audit of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2011, which expresses an unqualified opinion on internal control over financial
reporting, included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

EisnerAmper LLP

New York, New York
July 8, 2011



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OR 15D-14 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, David S. Seltzer, certify that:

1.  Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.  designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.  evaluated the effectiveness of the registraﬂt’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d.  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of the annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions):

a.  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and ’

b.  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: July 11, 2011

By: /s/ David S. Seltzer
David S. Seltzer
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2
HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OR 15D-14 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
: AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, WILLIAM PETERS, certify that:

I'have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.  designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d.  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of the annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions):

a.  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b.  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: July 11, 2011

By: /s/ William Peters

William Peters
Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1
HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC.

- CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U. S. C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF
THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officers
of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certify to such officers’ knowledge, that the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended April 30, 2011 (the “Report™) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as
applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: July 11, 2011

/s/ David Seltzer
David Seltzer,
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ William Peters

William Peters,
Chief Financial Officer

This certification is being furnished solely pursuaﬁt to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.
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